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This is Aker

’ ’ Aker

s the largest
shareholder,
directly or
indirectly, in nine
companies listed
on Oslo Stock
Exchange.
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This 1s Aker

Since its establishment in 1841, Aker has been a driving force for the

development of internationally focused, knowledge-based industry in Norway.

Aker ASA (Aker) is an industrial
investment company that exercises
active ownership to create value. Aker
combines industrial expertise with
knowledge of the capital markets

and financial strength. In its capacity
as owner, Aker helps to develop and
strengthen its portfolio companies,
working through the boards of the
portfolio companies to drive forward
strategy development, operational
improvements, financing, restructuring
and transactions.

Aker’s ownership interests are
concentrated in the oil and gas, maritime

assets and marine biotechnology sectors.

The investments are divided into two
portfolios:

The industrial holdings are strategic
assets and are managed with a long-
term perspective. They comprise
Aker’s ownership interests in Aker BP,
Aker Energy, Aker Solutions, Akastor,
Kvaerner, Ocean Yield, Aker BioMarine
and Cognite.

The financial investments comprise cash
and other assets. The portfolio includes
the listed companies American Shipping
Company, Philly Shipyard, REC Silicon
and Solstad Offshore, in addition to the
real estate company FP Eiendom.

Size

Aker is the largest shareholder, directly or
indirectly, in nine companies listed on Oslo
Stock Exchange. Aker and companies in
which Aker is the largest investor had a
total turnover of more than NOK 83 billion
in 2019, and a workforce of approximately
37 000, including temporary hires. About
21000 of the workforce is located in
Norway.

Net asset value (NAV) growth is a key
performance indicator for Aker ASA and
holding companies. As at 31 December
2019, NAV amounted to NOK 50.0 billion,
up from NOK 41.7 billion one year prior. In
addition, a dividend of NOK 1.7 billion was
paid in 2019.

Ownership

Since re-listing on Oslo Stock Exchange on
8 September 2004, Aker has generated
an average annual return of 23 per cent as
per 30 March 2020, including dividends.
At the beginning of 2020, Aker had 14 556
shareholders. Aker’s main shareholder is
Kjell Inge Rakke, who owns 68.2 per cent
of Aker through his company TRG Holding
AS. Through a private company, CEO
@yvind Eriksen owns 0.2 per cent of the
B-shares in TRG Holding AS, as well as 219
072 shares in Aker.

3
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Highlights 2019

Shareholder return:

per cent

The Aker share price increased from NOK 462 to NOK 543.50
during the course of 2019. Including dividends of NOK 22.50 per
share, the shareholder return totalled 23 per cent. NAV stood at
NOK 673 at year-end 2019, up from NOK 562 at the end of 2018.
Including dividends paid in 2019, value growth totalled 24 per cent.
The main Oslo Stock Exchange index - Aker’s benchmark - rose by
17 per cent in 2019.

Industrial software:

Cognite doubled its turnover in 2019. The industrial software
company is enabling customers in the oil and gas sector and
capital-intensive industries to improve their operations through
efficient collection and sharing of data. Its main product, Cognite
Data Fusion, gathers and processes enormous volumes of data on
an ongoing basis on behalf of industrial customers. Cognite is a
global leader in the field of oil and gas industry digitalisation.

This is Aker |

Dividend:

billion

Aker received a total of NOK 3 482 million in dividends from its
portfolio companies in 2019, compared to NOK 2 174 million in

2018. Predictable cash flow gives an investment company like Aker
greater freedom of action. Aker BP and Ocean Yield made the
largest dividend contributions, of which Aker BP accounted for USD
300 million in 2019

Sustainability:

The World Economic Forum and Aker have joined forces to
establish a global technology centre focusing on the oceans and
the environment. The aim is to use new technologies to protect
the world’s oceans and reduce the environmental footprint of
industry. Through public-private partnerships, the centre will
develop solutions for a sustainable and profitable ocean economy.
Initial projects concentrating on emissions reductions and more
sustainable fishing have been launched.

Distribution of Aker's NOK 61.9 billion gross asset value as at 31 December 2019

NOK billion

41.5

W Aker BP 15
B QOcean Yield 52
B Cash 3.7
W Other financial investments 25
W Aker BioMarine 24
B Aker Solutions 23
Akastor 1.0
Aker Energy 0.9
Kvaerner 0.9
Listed financial investments 0.9
B Real Estate 0.6

O Cognite 0.0
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Key performance indicators

Aker’s key performance indicators are net asset value growth and shareholder returns (share price and dividends).

The combined financial statements of Aker ASA and holding
companies have been prepared to present Aker's financial
position as a parent holding company. The combined accounts
of these companies are a more relevant tool for monitoring
value creation than the accounts of the parent company alone
or the Aker group accounts. Nevertheless, Aker’s Annual Report
presents all three sets of accounts.

Net asset value (NAV) expresses Aker’s underlying financial
value, and provides the basis for the company’s dividend policy

NAV per share
NOK per share

650
550
450
350

250

50
2017 2018 2019

B NAV after allocated dividend
B Allocated dividend
B Share price

Gross assets per business segment
NOK billion

70
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10

0

2017 2018

B Financial investments
W [ndustrial holdings

(two to four per cent of NAV per year). NAV is calculated based
on the market value of listed shares and the book value of other
assets.

Due to the extraordinary situation resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic, oil price falls and volatile capital markets as of March
2020, the Board of Directors proposed that the General Meeting
does not approve a dividend distribution, but authorizes the
Board to adopt a dividend based on the 2019 annual accounts.

Allocated dividend per share
NOK per share and per cent of NAV

2017 2018 2019

B Allocated dividend (NOK)
B Per cent of NAV before dividend

Gross asset per sector

NOK billion
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40
30
20

10

0

2017 2018 2019

| Qil services Maritime assets

m E&P Cash and liquid fund investments

B Seafood & marine biotech Other financial assets
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Changes in net asset value

Net asset value (NAV) totalled NOK 49 974 million at year-end 2019, compared to NOK 41 744
million last year. This equates to NAV-per-share of NOK 673. The following tables show the exposure
and composition of Aker’s NAV per share.

Net asset value development - Aker ASA and holding companies

NOK million
2019
Dividends received 3482
Operating expenses ? (267)
Other financial expenses (597)
Tax expense -
Total 2619
Dividend payments ae7n
Sale/(purchase) of treasury shares 2 14
Value changes 7 269
Change in net asset value 8 230
Net asset value before dividend allocation 49 974
2)
3) te-dowr sale
Change in net asset value
NOK billion
o0 12.7 0.2 (0.0 (0.3) (0.4) (0.9)
: : . (1.4) 1.7)
|
50
41.7
40
30
20
10
0
31.12.2018 Aker BP Listed Kvaerner Akastor Ocean Yield Other  Aker Solutions Dividend

financial
investments

2018
2174
(254)
(247)

1673
(1338)
(25)
(337)
27)
41744

50.0

3112.2019
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Net asset value

INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS
Aker BP

Aker Solutions

Akastor

Kvaerner

Aker BioMarine

Ocean Yield

Aker Energy

Cognite

Total Industrial Holdings

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Cash

Listed financial investments

Real estate

Other financial investment

Total Financial investments

Total value-adjusted assets

External interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-free liabilities before allocated dividend
Total liabilities before allocated dividend
NAV before allocated dividend

Net interest-bearing debt

Ownership

40.0%
34.8%
36.7%
28.7%
98.0%

61.7%
49.2%
64.0%

As at 31.12.2019
NOK NOK
per share million
559 41 486
31 2338
13 1000
12 859
32 2363
70 5187
12 925
1 42
730 54 200
50 3715
12 917
8 603
34 2498
104 7733
834 61934
(157) (11 629)
@ (330)
ae1) (11 959)
673 49 974
(6 701)
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As at 31.12.2018

NOK
per share

423

621

26

25
68
690
(123)
)
a27)
562

NOK
million

46 139

1945
701
568
1860
5074
51213
(9160)
(309)
(9 469)
41744
(6230)
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Letter from the President and CEO

”Asa

company, we are,
however, rigged to
thrive in difficult
times.

Aker ASA annual report 2019

Dear fellow
shareholders,

While writing this letter, investors are driven by fear and markets are
significantly down due to the COVID-19 virus and whatever impact it may have
on business. Nevertheless, it is worthwhile spending a few words on putting the
current uncertainties in some wider perspectives.

Taking a moment to reflect on the year
behind us, we see the oil price starting
off 2019 on a good path and increasing
by about 20 dollars per barrel from
January to May. It later fell back through
the summer but staged a decent
recovery during the fourth quarter.

The market was characterized by still
strong growth in US shale oil production,
OPEC cuts, and shut in barrels caused
by sanctions against Venezuela and
Iran. Demand growth was weak, and
into 2020 those worries have been
exacerbated by three things: the global
Corona virus outbreak, a mild winter

in the Northern Hemisphere, and the
collapse of Saudi-Russian cooperation
and the ensuing “price war.”

When we entered the year, none of us
paid attention to the COVID-19 virus.
Today, we relate Corona to the pandemic
that has triggered global anxiety and
red figures on the trading screens of
stock exchanges all around the world.
The market reactions are both due to
consequences of the pandemic as such,
but it has also been a catalyst for other
investor concerns, and hence made the
market reaction even stronger.

Activity has already grinded to a halt in
China, as millions of people have been
kept in quarantine for several weeks.
Since China is such a large importer and
exporter of all sorts of goods, this soon
affected global supply chains adversely.
The virus is now spreading rapidly across
the world, including Norway, with deep
economic and societal consequences. A
global economic recession is a plausible
scenario, and we are already seeing

a negative effect on oil prices, and
thereby share prices in the energy sector.
Aker is feeling the effects and we are
acutely aware that the consequences

of COVID-19 could sit with us for a long
time. As a company, we are, however,
rigged to thrive in difficult times. Our
long-term strategy has ensured us

a robust financial position with low
gearing, strong liquidity and cash that
allows us seize opportunities under
highly uncertain market conditions.

As one large bank wrote in a market
report: ‘this too shall pass.” For now, we
are taking all necessary precautions
and doing what we can to minimize the
impact of the virus.

9
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A year of change

Summing up 2019 feels almost irrelevant
as the Corona pandemic has already
turned most things upside down. 2019
will nevertheless be remembered as the
year climate risk became an even more
important criteria for business strategies
and capital allocation. Focus shifted
from what we do, to how we do it. While
consensus is that no one is immune to
these powers at work, the question is
how we choose to respond. At Aker, we
are once again forced to consider how
to best execute our role as an active,
responsible owner, while also embracing
a realm of new, emerging business
opportunities. | am pleased with the
results behind us and energized for the
future ahead.

Through a year of volatile market
conditions, including an ongoing trade
war and uncertain market conditions,
Aker delivered strong results. Yet again,
| witness the importance of maintaining
our steady course with enhanced
optionality in order to successfully
execute our long-term strategy and
create value for our shareholders. Net
Asset Value (NAV) increased NOK 8.2
billion for the year, while the Aker share,
including dividends, appreciated by 23
per cent. For reference, the Oslo Stock
Exchange Benchmark Index (OSEBX)
generated an average annual return of
17 per cent over the same period.

Our systematic effort to build
forward-looking, profitable, robust

and sustainable businesses and jobs
continues. | have said it before: we look
for opportunities where others see
problems. We buy when others sell. We
manage risks, and we do it well. At the
dawn of a new decade, | see promise.
Increased ESG focus is not viewed

as a threat to our license to operate,
but rather as considerations that
influence our choices and create new
opportunities.

A decade of volatility

We are also closing the books on a
decade. A decade with the highest
annual average oil prices ever achieved,
but also a spectacular price collapse
into 2015-2016 caused by the US shale
oil revolution. 2011 to 2014 saw average
Brent prices well above 100 dollars per

barrel, supported by the Arab spring,
but later unleashed such large supply
response from US shale that the market
collapsed. We saw OPEC change tactics
from first protecting market share in
2015-2016, only to change back to price
management in 2017 for then to change
back to market share focus in March this
year.

It looks as if the cartel is aiming at
regaining market share during the

next five years as US shale production
growth fades and as large greenfield
project start-ups diminish. The cartel

is unlikely to repeat the mistake of the
1980s, where price was protected for

an extended period at the expense of
market share. On Saturday March 7 of
this year, Saudi launched what can be
described as an unprecedented “price
war”, as the Kingdom dumped its selling
prices to all regions. Consequently, global
oil prices collapsed. What happens to oll
prices going forward will depend on how
negatively the Corona-virus pandemic
affects global economic growth and if
Saudi Arabia and Russia can find back
to cooperation. At the time of writing,
this looks unlikely, which suggest that
the oil price itself will have to work its
magic to provide more demand and less
supply. This means a lower oil price for
some time, but fortunately the supply
response could take place quicker than
before due to the large existing market
share for US shale oil. Aker is prepared
to maneuver through a time period

that looks challenging for the global oil
market, but maintains a belief of longer-
term fundamentals for this market.

Dawn of a new era

Shifting our gaze to the time ahead,

we stand not just at the edge of a new
decade, but a new era in which finance is
fundamentally being reshaped. In addition
to increased focus on ESG-related
issues, the world is grappling with a virus
outbreak with enormous consequences
for society and the global economy. How
the outbreak will impact the decade
ahead remains to be seen.

At a time of increased focus on
divestment from carbon-intense
industries, both resulting from a dramatic
drop in oil prices and climate-related
issues at the top of the agenda, Aker

Letter from the President and CEO

remains an industrial investment company
with its center of gravity in oil and gas.
ESG considerations are core premises

for our business strategy and investment
decisions, but we are simultaneously
respectful about the fact that when the
world is back to normal it will need more
energy going forward.

A question we ask ourselves is how oil
and gas are being produced. The largest
emissions from crude oil do not stem from
its production, but from its utilization. It is,
nevertheless, important to produce the oil
at as low emissions as possible. Aker BP
is showing the way in this area. Their CO2
emissions per barrel produced is already
among the lowest - approximately 7 kg
per barrel compared to the worldwide
average of 18 kg per barrel - and we
continue to innovate in order to reduce
emissions even further.

We are deeply committed to our

shared responsibility to ensure that

the environmental impact of our
investment activities is mitigated. From
ensuring production at the oil fields is as
sustainable as possible, to the decisions
we make as shareholders and citizens; a
low-carbon future goes hand in hand with
our strategy for long-term profitability.

Existing and emerging opportunities
Momentum is steadily building behind
industries’ efforts to promote cleaner and
more sustainable operations. In addition,
oil majors have raced to invest in clean
energy and diversify investments, leading
to a record number of clean-energy deals
in 2019. At Aker, in addition to ensuring
our portfolio companies operate as
sustainability as possible, considering
new investment opportunities is part of
our day-to-day practice. With a robust
balance sheet and financial flexibility,
Aker is well-prepared to seize new,
emerging business opportunities. But as
our practice has been through nearly 180
years, we also remain deeply committed
to building new industry based on
established industrial capabilities. Our
long-term, systematic, targeted industrial
efforts, coupled with expertise and

the capacity to realize value-creating
opportunities, are recurring themes in our
development. It’s our success formula,
and it works.
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Aker is not the tortoise nor the hare, but
we believe the right balance and pace are
important to safeguard continued value
creation and future attractive dividends
to our shareholders. A more impatient
and swift transformation would enhance
short-term risks and reduce the chance
of long-term success. In addition, it would
have been a contradiction to how Aker
repeatedly has successfully built new
businesses on the basis - rather than at
the cost of - existing industrial activities.

Our non-listed industrial software
company, Cognite, is an example of

the major opportunities arising within
traditional industries. Cognite couples
the industrial domain expertise of the
Aker group with some of the best
programmers and software experts

in the world. The result is a company

that has more than doubled in size and
revenue in the last year and that is rapidly
attracting worldwide attention in asset-
heavy industries, like oil and gas, power
and utilities, and manufacturing. These
are all industries which recognize the
benefits of digitalizing their operations to
improve operational efficiency and reduce
emissions. For our portfolio companies,
Cognite represents an important role

in the industrial development and is

an example of using innovative ways

to connect data, improve efficiency

and harness the potential of industrial
digitalization.

Just a few weeks ago, | reflected on the
time ahead with a positive outlook and
an expectation that the next year and
decade would present opportunities for
value creation, both within our portfolio
companies and through new investments.
| still believe this to be true, but in a short
time, we have been faced with a far more
challenging market situation and my
outlook today is marked by uncertainty.
What remains firm, however, is that Aker
will seek to approach opportunities by
respecting what's already established.
The probability of achieving success
grows with the constant willingness for
continued development of our established
businesses. Our oil and gas-related
companies will continue to grow in the
most sustainable and profitable way. Part
of Aker’s role is to build an ecosystem
around our existing domain expertise to
create additional value.

Convergence of digitalization and
sustainability

Ocean resources have been the core of
Aker’s business since our establishment
in 1841. Nearly everything Aker does is
related to the ocean, and the ocean is
also at the core of our society’s future. To
reach the UN Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs), the ocean will need to
provide the world with more food, jobs,
energy and raw materials. According to
OECD estimates, the value of the ocean
economy could exceed USD 3 trillion by
2030, providing more than 40 million
jobs. However, fulfilling this potential will
require safeguarding and improving the
health of the ocean.

At Aker, we want to be part of the
solution. Which is why we in 2019
launched the Centre for the Fourth
Industrial Revolution (C4IR) Norway
together with the World Economic
Forum. The center is a joint initiative
between Aker companies, as well

as REV Ocean and the Ocean Data
Foundation, both owned by Aker’s main
shareholder, built on an ambition to
provide a collaborative platform that can
accelerate use of technology to reduce
industries’ environmental footprint.

The ambition with this global technology
center is to leverage our offshore
expertise and the Nordic model of
collaboration between the public and
the private sector to accelerate the
application of technology that can
reduce the industry’s environmental
footprint. Only through collaboration
between business, government and
NGOs will we unlock the great potential
that resides in digital technology to
promote sustainable development - for
our societies, for value-creation and for
the environment.

Steady course

As the number of COVID-19 cases
continues to rise and global stock
markets are sliding on fear of its impact
on economic growth, we are reminded
to maintain our steady course. Aker is
still marked by strong optionality and
unchanged commitment to long term
shareholder value creation. We are all
affected by the prevailing uncertainty. In
Aker, there will be no salary adjustments
for 2020, and no bonus program has

Aker ASA annual report 2019

been launched. | have also asked that my
salary be halved for the remainder of the
year.

Despite the current uncertain market
conditions, | am energized about what
lies ahead. Aker’s goal is to create
value for its shareholders in the form of
dividends and share price growth with
a long-term perspective. While our net
asset value will continue to be influenced
by a number of factors, including but
not limited to the current pandemic
causing major fluctuations in markets
and oil prices, the cyclical nature of the
industries to which we are exposed,
commodity prices, exchange rates,
operational performance and capital
market sentiment, we stand by our
commitment to deliver long-term value
creation for our shareholders.

o G

@yvind Eriksen
President and CEO

n
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Shareholder information

Shareholder information

Aker is committed to maintaining an open dialogue with its shareholders, investors, analysts and the financial markets in general.

Aker works to ensure that its share price

reflects its underlying value by making all

price-sensitive information available to
the market.

Aker’s goal is to create value for its
shareholders in the form of dividends
and share price growth over time. In
February 2006, the company’s board
adopted the following dividend policy:
“Aker ASA’s dividend policy supports
the company’s intention to maintain a
solid balance sheet and liquidity reserves
adequate to handle future obligations.
The company’s objective is to pay
dividends annually that amount to 2-4
per cent of the company’s net asset
value. In determining net asset value, the
share prices of Aker’s exchange-listed
investments are applied.”

Due to the extraordinary situation
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic,
oil price falls and volatile capital markets
as of March 2020, the Board of Directors
proposed that the General Meeting does
not approve a dividend distribution, but
authorizes the Board to adopt a dividend
based on the 2019 annual accounts.

Year Allocated  Allocated
dividend dividend as

(NOK) % of NAV

2013 13.00 39
2014 10.00 4]
2015 10.00 36
2016 16.00 35
2017 18.00 32
2018 22.50 4.0
2019 - -

Shares and share capital

Aker ASA has 74 321862 ordinary
shares, each with a par value of NOK

28 (see Note 9 to the company’s annual
accounts). Aker ASA has a single share
class. Each share carries one vote. The
company held 43 663 treasury shares as
at 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the company
had 14 556 shareholders. Kjell Inge
Rakke is Aker ASA's main shareholder.
Through TRG Holding AS, he holds
68.18 per cent of Aker ASA shares.
According to the shareholder register
maintained by the Norwegian Central
Securities Depository (VPS), non-
Norwegian shareholders held 12.54 per
cent of the company’s shares as at 31
December 2019. VPS does not identify
shareholders registered via nominee
accounts.

Stock-exchange listing

Aker ASA is listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange with the ticker code AKER.
Aker ASA’s shares are registered with
VPS with the registration number
ISIN' NO 0010234552. DNB ASA is the
company’s registrar.

Current board authorisations

At the annual general meeting on

26 April 2019, Aker’s shareholders
authorised the board to acquire up to

7 432186 Aker ASA shares with a total
par value of NOK 208 101 208. The
authorisation also encompassed the
acquisition of agreement liens in shares.
The per-share purchase price may not be
less than NOK 4 nor exceed NOK 1200.
The board is free to decide the method
for acquiring or disposing of treasury
shares. The authorisation is valid until the
2020 annual general meeting, though no
longer than until 30 June 2020.

In the period 26 March 2019 to 31
December 2019, the company not
acquired any treasury shares, and
distributed 9 407 treasury shares in
connection with the employee incentive
programme.

Share option plans
Aker ASA had no share option plans as
at 31 December 2019.
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Investor relations

Aker seeks to maintain an open and direct
dialogue with shareholders, debt holders,
financial analysts and the stock markets

in general. In addition to capital markets
days, the company arranges regular
presentations for, and meetings with,
shareholders, analysts and investors.

All Aker ASA press releases, stock
exchange notices and investor relations
(IR) information are available on the
company’s website, www.akerasa.com. This
online resource also offers access to the
company’s quarterly and annual reports,
prospectuses, corporate presentations,
articles of association, financial calendar,
investor relations and communications
policy and corporate governance
information.

Electronic quarterly and annual
reports

Aker ASA's quarterly and annual reports are
published on the company’s website at the
same time as they are released via the Oslo
Stock Exchange distribution service,
www.newsweb.no (Ticker: AKER).

Nomination committee

The company’s nomination committee
has the following members:

= Kjell Inge Rakke (chairman)

= Gerhard Heiberg

= |eif-Arne Langay

Shareholders who wish to contact the
nomination committee may do so using
the following email address:
contact@akerasa.com

Audit committee

The company’s audit committee has the
following members:

= [Finn Berg Jacobsen (chairman)

= Kristin Krohn Devold

= Atle Trangy

Annual general meeting

Aker ASA’s annual general meeting is
held in April. Written notification is sent
to all shareholders and shareholder
nominees.

Meeting notices and attendance
registration forms are sent to
shareholders by the deadlines laid down
in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act, and made available on
the company’s website and through the

Oslo Stock Exchange distribution service.

The annual report and other enclosures
to the meeting notice are made available
solely via the company’s website and the

Oslo Stock Exchange distribution service.

Shareholders who wish to receive the
enclosures by post must contact the
company.

Shareholders who are unable to attend
the general meeting may vote on
individual agenda items electronically
on Aker ASA's website during the
pre-meeting registration period.
Shareholders may change their votes
or opt to attend the meeting in person
throughout the registration period.

Shareholders may also vote by proxy.
The company has designed its proxy
forms to allow shareholders to vote on
(issue voting instructions for) individual

NAV and share price development (NOK per share)
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agenda items.

Procedures for electronic voting and

the appointment of proxies with voting
instructions are described in the meeting
notice and on Aker ASA's website.

The company does not appoint an
independent proxy to vote on behalf

of shareholders. Aker considers that
shareholders’ interests are adequately
safeguarded by permitting the
participation of an appointed proxy or
authorisation of the meeting chair/board
chairman/other appointed representative
to vote according to specific instructions.

2019 share data
As at 31 December 2019, the company’s
total market capitalisation was NOK

Geographic distribution of owner-
ship as at 31. desember 2019:

No. of % of

shares share
Nationality held capital
Non-Norwegian
shareholders 9 317152 12.54

Norwegian

shareholders 65004 710 87.46

Total 74321862 100.00

40.4 billion. During 2019, a total of 26
770 000 Aker ASA shares were traded,
corresponding to 36 per cent of the
company’s total outstanding shares. The
Aker ASA share was traded on all of Oslo
Stock Exchange’s trading days. The share
is included in Oslo Stock Exchange’s
OSEBX index.

MW Share price m NAV

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
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Financial
investments

/ 12%

INnvestment
overview e

Aker’s portfolio comprises 84 per cent listed shares, 6 per cent cash
and 10 per cent unlisted companies and other assets. Aker’s total
investments amounted to NOK 61.9 billion as at 31 December 2019.

Industrial Financial

holdings investments

Aker’s industrial holdings represent 88 Aker’s financial investments represent 12
per cent of Aker’s total investments, and per cent of Aker’s total investments, and
comprise the following companies: comprise:

= Aker BP =  Cash

= Aker Energy = Real estate

= Aker Solutions = Listed financial investments

= Akastor = Other financial investments

= Kvaerner

= Qcean Yield

«  Aker BioMarine Read more on page 24.

= Cognite

Read more on page 15.

Industrial holdings and Financial investments by sector as at 31 December 2019:

m E&P 68%
m Qil services 7%
B Maritime assets 9%
Seafood and marine biotechnology 5%
B Cash 6%
Other financial investments 3%

B Real estate investments 1%
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Industrial holdings

Aker’s industrial holdings totalled NOK 54.2 billion at the end of 2019. This equates to 88 per cent of the total asset
value of Aker ASA and holding companies.

The industrial holdings portfolio
comprises the investments in Aker BP,
Aker Energy, Aker Solutions, Akastor,
Kvaerner, Ocean Yield, Aker BioMarine
and Cognite. Aker has a long-term
investment horizon for these companies.

Aker is actively involved in the
development of its eight industrial
portfolio companies, cooperating
closely with each company’s board
and management. Every investment is
monitored by Aker’s management with
the support of a dedicated investment
team. Aker also has representatives on
the various company boards.

Ownership is exercised primarily in

the board rooms of the individual
companies. Aker also functions as a
knowledge centre, as its staff possess
valuable industrial and strategic
knowhow and cutting-edge expertise in
areas such as capital market operations,
financing, restructuring, transactions,
macroeconomics, communications/
investor relations and legal. These
resources are available not only to Aker’s
management in its continuous follow-up
of the operational companies, but also to
each individual company.

Key figures Industrial holdings

Industrial strategy

Aker combines industrial knowledge
with a strong tradition of cooperation
with unions and employee board
representatives. Aker has experience and
expertise in implementing acquisitions,
sales, mergers and demergers. Since
listing on Oslo Stock Exchange in
September 2004, Aker has completed
dozens of transactions which have
generated considerable value for Aker
and the portfolio companies.

Aker invests in sectors and industrial
companies operating in industries

in which it has the knowledge and
experience needed to generate value
through growth and stable upstream
cash flow to the parent company.
Aker also invests opportunistically in
companies which offer possibilities
and scope for Aker to contribute
transactional expertise.

By exercising active ownership, Aker
promotes the independence and
robustness of each company in its
industrial portfolio.

As an active owner of companies with
excellent value and return potential,
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Aker’s agenda is to contribute to

robust returns for all shareholders.

The company’s focus is on skilful
management, appropriate organisational
structures, profitable operations, growth,
optimal capital structures and industrial
measures through acquisitions, sales,
mergers and demergers.

Developments in 2019

The total market value of Aker’s
Industrial holdings was NOK 54.2 billion
at the end of 2019, compared to NOK
46.1 billion one year prior. Aker Energy
and Cognite are new additions to the
industrial portfolio, and are collectively
valued at NOK 1 billion, corresponding
to the book value of the two unlisted
companies. In 2019, Aker invested NOK
442 million in a share issue by Ocean
Yield, thereby maintaining its 61.7 per
cent shareholding.

In total, Aker received NOK 3.4 billion in
dividends from the industrial portfolio
companies in 2019, compared to NOK
2.1 billion in 2018. The table Key figures
Industrial holdings shows changes and
developments in 2019.

For more information, see page 27.

NOK million

31.12.18 2019 31.12.19
Ownership Net Received Value Other

in%" Value investments dividends change changes Value
Aker BP 400 31403 - (2653) 12736 - 41 486
Ocean Yield 61.7 5816 442 (658) (413) - 5187
Aker BioMarine 98.0 241 3) - - (45) 2 363
Aker Solutions ? 34.8 3750 - - 1 413) - 2 338
Akastor 36.7 1313 - - (314) - 1000
Aker Energy 492 471 452 - - 2 925
Kvaerner ¥ 28.7 931 - ©7) 5) - 859
Cognite 64.0 42 - - - - 42
Total Industrial Holdings 46139 890 (3 378) 10 591 (43) 54 200

1) At end of 2019. 2) Directly and through Aker Kvaerner Holding AS. 3) Through Aker Kvaerner Holding AS.
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Aker BP ASA

Chairman: @yvind Eriksen
CEO: Karl Johnny Hersvik
Aker’s ownership interest: 40%

Aker BP is a fully-fledged E&P company. Measured in
terms of production, Aker BP is one of Europe’s leading
independent listed oil companies.

Akers engasjement

Aker owns 40 per cent of the shares in Aker BP. In 2019, the
company’s share price rose from NOK 218 to NOK 288. In addition,
quarterly dividends totalling NOK 18.42 per share were paid.

Aker’s shareholding was valued at NOK 41.5 billion at the end of
2019, with the equity investment in Aker BP thus representing
67 per cent of Aker’s total assets. @yvind Eriksen and Kjell Inge
Rakke represent Aker on Aker BP’s board of directors.

Aker’s ownership agenda

Aker’s aim is to reinforce Aker BP as a key operator on the
Norwegian Continental Shelf, and supports the company’s
ambitious targets for growth in its organic portfolio and through
value-generating transactions. Aker BP’s strong operational
performance and improvement programme for operational
safety and efficiency are reducing both costs and CO, emissions
per produced barrel of oil. In its capacity as owner, Aker is
encouraging Aker BP to bring production costs below USD 7
per barrel and CO, emissions below seven kilogrammes per
produced barrel.

Aker BP paid a dividend of USD 750 million in 2019. Aker
receives a 40 per cent share of the oil company’s dividends.

Aker BP aims to be a benchmark for safe, efficient and profitable
offshore oil and gas activity that is as sustainable as possible. The
company has committed to cutting CO, emissions in accordance
with the targets in the Paris Agreement. Key tools in this regard
include LEAN, digitalisation and models for alliances and
cooperation with suppliers, as well as electrification using onshore
power and technologies to reduce emissions from production.

For more information, see page 27 and www.akerbp.com

Investment overview |

". AkerBP

Aker BP aims to be a benchmark for safe, efficient and profitable offshore oil and
9as activity that is as sustainable as possible.

Share of Aker’s total assets

Key figures 2019 2018

Restated
Operating income Vs mition 3347 3752
EB|TDAX (USD million) 2 591 3 O4‘|
Post-tax profit (Usbmilion 141 476
Exploration costs (Wb miliom 305.5 295.9
Share price N0 288 218
Profit per share s 0.39 1.32

Number of employees 1743 1648


http://www.akerbp.com/
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Aker Solutions ASA IS AkerSolutions

Chairman: @yvind Eriksen
CEO: Luis Araujo
Aker’s ownership interest: 34.8%

Aker Solutions is a global oil service company that
delivers technologies, products and solutions in the
subsea and field desigh segments, as well as offshore
maintenance, modification and operational (MMO)
services.

Aker’s engagement

Aker owns 70 per cent of the shares in Aker Kvaerner Holding
AS, which in turn owns 40.6 per cent of the shares in Aker
Solutions, giving Aker an equity interest equivalent to 28.4 per
cent in Aker Solutions. Aker also owns 6.4 per cent of the shares
in Aker Solutions directly, bringing its total stake to 34.8 per
cent. @yvind Eriksen and Kristian Rakke represent Aker on Aker
Solutions’ board of directors.

As at 31 December 2019, Aker Solutions’ share price was

NOK 24.72, compared to NOK 39.66 one year prior. Aker’s
shareholding was valued at NOK 2.3 billion at the end of 2019,
equivalent to 3.8 per cent of Aker’s total assets.

Aker’s ownership agenda

Aker’s top priorities for Aker Solutions are increased

competitiveness through operational improvements, success in

winning new contracts and openness to partnerships, alliances

and transactions. At the start of 2020, the market situation Aker Solutions is rapidly moving into the renewable energy and low-carbon market.
is challenging, however the company is on track with its

programme for reducing costs by 50 per cent compared to 2015 ,
levels, by 2021. Share of Aker’s total assets

Aker sets the strategic direction, and Aker Solution is moving
into the renewable energy and low-carbon market. Aker
Solutions’ “20-25-30" strategy aims to ensure that at least

20 per cent of the company’s sales are made in renewable
segments by 2030, and that at least 25 per cent of sales in 2030
come from products and solutions which reduce CO, emissions.
In the renewables sector, floating offshore wind power is a
priority. The low-carbon segment includes carbon capture and

storage, subsea gas compression, unmanned platforms and Key figures 2019 2018
electrification of oil and gas fields. Operating income Mo milien 29 263 25 232
(NOK million)

Work is continuing on the development of strong relationships EBITDA 2244 1810

with customers and partners, operational improvements, EBITDA margin ®ercent 7.7 7.2

stronger capital discipline and utilisation of technology and Order book MoK milion) 25 403 35148

digitalisation. The objective is to increase efficiency ahq cgt Order intake (MoK milion 19 620 25 421

costs throughout the supply chain, and to be competitive in the e

renewable energy and low-carbon segments. Share price ™0 24.72 39.66
Profit per share MoK 0.15 1.88

For more information, see page 29 and www.akersolutions.com Number of employees 15 956 14 705
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Akastor ASA AKASTOR @)

Chairman: Kristian Rakke
CEO: Karl Erik Kjelstad
Aker’s ownership interest: 36.7%

Akastor is an oil service investment company with a
portfolio of companies. It has a flexible mandate to
engage in active ownership and long-term value creation.

Aker’s engagement

Aker owns 70 per cent of the shares in Aker Kvaerner Holding
AS, which in turn owns 40.3 per cent of the shares in Akastor,
giving Aker an equity interest equivalent to 28.2 per cent in
Akastor. Aker also owns 8.5 per cent of the shares in Akastor
directly. Kristian Ragkke and @yvind Eriksen represent Aker on
Akastor’s board of directors.

Akastor’s share price was NOK 9.94 as at 31 December 2019,
compared to NOK 13.06 one year previously. Aker’s shareholding
was valued at NOK 1.0 billion at the end of 2019, equivalent to 1.6
per cent of Aker’s total assets.

Aker’s ownership agenda
Aker’s main ownership priorities are operational improvements
and cost reductions in Akastor’s portfolio companies, and
winning new contracts and securing new transactions. Aker is
encouraging Akastor to play an active role in the transactional
market, both to release capital and to seize opportunities to
generate value.

Akastor's portfolio companies show operational improvements and cost reductions.
Akastor’s most valuable company is MHWirth, which specialises
in the development and delivery of innovative, sustainable
technologies to the drilling market. The aim is to grow MHWirth Share of Aker’s total assets
organically and through acquisitions, and to list the company
on an independent basis or as part of an industrial, structural
solution. In 2019, MHWirth acquired Bronco Manufacturing, a
manufacturer of equipment and supplier of engineering and
other solutions to the global onshore drilling market.

Since Akastor was spun out of Aker Solutions as a non-core
operation in 2014, it has released more than NOK 6 billion
through divestments. The completed transactions demonstrate

that Akastor’s portfolio companies often offer added value Key figures 2019 2018
which can be realised in larger, more effective units in industrial Operating income MoK milion) 5 361 2800
ions. [ tinue to drive forward th ffort
icr?ir;ztceglgggrtwj aikg\:v\r:v;\rll continue to drive forward these efforts EBITDA (oK milion) 492 90
EBITDA margin ®ercend 9.2 76
For more information, see page 29 and www.akastor.com Order book (Nok milion) 3166 2692
Order intake (Mo milion 5250 4481
Share price NOK 9.94 13.06
Profit per share M0 0.37 119

Antall ansatte 1921 1629
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Kvaerner ASA

Chairman: Leif-Arne Langgy
CEO: Karl-Petter Loken
Aker’s ownership interest: 28.7%

Kvaerner is a specialist provider of engineering,
procurement and fabrication services for the offshore
oil and gas industry, as well as the renewables industry.

Aker’s engagement

Aker owns 70 per cent of the shares in Aker Kvaerner Holding
AS, which in turn owns 41 per cent of the shares in Kvaerner.
Aker thus indirectly owns 28.7 per cent of Kvaerner. Kjell Inge
Raokke represents Aker on Kvaerner’s board of directors.

As at 31 December 2019, Kvaerner’s share price was NOK 1112,
compared to NOK 12.06 last year. A dividend of NOK 1.00 per
share was paid in 2019. Aker’s shareholding was valued at NOK
0.9 billion at the end of the year, equivalent to 1.4 per cent of
Aker’s total assets.

Aker’s ownership agenda

Aker’s ownership priorities for Kvaerner are to increase
competitiveness through continuous operational improvements
and cost focus, win new contracts, maintain a strong balance
sheet and develop the business by entering new business areas.
The aim is to build on Kvaerner’s position as a leading supplier of
engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) services.

In its ownership capacity, Aker gives priority to the maintenance
of high health, safety and environmental standards. Aker is
pleased that, in 2019, Kvaerner achieved its best results in this
area since being spun out as a separate listed company in

2011. Aker will continue to focus on reducing the number of
undesirable incidents, which demands concentrated follow-up
by Kvaerner’s management.

Aker is focused on ensuring that Kvaerner continues to deliver
first-class project execution and continuous improvements

in productivity and cost efficiency. These are key criteria

for success in Kvaerner’s two new business areas: floating
production and storage vessels (FPSOs) and renewable
energy. In 2019, Kvaerner won a contract with Equinor for the
construction of 11 floating concrete hulls for offshore wind
turbines, as well as maritime support services, for the Hywind
Tampen project. This is a good start, and confirms Kvaerner’s
expertise in a business area which may grow rapidly if the public
and private sectors develop a productive collaboration. Aker
supports Kvaerner’s consideration of strategic opportunities.

For more information, see page 30 and www.kvaerner.com
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Kveerner increases its competitiveness and continues to deliver first-class project execution.

Share of Aker’s total assets

Key figures 2019 2018
Operating income (NOK miltior) 9 032 7220
EBITDA (Nomiliion) 498 437
EBITDA margin ®ercend 5.5 6.1
Order book MoK miliory 8200 10625
Order intake MoK miliom 6 902 9827
Share price MO 11.12 12.06
Profit per share No© 0.91 1.04
Number of employees 2833 2727
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Ocean Yield ASA

Chairman: Frank O. Reite
CEO: Lars Solbakken
Aker’s ownership interest: 61.7 %

Ocean Yield charters out vessels on long-term
contracts, a strategy which offers predictability with
respect to future earnings and dividend capacity.

Aker’s engagement

Aker owns 61.7 per cent of the shares in Ocean Yield. As at 31
December 2019, Ocean Yield’s share price was NOK 48.00,
compared to NOK 59.20 at the end of 2018. The company paid

a dividend of USD 0.76 per share in 2019, corresponding to NOK
6.70 per share. Aker’s shareholding was valued at NOK 5.2 billion
at the end of 2019, equivalent to 8.4 per cent of Aker’s total
assets. Kjell Inge Rakke and Frank O. Reite represent Aker on
Ocean Yield’s board of directors.

Aker’s ownership agenda

Aker’s main ownership priorities for Ocean Yield are portfolio
growth and diversification, a focus on counterparty risk, a new
contract for the FPSO Dhirubhai-1, optimising capital structure,
reducing capital costs and maintaining an attractive dividend.

Ocean Yield increased its investment capacity in 2019 by
securing a hybrid bond loan totalling USD 125 million, obtaining
a further NOK 750 million bond loan and completing a private
placement that secured NOK 717 million in new equity. Aker
subscribed for its relative share at a price of NOK 45 per share,
thereby maintaining its 61.7 per cent shareholding. The company
invests in modern ships fitted with technology and equipment
designed to meet and exceed potential new regulatory
standards and reduced emission requirements. Ocean Yield
charters out its ships on bareboat contracts, and therefore has
no responsibility for the operation of the 69 operational vessels
in its fleet, which have an average age of 3.8 years.

Aker supports Ocean Yield’s strategy of growing the company
over time through value-generating transactions and further
portfolio diversification in terms of both the number of
counterparties and segments. Diversification helps insulate the
company against fluctuations in individual segments.

For more information, see page 30 and www.oceanyield.no

Investment overview |

_@, OCEAN YIELD

Ocean Yield focus on growing the company through value-generating transaction
and further portfolio diversification.

Share of Aker’s total assets

Key figures 2019 2018
Operating income (Usb mition 257 343
EBITDA (Usb milien) 222 283
EBITDA margin (e cend 86.6 82.3
EBITDA order book (Vsbmilien 3600 3500
Share price MO 48.00 59.20
Profit per share U (0.27) 0.36

Number of employees 17 24
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Aker BioMarine AS O AkerBioMarine

Chairman: Ola Snave
CEO: Matts Johansen
Aker’s ownership interest: 98%

Aker BioMarine is an integrated biotechnology
company that develops, markets and sells krill-based
ingredients for the consumer nutritional supplements
and animal feed markets.

Aker’s engagement

Aker owns 98 per cent of the shares in Aker BioMarine. The
shareholding is valued at NOK 2.4 billion (book value). This
equates to 3.8 per cent of Aker’s total assets at 31 December
2019. Kjell Inge Rakke, @yvind Eriksen and Frank O. Reite
represent Aker on the company’s board of directors.

Aker’s ownership agenda

Aker’s key ownership priorities for Aker BioMarine are
operational improvements, increased profitability, growth of
sales through product innovation and new channels, expansion
into new geographical markets, achievement of synergies and
continued investment in long-term growth. Aker’s aim is to
build a larger, more robust company with a focus on effective
operation and efficient supply chains in target industries.

Aker BioMarine is growing rapidly. In its capacity as owner,
Aker is supporting necessary investment to build a vertically
integrated company that controls the supply chain, from
sustainable krill harvesting in the Antarctic to research, product
development, production, logistics and marketing targeting
industrial customers and consumers. Aker is investing now to Share of Aker’s total assets
improve future financial performance.

er Bii e focus s on operational improvements, increased profitability, and
Aker BioMarine focus is on operational improvements, increased profitability, anc
growth of sales through continued investment in long-term growth.

In its ownership capacity, Aker is encouraging Aker BioMarine
to become a leader in the field of sustainable harvesting with a
minimal carbon footprint. The company has developed long-
term partnerships with branded consumer goods companies,
environmental protection organisations and researchers.
Superba™ Krill Oil, the company’s brand ingredient in the
omega-3 consumer market, has established a strong position in
the global market, and QRILL™ is an important feed supplement

sold in the aguaculture and pet food segments. Key figures 2019 2018
Operating income (Vsb mition 247 155
For more information, see page 30 and www.akerbiomarine.com EBITDA (Usb million) 46 33
Post-tax profit/loss s milion 24) M
Net interest-bearing dept Vspmilion 407 203

Number of employees 504 364
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Aker Energy AS AKER

Chairman: Karl Johnny Hersvik
CEO: Svein Jakob Liknes
Aker’s ownership interest: 49.2%

Aker Energy owns 50 per cent of the Deepwater Tano
Cape Three Points oil field in Ghana.

Aker’s engagement

Aker owns 49 per cent of Aker Energy. Aker's shares in Aker
Energy had a book value of NOK 0.9 billion, corresponding to 1.5
per cent of Aker’s total assets as at 31 December 2019. Kjell Inge
Rokke and @yvind Eriksen represent Aker on the company’s
board of directors.

Aker’s ownership agenda

Drilling operations in 2019 have confirmed contingent resources

of 450-550 million barrels of oil equivalents in the Deepwater

Tano Cape Three Points (DWT/CTP) block. Previously, Aker

Energy has focused on securing approval of the Plan for

Development and Operation (PDO) of the Pecan field, which

would lay a strong commercial basis for an investment decision

and financing for the field development. However, given the

unprecedented collapse in oil prices in the first quarter of 2020,

the company, with the support of Aker, has decided to postpone

the Pecan project indefinitely. At the top of Aker's ownership

agenda is to find potential for improvement, including for the

technical solution, as well as supporting Aker Energy's strategy

of exploring opportunities for transactions. Aker Energy has a Aker Energy continue to secure approval of the plan for development and
constructive dialogue with the authorities in Ghana, and have a operation of the Pecan field.
shared understanding of the challenges being faced.

Share of Aker’s total assets
For more information, see page 28 and www.akerenergy.com

Key figures 2019 2018
Operating income s milion 8 2
EBITDA (Usbmilion) (123) (32)
Post-tax profit/loss VsPmiiom asmn (34)
Net interest-bearing debt Vsbmiliom 40 (22)

Number of employees 152 58
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Cognite AS

Chairman: @yvind Eriksen
CEO: John Markus Lervik
Aker’s ownership interest: 64%

Cognite is an industrial software company which
enables companies in the oil and gas industry and other
capital-intensive sectors to improve their operations
through efficient data collection and sharing.

Aker’s engagement

Aker owns 64 per cent of the shares in Cognite. Aker’s
shareholding is valued at NOK 42 million (book value),
corresponding to 0.1 per cent of Aker’s total assets as at 31
December 2019. @yvind Eriksen represents Aker on Cognite’s
board of directors.

Aker’s ownership agenda

Cognite is growing rapidly, and as the main shareholder Aker

is driving forward an aggressive expansion into the growing
market for industrial software. The company’s main product,
Cognite Data Fusion, gathers and processes enormous volumes
of data for industrial customers on an ongoing basis. A
substantial share of Cognite’s revenue comes from licences and
subscriptions.

Cognite, which Aker established in cooperation with John
Markus Lervik in December 2016, has already secured a leading
international position in the field of oil and gas industry
digitalisation, but has also gained significant traction in

sectors such as energy and electricity supply, processing and
manufacturing, and shipping. The key to scalable industrial Share of Aker’s total assets
digitalisation is that data can be shared in real-time. The

benefits of this include production optimisation, reduced energy

consumption, monitoring of production processes, reporting of

irregularities and efficient maintenance planning.

Cognite holds a leading international position in the oil and gas industry
digitalisation

International expansion, continued recruitment of talented
individuals from across the globe, strengthening of customer
relationships and evaluation of strategic partnerships and
cooperation opportunities, for example with Saudi Aramco,
remain important items on Aker’s ownership agenda. Cognite

. . . o Key figures 2019 2018
and Cognite Data Fusion are supporting the renewal of existing v g. .
industry and development of new activities. This allows Operating income omiien 340 164
industry to become more sustainable through reduced energy EBITDA (oxmilion (15) 9
consumpt{on, lower emissions and morg profitable pperat\on. Post-tax profit/loss MoK miion a7 9
These are important reasons for Aker’s investment in the , .
development of Cognite. Net interest-bearing debt Nk milion 18 a7
Number of employees 236 110

For more information, see page 31 and www.cognite.com
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Financial investments

Investment overview |

The value of Aker’s financial investments totalled NOK 7.7 billion at the end of 2019, including NOK 3.7 billion in
cash. This equates to 12 per cent of the total asset value of Aker ASA and holding companies.

The financial investments segment The listed financial investments American

encompasses cash, equity investments Shipping Company, Philly Shipyard,

in listed companies such as American REC Silicon and Solstad Offshore were

Shipping Company, Philly Shipyard, valued at NOK 0.9 billion at the end of

REC Silicon and Solstad Offshore, the 2019. In 2019, Aker became the largest

real estate development company shareholder in REC Silicon following

FP Eiendom and other assets and the purchase of 22.95 per cent of the

receivables. In 2019, Aker Energy and shares in the company for a total of NOK

Cognite were reclassified from the 85 million. Overall, these companies

financial to the industrial portfolio. increased Aker’s net asset value by NOK
146 million in 2019. Solstad Offshore

At year-end 2019, Aker had cash faces a difficult situation in a challenging

holdings of NOK 3.7 billion. The market, and has announced ongoing

company’s liquidity reserve, including negotiations with creditors and other

undrawn credit facilities, totalled NOK stakeholders to improve its liquidity

6.6 billion as at 31 December 2019, situation.

Key figures financial investments
NOK million

Cash

Listed financial investments
Real estate

Other financial investments

Total financial investments

Other financial investments primarily
comprise the real estate development
company FP Eiendom, internal and
external receivables and other assets. FP
Eiendom’s exposure to the real estate
development market amounted to NOK
603 million as at 31 December 2019,
compared to NOK 568 million at year-
end 2018.

For more information, see page 31

31.12.19 31.12.18
3715 1945
917 701
603 568
2498 1860

7733 5074
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Alternative
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performance measures

Aker ASA refers to alternative performance measures with regards to Aker ASA
and holding companies’ financial results and those of its portfolio companies,

as a supplement to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Such performance measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors
and other interested parties, and they are meant to provide an enhanced insight
into operations, financing and future prospects of the group. The definitions of

these measures are as follows:

= EBITDA: operating profit before
depreciation, amortisation, and
impairment charges.

= EBITDA margin: EBITDA divided by

revenue

= EBITDAX: operating profit before
depreciation, amortisation,

impairment charges and exploration

expenses.

= Equity ratio: total equity divided by

total assets.

= Gross asset value: the sum of all

assets determined by applying the
market value of listed shares and the

book value of other assets.

= Kboed: thousand barrels of oil
equivalents per day

= Net asset value (NAV): gross asset

value less liabilities.

NAV per share: NAV divided by the
total number of outstanding Aker
ASA shares.

Net interest-bearing receivables/
debt: cash, cash equivalents and
interest-bearing receivables (current
and non-current), less interest-
bearing debt (current and
non-current).

Order intake: new signed contracts
in the period and expansion of
existing contracts. The estimated
value of potential options and
change orders is not included.

Order backlog: estimated value
of remaining work under signed
contracts.

Value-adjusted equity ratio: NAV
divided by gross asset value.
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r 4 Aker has
financial flexibility
to act, as well as a

robust balance
sheet.

Board of
Directors’ report

2019 was a good year for Aker ASA* and the company’s shareholders. Aker’s**
net asset value was NOK 50.0 billion at the end of 2019, up from NOK 41.7
billion the previous year. In addition, a dividend of NOK 1.7 billion was paid in

2019. The shareholder return, measured in terms of share price development

and dividend paid, was 23 per cent. In comparison, the main index on the Oslo

Stock Exchange (OSEBX) increased by 17 per cent.

Aker ASA* has financial flexibility to act,
as well as a robust balance sheet. In the
light of the dramatic development of the
spread of COVID-19 and the significant
drop in oil and stock prices in March
2020, economic strength is critically
important.

Dividends to Aker from portfolio
companies increased to NOK 3.5 billion
in 2019, up from NOK 2.2 billion in 2018.
Aker has investment and dividend
capacity, and the company is well-
equipped to handle the extraordinary
situation. The general economic outlook
is currently uncertain, both in Norway
and the rest of the world. This
uncertainty in the national and world
economy is expected to increase in the
time ahead. This is not least due to the
shutdown of societies and companies,
with the subsequent significant drop in
prices and in demand for oil and gas,
which hits the oil and gas industry hard,
especially the supplier companies. The
oil companies will depend on

* Aker ASA refers to the parent company.

government measures to maintain the
level of activity, and thereby also secure
employment, capacity and expertise and
the supplier industry.

On February 13, Aker ASA’s Board of
Directors agreed to propose a dividend
of NOK 23.50 per share to the
company’s Annual General Meeting.
Based on market developments and
increased uncertainty in the period after
this recommendation was made, the
board resolved on March 31 to amend
the proposal to ask the general meeting
not to decide on dividend payments, but
instead to authorize the board to
determine dividend based on the annual
accounts for 2019. The board aims to
make the dividend assessment semi-
annually. In the board’s dividend
assessments, emphasis will be placed on
the market situation and prospects,
activity level, investment opportunities
and needs, as well as other relevant
factors.

** Aker refers to Aker ASA and holding companies, as specified in Note 1 to the annual accounts

of Aker ASA and holding companies, page 120.

Aker Group refers to Aker ASA and subsidiaries consolidated into the Group accounts, as

specified in Note 9 to the annual accounts of the Aker Group, page 61,



Net Asset Value (NAV) increased by 19.7
per centin 2019 to NOK 50.0 billion. NAV
is a key performance indicator for Aker
and is calculated using the market value
of listed shares and book value for other
assets. The NAV forms the basis for the
company’s dividend policy.

In 2019, Aker BP contributed with an
increase of NOK 12.7 billion in Aker’'s NAV,
including NOK 2.65 billion in dividends to
Aker. For the other listed companies in
the industrial portfolio - Ocean Yield,
Aker Solutions, Akastor and Kvaerner -
the value of the shareholding declined
NOK 2.1 billion, including dividends to
Aker from Ocean Yield and Kvaerner at
NOK 658 million and NOK 67 million,
respectively.

The three unlisted companies in the
industrial portfolio - Aker BioMarine, Aker
Energy and Cognite - are recorded at
book value in the NAV.

1. Key developments in 2019

The oil price started the year at USD 54
per barrel, touched USD 72 per barrel,
before ending the year at USD 66 per
barrel. In 2019, the financial markets were
also affected by the US-China trade war,
fear of recession, and geopolitical turmoil.
Nevertheless, the Oslo Stock Exchange
and the leading global financial markets
showed a positive development in 2019.

With 75 per cent of Aker’s equity
investments being in the oil and gas
sector, Aker is exposed to developments
in oil prices and the activity level in the oil
service industry. In the first quarter,
Aker’'s NAV increased from NOK 41.7 to
NOK 56.2 billion, while the share price
rose from NOK 462 to NOK 658. In the
second quarter, the NAV declined to NOK
44 8 billion. The share price reached NOK
491, and a dividend of NOK 22.50 per
share was paid for the fiscal year 2018. In
the third quarter, the NAV stood at NOK
431 billion and the share price at NOK
484. In the fourth quarter, the NAV
increased to NOK 50.0 billion, while the
share price ended 2019 at NOK 543.50.

Aker’s shareholders thus achieved an
annual return of 23 per cent in 2019,
including share price developments and
distributed dividends. This compares to
an increase of 17 per cent for the Oslo
Stock Exchange Benchmark Index
(OSEBX).

The Board proposes a dividend of NOK
0.00 per share for 2019, down from NOK
22.50 per share in 2018.

Aker’s value-adjusted equity ratio was 81
per cent at year-end, while the book
equity ratio stood at 55 per cent. The cash
balance was NOK 3.7 billion, up from NOK
1.9 billion the previous year. Gross
interest-bearing debt amounted to NOK
11.6 billion, while the net interest-bearing
debt stood at NOK 6.7 billion.

Through 2019, the public and capital
markets’ awareness of climate change,
environmental challenges, and investment
risk increased significantly. Environment
and climate, social conditions, and
corporate governance - often collectively
referred to as ESG (Environmental, Social,
Governance), are important issues that
are part of Aker’s assessment of business-
related risks and opportunities. ESG is an
integral part of business operations and is
a strategic factor in Aker’s development.
As an active owner, Aker also has clear
expectations related to ESG
considerations for the industrial portfolio
companies. This is described in more
detail in Aker’s ESG Report for active and
responsible ownership.

2. Business operations and location
Aker is an industrial investment company
with a history dating back to 1841. The
company is registered in Norway, with its
headquarters at Fornebu.

As an active owner and equity investor,
Aker uses its financial strength and
industrial expertise to further develop the
operational portfolio companiesin a
sustainable manner. Through
participation on the boards of the
portfolio companies, Aker is a driving
force for strategic development,
operational improvements, restructuring
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and facilitating transactions. Aker strives
to secure profitable growth and forward-
looking companies, and to build robust
organisational cultures in all its portfolio
companies. The goal is to ensure
sustainable value creation for all
shareholders and contribute to a positive
social development.

Aker's investments are divided into two
portfolios: Industrial holdings and
Financial Investments. At year-end 2019,
Aker was directly and indirectly the
largest shareholder in nine companies
listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange.

a. Industrial holdings

Aker's industrial holdings are the
company's long-term investments and
consists of eight companies, of which five
are listed. These include the integrated
exploration and production company,
Aker BP; the oil company, Aker Energy;
the oil service company, Aker Solutions;
the oil service investment company,
Akastor; the engineering, procurement
and construction company, Kvaerner; the
ship-owning company, Ocean Yield; the
krill and biotechnology company, Aker
BioMarine; and the industrial software and
digitalisation company, Cognite.

The value of Aker's industrial holdings
amounted to NOK 54.2 billion as of
December 31, 2019, which represented 88
per cent of Aker's value-adjusted gross
assets, up from NOK 46.1 billion a year
earlier. In 2019, Aker invested 442 million
in Ocean Yield through a rights issue,
maintaining its 61.7 percent stake in the
company. In addition, Aker has invested
NOK 454 million in Aker Energy.

Aker BP contributed with a share value
increase of NOK 10.1 billion in 2019. The
decline in value in the other companies
amounted to NOK 1.4 billion in Aker
Solutions, 1.1 billion in Ocean Yield, NOK
0.3 billion in Akastor, and NOK 0.1 billion
in Kvaerner. Dividends received from
Aker BP, Ocean Yield and Kvaerner
totalled NOK 3.4 billion.

Aker BP
Aker BP is a fully-fledged oil and gas
Exploration and Production (E&P)
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company operating on the Norwegian
Continental Shelf (NCS).

Aker BP reached important milestones
over the course of the year. The Johan
Sverdrup field, where Aker BP has a 11.57
per cent interest, is an industrial
achievement thanks to the collaboration
between the operator, Equinor, the
licensing partners, and the supplier
industry. The field came into production
in October 2019 - two months ahead of
schedule and approximately NOK 40
billion below budget. The break-even
price is below USD 20 per barrel, and the
CO2 emissions per barrel of oil produced
are below 1kg. The latter is noticeably low
due to the electrification of Johan
Sverdrup, using power from land to
operate the platform. Production has had
a very promising start, and it is estimated
that the field will produce up to 660,000
barrels per day at plateau production.
Aker BP expects the company's share of
production to be 50,000 barrels per day
by 2020 in the first phase, and Johan
Sverdrup represents a significant value
creator for the company for many years
to come.

Aker BP-operated Valhall Flanke Vest in
the North Sea came into production in
December 2019. Through the
development of the field, the wellhead
platform alliance between Aker BP,
Kvaerner, Aker Solutions, and ABB set a
new standard for the delivery of flank
developments on the NCS. The project
was delivered earlier than planned, within
budget, and without any recorded
injuries. The platform receives power
from land via the Valhall field centre. This
isin line with Aker BP's strategy of
minimising its carbon footprint.

In 2019, credit rating agencies Fitch and
S&P Global Ratings upgraded Aker BP to
Investment Grade BBB- with stable
prospects. This increases opportunities
for capital access at attractive terms, as
documented in early January 2020 when
Aker BP borrowed a 5-year USD 500
million bond loan at 3.07 percent fixed
rate, and a 10-year USD 1 billion fixed-rate
bond loan at 3.77 percent.

Aker BP's five field centres have shown
satisfactory operational stability and
good profitability. Collaborative models
and alliances with oil service supplier
companies continue to contribute to
reduced costs and higher efficiency
within exploration, drilling, operations,
maintenance, modifications and field
development. Digitalisation contributes to
safer and more efficient operations.

The company's contingent resources
were 931 million barrels of oil equivalents
at the end of 2019, compared with 946
million barrels of oil equivalents the
previous year.

Aker BP's production averaged 155,900
barrels of oil equivalents per day in 2019.
The company's operating revenues
totalled USD 3.3 billion, compared to USD
3.8 billion in 2018. EBITDAX was USD 2.6
billion, against USD 3.0 billion in 2018.

For 2020, Aker BP aims to produce
between 205,000 and 220,000 barrels of
oil equivalents per day.

Aker BP has long-term growth targets for
its existing portfolio, both through value-
adding transactions and organic growth.
Aker BP will be a driver for working
smarter and more effectively through
alliances and collaborative models.
Digitalisation is crucial to Aker BP's
improvement program and plays an
important role in change processes.

Aker BP has a long-term collaboration
agreement with Cognite and is at the
forefront in adopting digital solutions on
its operated platforms and production
vessels. The deployment of this
technology continues across Aker BP's
installations.

Aker wants to contribute to making the
NCS an international benchmark for safe,
profitable and sustainable offshore
petroleum operations. Aker BP is among
the lowest carbon intense oil and gas
producers. The company's emissions per
produced barrel are lower than the
average for the Norwegian shelf, and
below half of the global average. Aker BP
works purposefully to reduce emissions,

improve safety and increase efficiency
throughout the value chain.

The Aker BP share was priced at NOK 288
on December 31, 2019, compared to NOK
218 at the end of 2018. In addition, Aker
received dividends from Aker BP totalling
NOK 2,653 million in 2019 (NOK 18.42 per
share).

Aker Energy

Aker Energy owns 50 per cent in the
Deepwater Tano Cape Three Points
(DWT/CTP) oil field in Ghana.

Aker Energy, owned by Aker and The
Resource Group TRG AS (TRG) with 49
per cent each, entered into an agreement
in 2018 to acquire Hess Corporation's 50
percent ownership interest in the DWT /
CTP oil field in Ghana. Since then, Aker
Energy has drilled appraisal wells to
further explore the field's properties and
has prepared a Plan for Development and
Operation (PDO) for the Pecan field.

Drilling operations in 2019 confirmed
contingent resources of 450-550 million
barrels of oil equivalents in the DWT /
CTP block. At the same time, the
company acknowledged that gaining
approval of the PDO was more
demanding and would require more time
than originally estimated. Aker Energy,
with support from Aker, concluded that
the process related to a PDO for the
entire DWT / CTP oil field was too
complex and time-consuming, and would
therefore concentrate its efforts on
gaining approval of a plan for the Pecan
area only, where significant oil resources
have been proven.

Given the historic oil price collapse in the
first quarter of 2020 as a result of the
Corona virus and the price war between
Saudi Arabia and Russia, the company,
with support from Aker, decided in late-
March 2020 to postpone the Pecan
project indefinitely. The company has had
an ambition to be in production 37
months after project sanctioning. Under
today’s travel and transport restrictions,
and given the very uncertain market
situation, the company no longer



considers this schedule as possible. The
focus moving forward will be on the
potential for improvement, including for
the technical solution. It is also natural to
consider transaction opportunities in the
further development of Aker Energy.

Aker Energy maintains a constructive
dialogue with the authorities in Ghana,
with a shared understanding of the
challenges being faced.

In 2019, Aker contributed NOK 454 million
in financing of Aker Energy. TRG has
contributed the same amount. In addition,
Africa Finance Corporation (AFC) entered
into a convertible bond loan agreement of
USD 100 million and has the rights to
subscribe for shares through a possible
listing of Aker Energy.

Svein Jakob Liknes was appointed CEO of
Aker Energy, following Jan Arve Haugan’s
resignation in December 2019. As a result
of the strategic decision to postpone the
development of the Pecan project
indefinitely, Aker Energy's organisation
will be scaled down to only consist of a
small core team.

Aker's investment in Aker Energy stood at
NOK 0.9 billion as of 31 December 2019.

Aker Solutions

Aker Solutions is a global oil services
company that provides services,
technologies, and product solutions
within subsea and field design. The
company operates in global niches with
high barriers to entry and is set up to
generate an attractive return on capital
over time through an asset-light business
model.

The company is well on track to achieve
its target of cutting costs by 50 per cent
by 2021 compared to 2015 cost levels.
Focus is on winning new contracts with
satisfactory margins, and to execute the
current project portfolio according to
plans and budgets.

The order intake in 2019 was NOK 19.6
billion and the order backlog stood at
NOK 25.4 billion at the end of the year.

Aker Solutions' operating revenues
totalled NOK 29.3 billion in 2019, an
increase of 16 per cent from NOK 25.2
billion the previous year. EBITDA stood at
NOK 2.2 billion, compared to NOK 1.8
billion in 2018. The company had a solid
financial position and a liquidity reserve of
NOK 6.3 billion at year-end 2019.

Aker supports Aker Solutions' strategy,
announced in the fall of 2019, for targeted
investments in renewable energy and
low-carbon solutions. The strategy 20-
25-30’ aims to have at least 20 per cent of
the company's revenues be from
renewables by 2030, while at least 25
percent of revenues will come from
products and solutions that reduce CO2
emissions. Aker Solutions is already well-
positioned in these areas. Floating
offshore wind is an important market
going forward that opens new
opportunities for the company. The low-
carbon segment includes Carbon Capture
and Storage (CCS), subsea gas
compression, unmanned platforms, and
oil and gas field electrification.

The company's traditional markets, such
as subsea, field development,
engineering, and MMO are still presenting
interesting opportunities. 2019 was
marked by several potential oil service
projects being postponed in time.

In its ownership capacity, Aker is focused
on ensuring that Aker Solutions wins
contracts across all its business areas, and
that it executes projects and contracts
with satisfactory margins. To succeed in
this regard, the company has to continue
to develop its first-class customer
relationships and remain focused on
further operational improvements and
strengthening of its capital base.

Oil service shares generally experienced a
major drop in prices in 2019, both on the
Oslo Stock Exchange, as well as on
international stock exchanges. This
reflects how capital markets assess the
outlook for oil service companies. For
Aker, which owns companies in major
parts of the oil and gas value chain,
ownership in Aker Solutions is of great
strategic importance and carries a value
that is not reflected in the share price.
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Aker Solutions’ share price stood at NOK
24.72 at year-end 2019, down from NOK
39.66 a year earlier. The board of Aker
Solutions has proposed that no dividend
be paid for the 2019 fiscal year.

Akastor

Akastor is an oil services investment
company with a portfolio of industrial
holdings and financial investments.
MHWirth and AKOFS Offshore are the
two most important companies in the
portfolio. Akastor has a flexible mandate
for active ownership and is working to
release the value potential in its portfolio.

The drilling technology company,
MHWirth, developed positively through
2019, driven especially by growth in the
aftersales market. In addition, the
company secured a new contract with
Keppel FELS during the year for the
delivery of an additional drilling package.
In 2019, MHWirth acquired the company
Bronco Manufacturing, which
manufactures equipment and supplies
engineering and other services to the
global land-based drilling market. The
ambition is to continue to grow for
MHWirth, both organically and through
possible acquisitions of companies that
will strengthen MHWirth's market
position. The plan is to list MHWirth,
either on an independent basis, or as part
of an industrial, structural solution, in
order to realise its value.

AKOFS Offshore is completing the
AKOFS Seafarer vessel on contract for
Equinor, and work is currently underway
to evaluate new opportunities for Skandi
Santos, which will end its current contract
with Petrobras in 2020.

Akastor works closely with its portfolio
companies to implement operational
improvements, cost reductions, and
strategic initiatives in order to strengthen
the company’s competitiveness and
position in challenging markets.

In 2019, Akastor’s wholly owned
subsidiary, First Geo, which supplies
reservoir and well services to oil
companies and other industry players,
merged with AGR to broaden the
company and strengthen its market
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position. Akastor controls 100 per cent of
the share capital and 55 per cent of
financial interest in the merged company,
AGR.

Akastor's operating revenues totalled
NOK 5.4 billion in 2019, compared to NOK
3.8 billion in 2018. EBITDA stood at NOK
492 million, compared to NOK 290 million
the previous year. Akastor had a liquidity
reserve of NOK 1.9 billion at year-end
2019.

Aker’s priority as owner is for Akastor to
develop and realise the value of its
investments. Transactions completed in
2019 show that Akastor's portfolio
companies have often added value, which
becomes visible through industrial
constellations in larger and more efficient
units. These efforts continue.

Like other oil services companies, Akastor
experienced a general price decline in
2019. The share price stood at NOK 9.94
at year-end, down from NOK 13.06 at the
end of 2018. No dividend is proposed for
the fiscal year 2019.

Kvaerner

Kvaerner is a specialised supplier of
complex offshore installations and
onshore facilities for upstream oil and gas
projects, as well as other related
segments, such as renewables. One of the
company’s competitive strengths is its
ability to undertake projects that include
engineering, procurement and
construction (EPC) services under a single
contract. In 2019, the EPC market was
characterised by few projects and tough
competition.

Kvaerner sees growth opportunities in
equipment and supplies for floating
production and storage vessels (FPSO)
and offshore wind. The company
therefore highlighted two new business
areas in 2019: FPSO and renewable
energy.

Kvaerner was awarded a contract by
Equinor in 2019 for the construction of 11
floating concrete chassis for offshore
wind turbines, as well as marine operating
services, at Hywind Tampen. This

represents a strategically important
contract.

Kvaerner is constantly seeking to enhance
productivity and reduce cost levels at its
specialised facilities at Stord and in
Verdal, as well as in its project
management, design and procurement
functions at Fornebu. Capacity has been
adjusted to a lower activity level, and the
delivery model has been further refined to
strengthen competitiveness.
Digitalisation, robotization and
development of competencies are playing
increasingly prominent roles in the
company’s continuous improvement
strategy.

Kvaerner had operating revenues of NOK
9.0 billion in 2019, compared to NOK 7.2
billion the previous year. EBITDA totalled
NOK 498 million in 2019, compared to
NOK 437 million in 2018. At year-end
2019, Kvaerner held NOK 2.3 billion in
cash and had no interest-bearing debt.
Kvaerner's order intake totalled NOK 6.9
billion in 2019, while the order backlog
amounted to NOK 8.2 billion at the end of
the year.

Kvaerner's most important tasks in the
short term are to deliver ongoing projects
in line with customer expectations and to
win new contracts. It is gratifying that
Kvaerner’s 2019 HSE figures are at their
best level since the company’s demerger
from Aker Solutions in 2011. However,
there is still room for HSE improvements.
Kvaerner’s share price closed at NOK 11.12
as of December 31, 2019, compared to
NOK 12.06 at the end of 2018. Kvaerner
paid NOK 1 per share in dividend in 2019.

Ocean Yield

Ocean Yield is a ship-owning company. Its
mandate is to build a diversified portfolio
of modern vessels on long-term charters
to creditworthy counterparties.

Ocean Yield increased its investment
capacity in 2019 following a hybrid bond
issue of USD 125 million, a bond loan of
NOK 750 million, and a placement which
provided the company with NOK 717
million in new equity. Aker presubscribed

its relative number of shares in the share
issue at price of NOK 45 per share,
corresponding to a total share investment
of NOK 442 million, maintaining its
ownership of 61.7 per cent in Ocean Yield.

In 2019, the company made investments
totalling USD 438 million. The number of
vessels in the portfolio increased from 57
to 69, of which 65 vessels are on long-
term bareboat contracts. Work is being
performed to find long-term solutions for
Dhirubhai-1, Connector, and two offshore
service vessels.

EBITDA amounted to USD 222 million in
2019, against USD 283 million the
previous year. The EBITDA order backlog
linked to fixed contracts totalled USD 3.6
billion at the end of 2019, with an average
remaining contract tenor of 10.5 years.

Aker supports Ocean Yield's strategy to
build a larger company over time through
value-adding transactions and further
diversification of the portfolio. Growth will
primarily be achieved through the
purchase of new vessels on long-term
charters. Diversification helps to make the
company more robust to fluctuations in
certain segments.

Ocean Yield's share price stood at NOK
48.00 at December 31, 2019, down from
NOK 59.20 at the end of 2018. Aker
received NOK 658 (NOK 6.70 per share)
in dividends from Ocean Yield in 2019.

Aker BioMarine

Aker BioMarine is an integrated
biotechnology company that harvests krill
in the Antarctic Ocean and develops,
manufactures, markets, and sells krill-
based ingredients to the consumer health,
animal nutrition, and aquaculture markets.

The company is vertically integrated and
controls the entire value chain, from
sustainable krill harvesting from three
vessels in Antarctica, to research, product
development, production, logistics and
marketing. Aker BioMarine has built long-
term partnerships with leading branded
consumer goods and distribution
companies, environmental protection
organisations, and researchers.



Aker BioMarine's core products are
QRILL™ Agua, a high-quality ingredient
for the aquaculture industry, Superba™
Krill Oil, a phospholipid-based omega 3
dietary supplement for the consumer
market, and QRILL™ Pet, an omega-3
ingredient for pets.

In November 2019, the US Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) approved QRILL
Pet as a source of protein and lipid for dry
dog food. Aker BioMarine considers this
as a starting point for entering a large pet
market in the United States.

Aker BioMarine is in a growth phase
requiring additional investments. In
January 2019, the company was delivered
the newly built Antarctic Endurance. the
world's most modern vessel for
sustainable krill capture, representing an
investment of NOK 1.1 billion. The
company also has a new service vessel
under construction in China to handle
increased fishing volumes. Aker
BioMarine's krill oil plant in Houston has
invested in expanded capacity. In
addition, Aker BioMarine has invested
significantly in product and market
development.

These are important investments that
contribute to rapid growth in revenue and
EBITDA. Superba™ Krill Qil is showing the
most rapid growth, with the strongest
growth seen across Asia, and especially in
South Korea.

Aker BioMarine's operating revenues
increased by 59 per cent in 2019 to USD
247 million, up from USD 155 million the
previous year. EBITDA amounted to USD
46 million, up from USD 33 million in 2018.

The company is well-positioned for
geographical expansion and to maintain
product sales in higher price segments
through its complete supply chain,
innovative products, and stable, long-
term partnerships.

Aker will consider various opportunities
for long-term value creation in Aker
BioMarine. The ambition is to build a
larger, more robust company with
profitable growth, with a focus on strong
operations and efficient supply chains in

its industry segments. The growth
strategy may require further investments
by Aker.

Aker BioMarine CEO, Matts Johansen,
acquired 2 per cent of the shares in the
company from Aker in 2019. Aker now
owns 98 percent, and the shares are
reported at NOK 2.4 billion as of 31
December 2019.

Cognite

Cognite is a fast-growing industrial
software company that enables the oil
and gas industry and other asset-
intensive industries to improve operations
through efficient data collection and
sharing.

The company's core product, Cognite
Data Fusion (CDF), continuously collects,
processes and organises vast amounts of
data for industrial customers. A significant
portion of Cognite's revenue comes from
licensing and subscriptions.

In 2019, the company secured the trust of
and won new contracts with several new
customers. Cognite has already claimed
an international position in the
digitalisation of the oil and gas industry
and has gained a solid foothold with
renowned customers in shipping and
logistics, energy and power supply, as
well as asset-intensive manufacturing
industries.

Cognite continues to attract highly
qualified employees. In 2019, the
company opened offices in Texas and
Tokyo, and signed a letter of intent (MoU)
to digitalise Saudi Aramco, the world's
largest oil company. The two companies
are also in commercial negotiations to
establish a jointly owned company to
contribute to digitalisation across Saudi
Arabia.

The company’s operating revenues
totalled NOK 340 million in 2019,
compared to NOK 164 million in 2018.
EBITDA was negative by NOK 15 million,
compared to a positive NOK 9 million in
2018.
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Through its ownership capacity, Aker is a
driver for investments in the growing
industrial software market. Cognite and
CDF help to renew existing industries and
create new business opportunities,
making industries more profitable and
sustainable through lower energy
consumption and lower emissions. These
are important drivers for Aker as an active
owner working closely with Cognite’s
development.

International expansion, continued
recruitment of talent from around the
world, further development of customer
relationships and assessments of strategic
partnerships and opportunities for
collaboration, are still important points on
Aker's ownership agenda. In the long
term, the planis to carry out a listing of
Cognite.

Aker's investment is reported at NOK 42
million as per December 31, 2019.

b. Financial investments

Financial investments comprise all Aker
assets not defined as industrial holdings,
including cash, other listed investments,
real estate, and other investments. The
value of Aker's financial investments
amounted to NOK 7.7 billion at December
31,2019, making up 12 per cent of Aker's
net asset value.

Aker's cash holdings increased to NOK 3.7
billion in 2019, up from NOK 1.9 billion the
previous year. The increase is mainly
attributable to NOK 3.5 billion in
dividends received from portfolio
companies and net issue of interest-
bearing debt of NOK 2.5 billion. This was
partly offset by Aker’s payment of NOK
1.7 billion in dividend to its shareholders in
2019, total operating and financial
expenses of NOK 0.6 billion, the NOK 0.4
billion investment in Ocean Yield, a NOK
0.5 billion investment in Aker Energy, and
the issue of NOK 0.3 billion in financing to
Aker BioMarine. Aker has a conservative
approach to management of its cash
portfolio, spreading deposits between
several banks with high credit ratings.
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The value of other listed investments
stood at NOK 0.9 billion at year-end 2019,
up from NOK 0.7 billion in 2018. Aker's
investments in Philly Shipyard increased
by NOK 106 million, and American
Shipping was virtually unchanged. Solstad
Offshore declined in value by NOK 44
million. Aker invested 85 million in REC
Silicon in December 2019, becoming the
company's largest shareholder with 22.95
percent of the shares. The unrealized gain
in REC Silicon was NOK 87 million at year-
end 2019.

Solstad Offshore is in a difficult situation
in a challenging market. The company is
in negotiations with creditors, and the
outcome is expected to be a restructuring
of the offshore shipping company's
balance sheet.

Aker's total exposure to real estate
investments was NOK 603 million at
December 31, 2019, up NOK 35 million
from 2018.

Other financial investments consist of
equity investments, internal and external
receivables, and other assets. The largest
items are the investment in data science
company Abelee, receivables from Aker
BioMarine AS and Estremar Invest AS, as
well as aircraft ownership. The value of
other financial investments was NOK 2.5
billion at 31 December 2019, compared to
NOK 1.9 billion at year-end 2018

3. Presentation of annual accounts
Aker ASA’s annual accounts consist of the
consolidated financial statements, the
separate financial statement of the
parent, and the combined financial
statements for Aker ASA and holding
companies. It is the latter financial
statements that are highlighted in Aker’s
internal and external reporting. The
combined accounts show the aggregate
financial position of the holding
companies, including total available
liquidity and net debt relative to the
investments in the underlying operational
companies. NAV for Aker ASA and
holding companies forms the basis for
Aker’s dividend policy.

Pursuant to section 3-3a of the
Norwegian Accounting Act, it is
confirmed that the accounts have been
prepared based on the assumption that
Aker is a going concern and the board
confirms that this assumption continues
to apply.

a. Combined accounts for Aker ASA and
holding companies

Combined income statement

The combined profit and loss account for
Aker ASA and holding companies (Aker)
shows a pre-tax profit of NOK 2.2 billion
for 2019, compared to a profit of NOK 1.5
pbillion in 2018. The change is mainly due
to NOK 3.5 billion in received dividends
from the portfolio companies, compared
to NOK 2.2 billion in 2018. Aker received
NOK 2.7 billion in dividends from Aker BP
and NOK 658 million from Ocean Yield in
2019. Operating expenses amounted to
NOK 267 million in 2019, compared to
NOK 254 million in 2018.

Net financial items (including dividends
received but excluding value changes)
amounted to NOK 2.9 billion in 2019, up
from NOK 1.9 billion the previous year.
Dividends received amounted to NOK 3.5
billion, while net interest expenses and
other financial items amounted to NOK
597 million. Net change in value of shares
amounted to minus NOK 435 million in
2019. This is mainly attributable to a
negative value change related to the
investment in Solstad Offshore and Align,
and a decrease in the value of direct
investments in Akastor and Aker
Solutions.

Combined balance sheet

The combined balance sheet for Aker
ASA and holding companies shows a total
book value for assets of NOK 26.7 billion
as of December 31, 2019, including long-
term equity investments of NOK 20.7
billion, and cash holdings of NOK 3.7
billion. The asset value amounted to NOK
61.9 billion as of December 31, 2019. The
corresponding figure for 2018 was NOK
51.2 billion.

The value of Aker's industrial holdings
was NOK 54.2 billion at 31 December
2019, compared to NOK 46.1 billion at
year-end 2018. The change is mainly

attributable to increased value of the
investment in Aker BP and increased
investment in Aker Energy. This was
partly offset by the decline in value of
investments in Aker Solutions, Akastor,
Kvaerner and Ocean Yield.

The value of Aker's financial investments
was NOK 7.7 billion at year-end 2019,
against NOK 5.1 billion as of December 31,
2018. Cash holdings increased from NOK
1.9 billion to NOK 3.7 billion in 2019. The
changes are accounted for in the section
above on Financial Investments.

Gross interest-bearing debt amounted to
NOK 11.6 billion as of December 31, 2019,
up from NOK 9.2 billion a year prior. Net
interest-bearing liabilities totalled NOK
6.7 billion at year-end 2019, up from NOK
6.2 billion at year-end 2018.

In 2019, the AKER12 bond was repaid on
maturity, and Aker issued the five-year
NOK 1.5 billion AKER15 bond. At the same
time as the issue of AKER 15, Aker
partially repurchased the AKER10 and
AKER13 bonds for a total of NOK 350
million. As of December 31, 2019, the total
outstanding bond debt amounted to NOK
5.9 billion. Bank debt totalled NOK 5.8
billion, consisting of two bank loans
denominated in USD and a Schuldschein
loan denominated in EUR. Total undrawn
credit facilities amounted to NOK 2.8
billion as of December 31, 2019.

Aker's NAV at December 31, 2019 was
NOK 50.0 billion, compared to NOK 41.7
billion at year-end 2018.

b. Group accounts

The main companies included in Aker’s
consolidated accounts are Aker Solutions,
Akastor, Kvaerner, Ocean Yield, Aker
BioMarine, Aker Energy, FP Eiendom,
Cognite and Philly Shipyard. Aker BP is
accounted for as an associate.

Income statement

The Aker Group had operating revenues
of NOK 48.8 billion in 2019, compared to
NOK 42.2 billion the previous year. Total
operating expenses came in at NOK 44.8
billion in 2019, compared to NOK 37.8
billion in 2018. The increase in operating
revenues and operating expenses is



explained by increased activity in Aker
Solutions, Akastor and Kvaerner, as well
as increased revenues in Aker BioMarine.
This was partly offset by a decline in
revenue in Ocean Yield in 2019, following
the FPSO Dhirubhai-1 going off contract
in the autumn of 2018.

In 2019, depreciation and amortisation
amounted to NOK 2.8 billion, against NOK
2.1 billion the previous year.

Impairment charges in 2019 totalled NOK
1.0 billion, mainly as a result of Ocean
Yield’s write-down of Dhirubhai-1 totalling
NOK 590 million, a write-down of NOK
266 million for use rights related to Aker
Solutions’ rental of office space, and a
write-down of the fishing vessel Juvel in
Aker BioMarine totalling NOK 54 million.
Net financial expenses were NOK 2.1
billion in 2019, against NOK 1.3 billion in
2018. The increase is primarily due to
higher interest costs, which should be
seen in connection with the Group’s
higher interest-bearing debt in 2019
compared to previous years.

Pre-tax profit from continued operations
showed a loss of NOK 1.7 billion in 2019,
compared with a profit of NOK 1.4 billion
in 2018. In 2019, the tax expense was NOK
0.2 billion, resulting in a net loss from
continued operations of NOK 1.9 billion in
2019. In 2018, the tax expense was NOK
0.5 billion, with a net positive result from
continuing operations of NOK 0.9 billion.

Balance sheet

The Aker Group's total assets amounted
to NOK 106.7 billion as of December 31,
2019, compared to NOK 92.8 billion at
year-end 2018. Total non-current assets
were NOK 74.3 billion at December 31,
2019, compared to NOK 67.1 billion at
year-end 2018. The Group's total
intangible assets totalled NOK 12.2 billion
as of December 31, 2019, up from NOK 11.0
billion the previous year. Of this, goodwill
amounted to NOK 8.0 billion at year-end
2019, against NOK 7.5 billion the previous
year. Goodwill has been tested for
impairment, without this having resulted
in impairment of goodwill in 2019. Current

assets were NOK 32.5 billion as of
December 31, 2019, up from NOK 25.7
billion a year prior.

Current liabilities amounted to NOK 25.0
billion while non-current liabilities totalled
NOK 42.5 billion at year-end 2019. The
corresponding figures for 2018 were NOK
23.3 billion and NOK 27.5 billion,
respectively. The increase from 2018 is
explained by the implementation effect of
IFRS 16, as well as net interest-bearing
debt. The Group's interest-bearing debt
amounted to NOK 40.2 billion at 31
December 2019, compared with NOK 30.4
billion at the end of 2018.

The Group's equity ratio was 37 per cent
at the end of 2019, compared with 45 per
cent at the end of 2018.

Cash flow statement

The Group's cash balance was NOK 12.0
billion as of December 31, 2019, up from
NOK 9.8 billion at year-end 2018.

The Group’s net cash flow from
operations amounted to NOK 3.3 billion in
2019, compared to NOK 5.3 billion in 2018.
The change is mainly due to discontinued
operations and changes in other net
operating assets and liabilities, which
were negative by NOK 1.8 billion in 2019,
compared to a positive value of NOK 0.8
billion in 2018. The reduction was partly
offset by an increase in dividends
received from Aker BP. The difference of
NOK 0.7 billion between operating profit
before depreciation and amortisation and
net cash flow from operations in 2019 is
primarily attributable to negative changes
in working capital and interest paid, partly
offset by dividend received from Aker BP.

Net cash flow from investment activities
totalled negative NOK 8.9 billion in 2019,
against negative NOK 4.7 billion in 2018.
The cash flow for 2019 consists mainly of
vessels in Ocean Yield of NOK 5.0 billion,
as well as acquisition of real estate, plant
and equipment, and intangible assets
totalling NOK 3.4 billion. Payments on
purchases of subsidiaries amounted to
net NOK 0.9 billion.
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Net cash flow from financing activities
amounted to positive NOK 7.9 billion in
2019, compared to positive NOK 1.0 billion
in 2018. Cash flow for the year from
financing activities is primarily
attributable to a net increase in debt of
NOK 8.9 billion, and increased equity in
subsidiaries of NOK 1.4 billion, partly
offset by dividend payments totalling
NOK 2.3 billion. Dividends are split with
NOK 1.7 to shareholders in Aker ASA NOK
0.7 billion to minority shareholders in the
subsidiaries.

c. Aker ASA accounts

The parent company Aker ASA achieved
an annual profit of NOK 179 million in
2019, compared to NOK 1.8 billion in 2018.
The decline from 2018 is mainly explained
by lower dividends from Aker Capital and
write-downs of the investments in Aker
Kvaerner Holding, Aker Solutions and
Akastor.

Assets totalled NOK 28.9 billion as of
December 31, 2019, compared to NOK
30.6 billion at year-end 2018. Equity
amounted to NOK 20.3 billion at the end
of 2019, compared to NOK 20.1 billion at
31 December 2018. This represents a 70
per cent equity ratio at the end of 2019.

Information on salary and other
remuneration to executive management,
as well as compensation guidelines, is
presented in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Research and development

The parent company had no research and
development activities in 2019. The R&D
activities of the group are presented in
the annual reports of the respective
operational portfolio companies.

Allocation of profit and dividend in
Aker ASA

Given today’s uncertain market situation
as a result of the Corona virus outbreak
and a record-high drop in oil demand, the
Board of Directors has proposed, for
approval at the annual general meeting, a
zero dividend for 2019. The proposal
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takes into account the need for financial
flexibility and current market uncertainty.

The net profit of NOK 179 million is
transferred to other equity.

4. Management model, corporate
governance, control and compliance
Aker is a public limited liability company
organised under Norwegian law and with
a governance structure based on
Norwegian corporate law and other
regulatory requirements. The company's
corporate governance model is designed
to provide a foundation for long-term
value creation and to ensure good
control.

Aker's principal owner, Kjell Inge Rakke, is
actively involved in Aker's development.
Rakke is Chairman of the Board of Aker
ASA.

Aker has seven board members, none of
whom are members of the company's
management and three of whom are
employee representatives. The majority of
board members are independent of
company management and significant
business partners. The Chairman and
Deputy Chairman of the Board are
elected by the General Meeting.

The Board of Aker establishes the overall
principles for governance and control in
Aker ASA through the adoption of
various governing documents. For issues
of importance and with group-wide
relevance, Aker ensures that relevant
governing documents are implemented in
the portfolio companies, within the
framework of Aker’s own governing
documents. For example, Aker's Code of
Conduct also expresses Aker's
expectations of the portfolio companies'
Code of Conduct. The same is true for
areas such as anti-corruption and supplier
conduct.

Aker follows the Norwegian Code of
Practice for Corporate Governance. The
company's practice is largely in
accordance with these recommendations.
Reference is made to the Corporate
Governance Report. This report is
approved by the Board of Directors and is

available on the company's website
www.akerasa.com.

5. Board of Directors’ activities

The Board prepares an annual plan for its
work, which includes recurring key topics,
such as strategy review, investment
planning, risk and compliance oversight,
financial reporting, and budget review.

The Board annually evaluates its own
performance and collective expertise.

Aker’s Board of Directors held six
meetings in 2019. The attendance of the
board members averaged 85 per cent. In
addition, five telephone conferences were
held. Aker's Audit Committee held nine
meetings in 2019.

Further information on the Board of
Directors” and the Audit Committee's
mandate and work can be found in Aker’s
Corporate Governance Report. The board
members’ shareholdings and
renumerations are presented in Note 34
to the consolidated accounts.

6. Business and society

ESG (Environmental, Social and
Governance) is a three-letter
commitment on how Aker handles risks
related to climate change and
environmental challenges, how the
company handles people and social
conditions, and how Aker practices
corporate governance. This work is
explained in the company's ESG report
available on www.akerasa.com.

Aker aims to be an attractive employer
and a preferred partner for business
associates, as well as a valuable member
of society. Aker's most important
contribution to society is to create value
and build forward-looking companies that
operate in an environmentally, ethically
and socially responsible manner.
Profitability is a prerequisite for achieving
these objectives.

The operations of the parent company
Aker ASA have negligible effect on the
external environment.

As a leading shareholder in many
companies, Aker works to promote
responsible and sustainable businesses.
This includes financial, societal, climate-
related consequences of Aker's and the
portfolio companies' activities.

Since Aker’s establishment in 1841, its core
industrial competencies have been linked
to the ocean. Aker's core business moving
forward will also be closely tied to the
ocean, including in maritime operations,
fisheries and marine biotechnology,
offshore oil and gas extraction, offshore
wind, and technologies that reduce CO2
emissions. Together with the World
Economic Forum (WEF), Aker has taken
the initiative to establish a global
technology centre for the ocean and
environment. The ambition is to employ
new technology to preserve the world
ocean and reduce industries’
environmental footprint. Through public-
private partnerships, the centre will aim to
develop solutions for a sustainable and
profitable ocean economy.

The Norwegian Technology Centre
becomes part of WEF's global network
for the Fourth Industrial Revolution
("Centre for the Fourth Industrial
Revolution”, C4IR). Aker's portfolio
companies Aker BP, Aker BioMarine, Aker
Energy, Aker Solutions, Cognite and
Kvaerner are contributing, together with
Kjell Inge Rakke's companies REV Ocean
and the Ocean Data Foundation. Aker's
portfolio companies are at the helm of the
centre’s initial projects, including efforts
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions,
contribute to more sustainable fisheries,
and efforts within greener shipping.

The operational portfolio companies
individually report on their effect on the
external environment. Pursuant to section
3-3c of the Accounting Act, larger
companies are required to report on their
efforts to include corporate social
responsibility in business strategy and
daily operations. Aker has fulfilled this
obligation through a separate document
approved by the Board. The document is
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available on the company website,
www.akerasa.com.

7. Our employees

Aker ASA had 43 employees as of 31
December 2019, of which 24 men and 19
women. Svein Oskar Stoknes took over as
CFO on August 1, 2019, replacing Frank O.
Reite. Stoknes came from the position as
CFO of Aker Solutions.

In its hiring processes, the company
focuses on candidates' qualifications for
the position, regardless of ethnic origin,
religious beliefs, sexual orientation,
nationality, or other criteria considered
irrelevant to their work.

The company strives to provide flexible
working conditions to ensure that
employment in Aker ASA provides
opportunities for a good work-life
balance. Varied and challenging work
assignments and good opportunities for
career development, combined with job
security and competitive pay, are also
important factors in making Aker ASA an
attractive employer.

As of December 31, 2019, the number of
regular employees working for companies
where Aker is the main shareholder,
directly or indirectly, totalled 27,228, of
which 13,390 worked in Norway.

About 17 per cent of Aker Group
employees are women. Several of the
companies in which Aker has large
shareholdings are cornerstones of their
local communities and recruit locally.
Aker has signed an international
framework agreement with the
Norwegian United Federation of Trade
Unions (Fellesforbundet), IndustriALL
Global Union, NITO and Tekna. This
agreement establishes fundamental
labour rights and refers to standards
relating to health, safety and the
environment (HSE) work, pay, working
hours, and employment conditions. The
agreement commits Aker to respect and
support fundamental human rights and
union rights in societies in which the
companies operate. These principles are

set out in the United Nation’s Universal
Human Rights Declaration, the OECD
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises
and the ILO Declaration on Fundamental
Principles and Rights at Work.

For generations, Aker has worked closely
with employee organisations. Employee
representatives participate in key
decision-making processes, including
through board representation. Aker has
entered into agreements with its
employees in relevant operating
companies to establish an international
works council. In addition, the company's
Norwegian trade unions hold annual
union representative conferences and
have working committees in the industrial
portfolio companies Aker BP, Aker
Solutions, Akastor, Kvaerner and Aker
BioMarine.

Due to volatile activity levels in the oil

industry, which impact supplier industries,

Aker's portfolio companies in the oil
services sector have had to make
necessary capacity adjustments. The
feedback received so far shows that,
while downsizing processes are
challenging, efforts are made to carry
them out within Aker's and the portfolio
companies' good working relationships
with the employee organisations.
Constructive cooperation with union
representatives and their organisations is
a prerequisite for successful market
adjustments and restructuring. Aker has
long traditions for involving and including
union representatives in processes that
may entail major changes for businesses
and local communities. Under the
currently challenging market conditions,
employees have contributed with a
willingness and ability to adapt.

The rate of healthiness in Aker ASA was
99.3 per cent (corresponding to a rate of
sick leave of 0.7 percent) in 2019,
compared with a rate of healthiness of
98.6 percent the previous year. The
corresponding figure for the Aker Group
was 97.4 per cent in 2019, compared with
97.1 per cent in 2018.
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As in 2018, no work-related fatalities were
registered in the Aker Group in 2019.
There were 24 reported accidents that led
to absence from work, compared to 40 in
2018. The accidents are described in more
detail in the operating companies' annual
reports.

8. Events after the balance-sheet
date

March 6, 2020: OPEC and Russia did not
reach an agreement on oil production
cuts expected after the outbreak of
COVID-19. This virus led to lower
economic activity, especially in China, in
the first weeks of 2020, and lower
demand for oil. Instead of a cut in
production, the break in the negotiations
ended with increased oil production and a
price war between OPEC and Russia. This
led to a dramatic fall in oil prices, followed
by significant price declines in the world's
stock markets. Oil-exposed companies
are hit especially hard, including Aker and
our portfolio companies Aker BP, Aker
Solutions, Akastor, Kvaerner and Ocean
Yield.

At the same time, the world has
experienced a serious and rapid spread of
COVID-19. The World Health Organization
(WHO) has declared the situation and the
virus a pandemic. This tragic virus
outbreak affects a significant number of
people, and it also affects businesses and
economies worldwide. A recession
scenario is plausible, but the long-term
global and national impacts on industries,
economic activity, oil prices and financial
markets are hard to predict given the
current situation. The challenging times
and uncertain market conditions will
impact the coming quarters, and this is
part of Aker's ongoing risk assessment in
the future.

9. Risks and risk management

Aker has a long-standing tradition of
industrial and financial risk-taking. The
company has evolved with the economic
cycles and its strategy has adapted to
changes in the underlying markets and
company-specific issues in its portfolio.
As presented in their respective notes to
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the financial statements, Aker ASA, the
Aker Group, and Aker ASA and holding
companies are exposed to financial risk,
the oil price, currency and interest rate
risk, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk,
counterparty risk, and operational risk in
the underlying companies.

Rather than diversifying risk by spreading
investments across many different
industries, Aker focuses on sectors where
the company has special expertise. The
company has established a model for risk
management based on the identification,
assessment and monitoring of major
financial, strategic, climate-related, and
operational risk factors for each business
segment. Contingency plans have been
prepared for these risk factors and their
implementation is ensured and
monitored. Identified risk factors and how
they are managed are reported to the
board of Aker on a regular basis.

Aker's risk management is based on the
principle that risk assessment is a natural
part of all business operations.
Consequently, management of
operational risk lies primarily with the
underlying operating companies, but Aker
ASA actively monitors risk management
through its participation on the boards of
the various companies.

Aker's main strategy for mitigating risk
associated with short-term value
fluctuations is to maintain a solid financial
position and strong creditworthiness.
Aker has established financial guidelines
that regulate monitoring and follow-up
for financial risk issues. Key governance
parameters have been identified and are
closely monitored. A finance committee
has been appointed to focus specifically
on issues and decisions related to
financial investments, debt financing and
foreign exchange.

Financial market exposures, including
currency, interest, and liquidity risks, are
discussed in greater detail in Note 6 to
the consolidated financial statement.

The main risk factors to which Aker and
its holding companies are exposed relate

to changes in the value of listed assets as
a result of fluctuations in market prices.
Developments in the global economy,
particularly in energy prices, as well as
currency fluctuations, are important
variables when assessing short-term
market fluctuations. These variables may
also influence the underlying value of
Aker's unlisted assets. Aker ASA and its
holding companies are also exposed to
the risk of insufficient access to external
financing which may affect the liquidity
situation in the companies. This has been
further emphasised by the increased
attention on ESG issues, especially
climate-related investment risk. Aker and
portfolio companies seek to reduce the
risk by maintaining a solid liquidity
reserve, and by proactively planning
refinancing activities, as well as strict
compliance with environmental
regulations. Climate-related risk
conditions also present business
opportunities for Aker and portfolio
companies.

Like Aker, the companies in Aker's
industrial portfolio are exposed to
commercial, financial and market risks. In
addition, these companies, through their
business activities within their respective
sectors, are also exposed to risk factors
related to climate change, laws and
regulations, as well as political risk, such
as policy decisions on petroleum taxes,
environmental regulations, and
operational framework conditions,
including major accidents that may have a
significant financial impact.

Oil prices continue to be volatile and
constitute a source of uncertainty. Aker
BP's revenue and cash flow are directly
affected by fluctuations in oil prices, and
variations in oil prices can also impact the
activity level of Aker's oil service
companies, including Aker Solutions,
Akastor and Kvaerner. The activity level
affects the supplier companies’ and
Ocean Yield's counterparties, and the
companies are therefore monitoring
counterparty risk closely.

For further information on Aker's risk
management, see the report on
Corporate Governance available on the
company website.

10. Outlook

Investments in listed shares comprised 84
per cent of the company’s assets as per 31
December 2019. About 75 per cent of
Aker's investments were associated with
the oil and gas sector. The remaining
value is mainly found in the maritime
industry. Aker's net asset value will hence
be influenced by a number of factors,
including fluctuations in market prices,
commodity prices, exchange rates and
operational performance.

Over the last several years, the oil service
industry has been under pressure due to
cutbacks in E&P spending. The oil
companies’ discipline following the oil
price collapse in 2014-2016 has led to
fewer projects being sanctioned globally
and lower activity levels for the oil service
industry. The situation is likely to be
further exacerbated by the ongoing
Corona-crisis as the oil companies are
apprehensive about investing. At the
same time, cost-cutting measures and
increased operational efficiency across
the industry have brought down break-
even costs for offshore projects. Before
the Corona-crisis hit markets, there was a
certain expectation that the number of
investment decisions in the oil industry
would increase. The crisis is now
expected to trigger a decline in activity
level, which will lead to low utilisation of
available capacity in the service industry.
The overcapacity can benefit the
upstream oil and gas companies and thus
improve cash flow even at lower oil prices
than before.

Oil price volatility has, however, recently
been illustrated once again by the
outbreak of the Corona virus and the
subsequent oil “price war” triggered by
strategic disagreements between Saudi
Arabia and Russia. Aker is preparing for
many conceivable outcomes and low oil
prices.

Despite the record-breaking drop in
global oil demand caused by the Corona



virus, Aker still believes in the medium to
longer term attractiveness of oil and gas
investments and will therefore continue
to evaluate strategic alternatives and
opportunities in the sector. Future oil
demand growth is still expected to be
supported by the ongoing mega trends of
population growth, a growing middle
class and urbanisation, particularly in Asia.
Oil supply growth is likely to be kept in
check by OPEC’s strategy, E&P
investment appetite and tightened
financial conditions, especially for the US
shale industry. Another mega trend that is
likely to support oil prices for the coming
years is the rising cost of capital for the
industry at large. The increased cost of
capital is influenced by rising focus on
ESG principles by both lenders and
investors, while today’s low oil prices
increase financial institutions’ scepticism
towards financing the oil industry. This
growing focus on ESG principles may
result in lower supply than demand
growth going forward, hence supporting
market prices. Price volatility is expected
to remain high also in coming years, but
Aker is well-positioned to benefit from
such a development.

Aker BP, the largest asset in Aker's
portfolio, was in 2019 rated Investment
Grade by both rating company Fitch and
by S&P Global Ratings. This provides the
company access to lower cost of capital
in a world where many E&P companies
are exposed to higher cost of capital.
Aker’s portfolio companies in the oil and
gas sector will continue to increase

Kjell Inge Rakke (sign)

Chairman Deputy Chairman Director
Atle Trangy (sign) Tommy Angeltveit (sign) Arnfinn Stensg (sign)
Director Director Director

Finn Berg Jacobsen (sign)

competitiveness through increased
productivity, efficiency, standardisation,
improved technology offerings, and by
exploring strategic partnerships and
alliances.

The maritime leasing segment requires
focus on capital structure diversification.
Ocean Yield has identified interesting
investment opportunities going forward,
but main focus short term is on re-
contracting Dhirubhai-1.

Aker BioMarine is pursuing a long-term
strategy to diversify its market exposure
in terms of both industries and
geographical coverage. Its main markets
are the aquaculture industry - particularly
the market for salmon farming
supplements - and the dietary
supplement market in Europe, North
America and Australia. The salmon
market has been developing positively for
several years. The market for krill-based
supplements in the consumer market
continued to grow in 2019 and is
undergoing a positive development.

Upstream dividends to Aker was
expected to increase further in 2020,
mainly due to the expected dividend
growth in Aker BP, as well as dividends
from Ocean Yield. In light of the global
Corona crisis and ensuing price war, it is
too early to predict how a lower oil price
will impact decisions about dividends.
Kvaerner has dividend capacity, but
Aker’s focus remains on ensuring that the
oil service company maintains a strong

Fornebu, 31 March 2020
Aker ASA

Kristin Krohn Devold (sign)
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balance sheet and cash holdings. This
provides benefits and commercial
opportunities for Kvaerner. Aker supports
the boards' views that the portfolio
companies maintain robust cash holdings
in the current market environment.

The Corona-virus and market turmoil
have led to new situations with which
Aker and the portfolio companies have to
grapple, and measures are being taken to
preserve the employees and protect the
companies’ values. For the parent
company Aker, with few employees and
relatively low operating costs in relation
to the values managed under active
ownership, salaries are the largest
expense item. As a result of the increased
uncertainty, it has been decided that no
salary adjustment will be carried out for
Aker ASA employees in 2020, nor has a
2020 bonus program been launched.
Aker’s President and CEO, @yvind
Eriksen, has asked that his salary be
reduced to half for the remainder of the
year. The Board is prepared to keep the
board renumeration for 2020 in line with
the 2019 level.

Short term fluctuations in the markets can
provide opportunities for value-creating
investments. As an industrial investment
company, Aker will contribute to
developing the portfolio companies and
to consider new investments.

Karen Simon (sign)
Director

@yvind Eriksen (sign)
President and CEO
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Income statement and total comprehensive income

INCOME STATEMENT
Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018

Continued operations

Operating revenue 9,10 48 756 42163
Cost of goods and changes in inventory (22 251) (17 867)
Wages and other personnel expenses 1 (15 884) (12963)
Other operating expenses 17 (6 693) (5936)
Operating profit before depreciation and amortisation 9 3928 4397
Depreciation and amortisation 15,16,19 (2 780) (2097)
Impairment charges 12,15,16,19 (992) (213)
Operating profit 9 156 2087
Financial income 13 605 704
Financial expenses 13 (2681) (1997
Share of profit of equity accounted companies 7 229 626
Profit before tax 9 (1692) 1420
Income tax expense 4 (248) (490)
Profit for the year continued operations 9 (1940) 930

Discontinued operations
Profit for the period from discontinued operations net of tax 8 (64) 438

Result for the year (2004) 1368

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 9 (1533) 906
Minority interests 24 (471) 462
Result for the year (2 004) 1368
Weighted average number of outstanding shares 23 74 271928 74 282137
Earnings per share” 23

Earnings per share continued operations (20.33) 7.08
Earnings per share discontinued operations (0.31) 51
Earnings per share (20.64) 12.19

1) Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent/weighted average number of outstanding shares



Annual accounts | Aker ASA annual report 2019 41

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018

Result for the year (2004) 1368
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Items that will not be reclassified to income statement:

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses) 27 (149) (82)
Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value 31 66
Items that will not be reclassified to income statement ms) 1e)

Items that subsequently may be reclassified to income statement:

Debt investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value - 6
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 13 (95)
Reclassified to profit or loss: debt investments at FVOCI, translation and cash flow hedges (145) (478)
Currency translation differences 156 515
Changes in other comprehensive income associates and joint ventures 17 m 1133
Items that subsequently may be reclassified to income statement 235 1081
Change in other comprehensive income, net of tax 1314,25 n7 1065
Total comprehensive income for the year (1887) 2433

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (1351) 2219
Minority interests (536) 214
Total comprehensive income for the year (1887) 2433
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Balance sheet at 31 December

Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018
ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 5 18 287 18 262
Intangible assets 16 12154 10976
Right-of-use assets 19 4 827 -
Deferred tax assets 4 1261 1059
Investments in equity accounted companies 17 20 833 23348
Interest-bearing non-current receivables 6,18 1140 1921
Non-current finance lease receivables 19 13 513 9383
Other shares and non-current assets 20 2236 2121
Total non-current assets 74 252 67 070
Inventories 21 1838 1752
Trade receivables and other interest-free receivables 22 15 552 13146
Calculated tax receivable 4 133 146
Derivatives 31 229 406
Interest-bearing current receivables 6,18 642 451
Current finance lease receivables 19 2040 -
Cash and cash equivalents 6,9 12 018 9786
Total current assets 32454 25688

Total assets 9 106 706 92758
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Amounts in NOK m Note 2019 2018
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid-in capital 23 2332 2 331
Translation and other reserves 25 3855 3618
Retained earnings 12 653 16 061
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 18 840 22 009
Minority interests 24 20 414 19 908
Total equity 39 253 41918
Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 6,26 33425 24 745
Non-current lease liabilities 19 5751 -
Deferred tax liabilities 4 661 515
Pension liabilities 27 1309 1181
Other interest-free non-current liabilities 28 1222 837
Non-current provisions 29 101 221
Total non-current liabilities 42 470 27 499
Interest-bearing current liabilities 6,26 6762 5682
Current lease liabilities 19 831 -
Trade and other payables 30 15160 14 529
Income tax payable 4 nz 168
Derivatives 31 414 585
Current provisions 29 1673 2343
Total current liabilities 24 957 23306
Total liabilities 67 427 50 806
Liabilities classified as held for sale 8 26 34
Total equity and liabilities 9 106 706 92758

Kjell Inge Rakke (sign)
Chairman

Atle Trangy (sign)
Director

Fornebu, 31 March 2020
Aker ASA

Kristin Krohn Devold
(sign)
Director

Finn Berg Jacobsen (sign)
Deputy Chairman

Tommy Angeltveit (sign)
Director

Arnfinn Stensg (sign)
Director

Karen Simon (sign)
Director

@yvind Eriksen (sign)
President and CEO
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Total
equity of
Total equity
Total Trans- Fair translation holders
paid-in  lation value Hedging and other Retained of the Minority Total
Amounts in NOK million Note capital reserve reserves reserves  reserves earnings  parent interests equity
Balance at 31 December 2017 23-25 2331 2370 13 62 2545 16279 21155 18905 40059
Impact of changes in accounting policies 3 - 4 (313) 42 (267) 290 23 22 45
Balance at 1 January 2018 2331 2374 (200) 105 2278 16569 21178 18927 40105
Profit for the year 2018 - - 906 906 462 1368
Other comprehensive income 25 - 1348 86 (94) 1340 27) 1313 (248) 1065
Total comprehensive income - 1348 86 94) 1340 879 2219 214 2 433
Dividends - - (1338) (1338) (499) (1836)
Own shares and share-based payment transactions - - (26) (26) - (26)
Total contributions and distributions - - - - - (1364) (1364) (499) (1862)
Acquisition and sale of minority 7,24 - - a7y ((V)) 37 20
Issuance of shares in subsidiaries 24 - - (9) (9) 1229 1220
Total changes in ownership without change of control - - - - - (26) (26) 1266 1240
Transaction with minority interests in joint ventures - - 2 2 - 2
Balance at 31 December 2018 23-25 2331 3722 m4) 10 3618 16061 22009 19908 41918
Correction previous year - - - - - (@2)) (21) (59) (80)
Impact of changes in accounting policies 3 - - - - - (133) (133) (236) (369)
Balance at 1 January 2019 2331 3722 m4) 10 3618 15907 21855 19613 41469
Profit for the period 2019 - - (1533)  (1533) 471 (2 004)
Other comprehensive income 25 - 287 9 (59) 237 (55) 182 (64) 17
Total comprehensive income - 287 9 (59) 237 (1588) (1351) (536) (1887)
Dividends - - {ae71y  (@Ae6e71) (676) (2 347)
Own shares and share-based payment transactions 1 - 13 14 - 14
Total contributions and distributions 1 - - - - (1658) (1657) (676) (2 333)
Acquisition and sale of minority 7,24 - - 9 9 41 50
Issuance of shares in subsidiaries 24 - - (16) (16) 1971 1955
Total changes in ownership without change of control - - - - - ) (¢)) 2012 2 005

Balance at 31 December 2019 23-25 2332 4009 (105) (48) 3855 12653 18840 20414 39253
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Cash flow statement

Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018
Profit before tax (1692) 1420
Net interest expenses 13 1912 1274
Sales losses/gains (-) and write-downs 1052 240
Unrealised foreign exchange gain/loss and other non-cash items 301 135
Depreciation and amortisation 1516 2780 2097
Share of earnings in associates and joint ventures 7 (563) 1019)
Dividend received from associates and joint ventures 7 3263 1787
Changes due to discontinued operations and other net operating assets and liabilities (1811) 809
Cash flow from operating activities before interest and tax 5242 6743
Interest paid (2 266) (1566)
Interest received 502 270
Taxes paid (200) (185)
Net cash flow from operating activities 3278 5262
Proceeds from sales of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 1516 38 204
Proceeds from sales of shares and other equity investments 303 520
Disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 8 3 1786
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 7 (905) (205)
Acquisitions of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 1516 (3409) (2215)
Acquisitions of shares and equity investments in other companies (262) (1018)
Acquisition of vessels accounted for as finance lease 19 (5004) (3343)
Net cash flow from other investments 18 346 (396)
Net cash flow from investing activities (8 890) (4 667)
Proceeds from issue of interest-bearing debt 26 16 772 9129
Repayment of interest-bearing debt 26 (7 4) (7 315)
Repayment of lease liabilities 19 (762) -
Net repayment and issue of interest-bearing debt 8 896 1814
New equity 24 1383 917
Own shares (55) 37
Dividends paid 2324 (2 347) (1737)
Net cash flow from transactions with owners (1019) (857)
Net cash flow from financing activities 7 877 957
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2265 1552
Effects of changes in exchange rates on cash (33) 86
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 9786 8148

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9 12 018 9786
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Notes to the financial statements

Note 1| Corporate information
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Aker ASA is a company domiciled in Norway, with headquarters at Fornebu outside Oslo, and listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange with the ticker
“AKER”. Aker’s 2019 consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent company, Aker ASA, its subsidiaries, and interests

in associated companies and jointly controlled entities.

Note 2 | Basis for preparation and estimates and assumptions

2.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

Aker has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS and associated interpretations as determined by the EU as at
31 December 2019 and Norwegian disclosure requirements pursuant to
the Norwegian accounting act as at 31 December 2019. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, with a
few exceptions described in section 2.5.

The 2019 consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board
of directors on 31 March 2020. The annual accounts will be submitted to
Aker’s annual general meeting on 27 April 2020 for final approval.

2.2 FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The consolidated financial statements are presented in million Norwegian
kroner. The Norwegian krone (NOK) is the functional currency of the
parent company. As a result of rounding differences, amounts and
percentages may not add up to the total.

2.3 USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from amounts arrived at based on
these assumptions. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis, and are based on historical
experience, consultations with experts, trends and other methods which
management considers reasonable under the circumstances. Changes to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates
are revised and in future periods if affected.

Areas in which, in applying the group’s accounting principles, there tends
to be uncertainties as to material estimations and critical assumptions
and assessments, are described in the following paragraphs and in
relevant notes to the accounts. The group’s operational companies
operate in different markets and are thus affected differently by the
uncertainties that characterise the different markets.

(a) Consolidation

IFRS 10 contains a definition of control, which must be applied when an
investor is to assess whether an investment must be consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements. The assessment of control involves
high degree of judgements. See Note 9.

(b) Revenue recognition

Revenue from construction contracts and other contracts with
customers where the performance obligations are satisfied over time, are
recognised according to progress. This method requires estimates of the
final revenue and costs of the contract, as well as costs incurred to date.

For contract revenue, there are uncertainties related to recoverable
amounts from variation orders and incentive payments. These are
recognised when it is deemed to be highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal will not occur. Contract revenue is adjusted by
management’s evaluation of liquidated damages to be imposed by
customers typically relating to contractual delivery terms.

The project costs depend on productivity factors and the cost of inputs.
Weather conditions, the performance of subcontractors and others with
an impact on schedules, commodity prices and currency rates can all
affect cost estimates. Although experience, use of the established project
execution model and high competence reduce the risk, there will always
be uncertainty related to such assessments.

The estimation uncertainty during the early stages of a contract is often
large. No profit is recognised unless the outcome of a performance
obligation can be measured reliably, usually at approximately 20 per cent
progress. However, management can on a project-by-project basis give
approval of earlier recognition if the uncertainties of cost estimates are
low. This is typically in situations of repeat projects, proven technology or
proven execution model. See Note 9 and 10.

(¢) Warranty provisions

At the completion of a project, a provision is made for expected
warranty expenditures. Based on experience, the provision is often set at
one per cent of the contract value, but can also be a higher or lower
amount following a specific evaluation of the actual circumstances for
each contract. Both the general one per cent provision and the
evaluation of project specific circumstances are based on experience
from earlier projects. Factors that could affect the estimated warranty
cost include the group’s quality initiatives. Provisions are presented in
Note 29.

(d) Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives

In accordance with applicable accounting principles, the group performs
annual impairment tests to determine whether goodwill and intangible
assets recorded in the balance sheet have suffered any impairment. The
estimated recoverable amount for cash-generating units are determined
based on the present value of budgeted cash flows or estimated sales
value less cost to sell if higher. See Note 12.

(e) Tax

The group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required to determine provisions for income
taxes worldwide. Aker incurs an income-tax payable and/or earns a
considerable tax receivable. The group also recognises changes in
deferred tax or deferred tax benefits. These figures are based on
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management’s interpretation of applicable laws and regulations, and
relevant court decisions. The quality of these estimates is largely
dependent on management’s ability to apply complex set of rules, its
ability to identify changes to existing rules and, in the case of deferred
tax benefits, its ability to project future earnings from which a loss carry-
forward may be deducted for tax purposes. See Note 14.

() Financial instruments

The group is exposed to various risks resulting from its use of financial
instruments. This includes credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
(including currency- and interest rate risk). Note 6 and Note 31 present
information about the group’s exposure to each of these risks, the
group’s objectives, the principles and processes for measuring and
managing risk, and the group’s capital management.

(g9) Contingent assets and liabilities

As a result of their extensive worldwide operations, group companies
sometimes become involved in legal disputes. Provisions have been
made to cover the expected outcomes of the disputes where negative
outcomes are likely and reliable estimates can be prepared. However, the
final outcome of these cases will always be subject to uncertainties and
resulting liabilities may deviate from booked provisions. See Note 32.

(h) Acquisition costs - exploration

The accounting policy of Aker's subsidiary Aker Energy is to temporarily
recognise expenses relating to the drilling of exploration wells in the
balance sheet as capitalised exploration expenditures, pending an
evaluation of potential oil and gas discoveries. If resources are not
discovered, or if recovery of the resources is considered technically or
commercially unviable, the costs of exploration wells are expensed.
Decisions as to whether this expenditure should remain capitalised or be
expensed during the period, may materially affect the operating result
for the period.

2.4 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Group uses valuation technigues that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
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value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair values are measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described below, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

= Level . Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

= Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

= Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

The Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels
in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation at the end of each
reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the group has determined asset
and liability classes based on their nature, characteristics and associated
risks, and the applicable level within the fair value hierarchy. See Note 31.

2.5 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, with except for the following items:

= Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value

= Non-derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit and
loss are measured at fair value

= Debt instruments at fair value through profit and loss are measured
at fair value

= Contingent consideration assumed in business combinations are
measured at fair value

= Net defined benefit asset or liability is recognised at fair value of plan
assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation

Note 3 | Changes in accounting policies

The Group has initially adopted IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019.
Other new standards and amendments are effective from 1 January 2019,
but except for the change described under section 3.5 below, they do
not have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The
new standard introduces a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for
lessees, with optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low
value items. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset representing its
right to use the underlying assets and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments. Lessor accounting remains similar to
previous accounting policies. The details of the changes in accounting
policies are disclosed below.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the new definition of a lease. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

3.1 LEASES IN WHICH THE GROUP IS A LESSOR

The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor are not
different from those under IAS 17. However, when the Group is an
intermediate lessor, the subleases are classified with reference to the
right-of-use assets arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

3.2 LEASES IN WHICH THE GROUP IS A LESSEE

The Group has recognised new assets and liabilities for its operating
leases of warehouses, rental of offices and factory facilities and machines
and vehicles. The nature of expenses related to those leases has changed
because the Group has recognised a depreciation charge for right-of-use
assets and interest expenses on lease liabilities.

However, the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for short term leases and for leases of low-value assets
(e.g. IT equipment). The Group recognises the lease payments associated
with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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3.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.3.1 Right-of-use asset

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset at the lease commencement
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. The
cost of right-of-use asset includes the amount of lease liability
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and the lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is generally depreciated on a straight-line-basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term, and is
subject to impairment assessment of non-financial assets.

3.3.2 Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The
lease payments include fixed payments and variable lease payments that
depend on an index or rate. The variable lease payment that does not
depend on an index or rate is recognised as expense in the period in
which itis incurred.

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the
lease liability and decreased by lease payments made. It is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in
the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably
certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not
to be exercised.

3.3.3 Lease term

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the
lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the
lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any period covered by
an option to terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain not to be
exercised.

3.4 TRANSITION

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application is
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
and minority at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information
presented for 2018 has not been restated - i.e. it is presented, as
previously reported, under |IAS 17 and related interpretations.

At transition, for leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17, lease

liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease

payments, discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate as at 1

January 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at either:

= Their carrying amounts as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the
commencement date, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application; or

= Anamount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments.

The Group used the following practical expedients when applying IFRS
16 to leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17:
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= Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use asset and
liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease term.

= Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at
the date of initial application.

= Non-lease components for housing contracts, machines and vehicles
is not separated.

= Relied on assessment of whether leases are onerous applying IAS 37
on 31 December 2018 as an alternative to performing an impairment
review of right-of-use assets for all leases on 1 January 2019,

The impact on transition at 1 January 2019 is summarised below:

A

Amounts in NOK million

Property, plant and equipment (153)
Right-of-use assets 5243
Finance lease receivables 789
Interest bearing receivables )]
Deferred tax assets 90
Current operating assets 32)
Adjustments to assets 5935
Lease liabilities 6771
Current operating liabilities, including provisions (279)
Trade and other payables (234)
Adjustments to liabilities 6 258
Retained earnings/minority (323)
Adjustments to equity (323)

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as
operating leases, the Group discounted lease payments using its
incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. The weighted average rate
applied is in the range of 3.4 - 5.3 per cent.

Reconciliation of operating lease commitment as of 31 December 2018
and recognised lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019 is summarised below:

Amounts in NOK million

Operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018 8228
Less exemption for leases of low-value assets (203)
Less exemption for leases with less than 12 months of lease

term at transition (148)
In substance fixed lease payments not included in lease

commitments 237
Option periods not previously reported as lease

commitments and other adjustments 15
Undiscounted lease liability 8129
Effect of discounting to net present value (1358)
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 6771

3.5 OTHER CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Aker BP has previously recognised revenue on the basis of the proportionate
share of production during the period, regardless of actual sales (entitlement
method). Due to development in IFRIC discussions, Aker BP decided to change
to the sales method from 1January 2019. This means that changes in
over/underlift balances are valued at production cost including depreciation and
presented as an adjustment to cost. The effect in the Aker Group is a reduction
of equity of NOK 47 million, with a corresponding reduction of the investment.
In the Aker Group, the change has been implemented as a change in equity as
at 1 January 2019, without any restatement of comparatives.
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Note 4 | New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the year ending 31 December 2019. The group
has chosen not to early adopt any new or amended standards in preparing the consolidated financial statements for 2019. None of these standards are
expected to have a material impact on the consolidated accounts at implementation.

Note 5 | Accounting principles

The accounting principles presented below have been applied
consistently for all periods and companies that are presented in the
consolidated financial statements. Comparative figures have been
restated in accordance with this year’s presentation, see however
information provided in Note 3 regarding IFRS 16 Leases.

5.1 GROUP ACCOUNTING AND CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

5.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies controlled by Aker. Control requires three

elements:

a. ownership interests that give the investor power to direct the
relevant activities of the investee,

b. that the investor is exposed to variable returns from the investee,
and that

c. decision-making power allows the investor to affect its variable
returns from the investee.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated accounts from the day
control is achieved and until control ceases.

Acquisitions of companies that meet the definition of a business
combination are recognised using the acquisition method. See further
description in section 5.8 Intangible assets. Acquisitions of companies,
which are not defined as business combinations, are recorded as asset
acquisitions. The cost of such purchases is allocated between the
individual identifiable assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair
values on the acquisition date. Goodwill is not recognised in connection
with such acquisitions, nor is deferred tax recognised in connection with
differences arising in the recognition of such assets.

Minority interests have been disclosed separately from the parent
company owners’ equity and liabilities in the balance sheet, and are
recorded as a separate item in the consolidated profit and loss account.

5.1.2 Investments in associates

An associate is defined as a company over which the group has
significant influence, but which is not a subsidiary nor a joint
arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, without having
control or joint control of those policies. The group’s investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method and are initially
recognised at cost. Received dividends are recognised as a reduction of
the book value of the investment, and are presented as part of net cash
flow from operating activities in the cash flow statement.

Investments include goodwill upon acquisition less any accumulated
impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements reflect the
group’s share of the associate’s profits or losses and equity changes,
after restatement to comply with the group’s accounting principles, from
the time significant influence is established until such influence ceases. If

the group’s share of accumulated losses exceeds its interest in the entity,
the group does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred or
guaranteed obligations with respect to the associate. If control is
achieved in stages, goodwill is measured on the date control is obtained,
and any changes in the value of previously held equity interests are
recognised as profits or losses.

5.1.3 Interests in joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more
parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. A
joint arrangement is either a joint venture or a joint operation. The
classification of a joint arrangement as a joint venture or a joint operation
depends upon the rights and obligations of the parties to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are initially
recognised at cost. Received dividends are recognised as a reduction of
the book value of the investment, and are presented as part of net cash
flow from operating activities in the cash flow statement.

The subsidiary Aker Energy has a 50 per cent ownership interest in a
license offshore Ghana, which is classified as joint operations under IFRS
11. The group recognises the investment by reporting its share of related
revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows under the respective
items in the financial statements.

5.1.4 Elimination of transactions upon consolidation

Intragroup balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains and
losses or revenues and expenses arising from intragroup transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted
investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the
group’s interest in the investee.

5.1.5 Foreign currency translations and transactions

ltems are initially recorded in the financial statements of each subsidiary
in the subsidiary’s functional currency, i.e. the currency that best reflects
the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances
relevant to that subsidiary. Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the respective subsidiary using the
exchange rates prevailing on the date of each transaction. Receivables
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates on the balance sheet date. Foreign
currency exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
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liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit
and loss account.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian

kroner. Financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currencies

are different from the presentation currency (NOK) are translated into

NOK in the following way:

= Balance sheet items are translated using the exchange rates on the
balance sheet date

= Profit or loss items are translated using the average exchange rates
for the period (if the average exchange rates for the period do not
provide a fair estimate of the transaction rate, the actual transaction
rate is used).

Translation differences arising from the translation of net investmentsin
foreign operations and from related hedging objects are specified as
translation differences in other comprehensive income, and are specified
under shareholders’” equity. When a foreign entity is sold, translation
differences are recognised in the profit and loss account as part of the
gain or loss on the sale. Foreign exchange gains or l0sses on receivables
from and liabilities payable to a foreign entity are recognised in the profit
and loss, except when settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in
the foreseeable future. Such foreign exchange gains and losses are
considered to form part of the net investment in the foreign activity and
are recognised in other comprehensive income as translation differences.

5.2 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

A discontinued operation is a component of the group’s business
operations that represents a separate, major line of business or a
geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for
sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale.

Profits or losses from discontinued operations (after tax), are reclassified
and presented as a separate line item in the financial statements. The
comparatives are restated accordingly.

5.3 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS AND OTHER INCOME
5.3.1 Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers establishes a five-step
method that applies to all customer contracts. Under the standard, only
approved customer contracts with a firm commitment are basis for
revenue recognition. Variation orders are included when they have been
approved, either verbally, in writing, or implied by customary business
practice. The deliveries in the contracts are reviewed to identify distinct
performance obligations, and revenue is recognised in line with how the
entity satisfies these performance obligations - either over time or at a
point in time. This assessment may involve significant judgement. For
contracts with customers for which the performance obligations are
satisfied over time, revenue is recognised over time using a cost progress
method. For contracts with customers for which the performance
obligations are satisfied at a point in time, revenue is recognised at the
point in time when the customer obtains control of the product or the
service. Details of the accounting policies and the nature of performance
obligations for each of the major types of customer contracts are set out
below.
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Construction contracts

Under construction contracts, specialised products are built according to
a customer’s specifications and the assets have no alternative use to the
group. If a construction contract is terminated by the customer, the
group has an enforceable right to payment for the work completed to
date. The contracts usually establish a milestone payment schedule.

The group has assessed that performance obligations are satisfied over
time and revenue from construction performance obligations is
recognised according to progress. The progress is measured using an
input method that best depicts the group’s performance. The input
method used to measure progress is determined by reference to the
costs incurred to date relative to the total estimated contract costs.
Project costs include costs directly related to the specific contract and
indirect costs attributable to the contract.

Variable considerations, such as incentive payments, are included in
construction revenue when it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal will not occur. Disputed amounts are only recognised
when negotiations have reached an advanced stage, customer
acceptance is highly likely, and the amounts can be measured reliably.
Contract modifications, usually in the form of variation orders, are only
accounted for when they are approved by the customers. Contract costs
are mainly expensed as incurred. Expected liquidated damages (LD) are
recognised as a reduction of the transaction price unless it is highly
probable that LDs will not be incurred. The transaction price of
performance obligations is adjusted for significant financing components
to reflect the time value of money. Financing components may exist
when the expected time period between the transfer of the promised
goods and services and the payment is more than twelve months.

When the final outcome of a performance obligation cannot be reliably
estimated, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs
incurred that are expected to be recoverable. The full loss is recognised
immediately when identified on loss-making contracts.

Services revenue

Service revenue is recognised over time as the services are provided. The
revenue is recognised according to progress or using the invoiced
amounts for the period when these directly correspond with the value of
the services that are transferred to the customers in the period. Progress
is normally measured using an input method, by reference of costs
incurred to date relative to the total estimated costs.

Sale of standard products

This revenue type involves sale of products or equipment that are of a
standard nature, not made according to the customer’s specifications.
Customers usually obtain control of these products when the goods are
delivered to the customers in accordance with the contract terms. The
group has assessed that the performance obligations for such products
are satisfied at a point in time, and revenue from these performance
obligations is recognised at that point in time.

5.3.2 Revenue from charter agreements

Revenues related to vessel bareboat charter agreements are recognised
over the charter period. Time-charter agreements may include a
revenue-sharing agreement with the charterer. Revenue related to profit
sharing agreements is recognised when the amount can be reliably
estimated.
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5.3.3 Other income

Gains and losses resulting from acquisition and disposal of businesses
which do not represent discontinued operations are included in Other
income within operating profit. In case of acquisitions in stages, such
gains may come from the remeasurement of previously held interests in
the acquired entity.

5.4 PENSION BENEFITS AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

5.4.1 Pension benefits

For defined benefit plans, the liability recognised is the defined benefit
obligation as at the balance sheet date, minus the fair value of plan
assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated by independent
actuaries and is measured as the present value of estimated future cash
outflows. The pension cost is allocated to profit and loss over the
employees’ estimated time of service. Actuarial gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments, changes in actuarial assumptions, and
amendments to pension plans are recognised in other comprehensive
income (“OCI™). The net interest expense for the period is calculated by
applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability, thus
comprises both interest on the liability and the return on the pension
plan assets. The difference between the actual return on the pension plan
assets and the recognised return is recognised against the OCl on an
ongoing basis.

For defined contribution plans, contributions are paid into pension
insurance plans. Contributions to defined contribution plans are charged
to the profit and loss account in the period to which the contributions
relate.

5.4.2 Share-based payments
Share-based payment expense is measured at fair value over the service
period. All changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement.

5.5 EXPENSES

5.5.1 Lease agreements (as lessee)

The group has initially applied IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019.
Information about the effect of initially applying IFRS 16 and the group’s
accounting policies relating to leases are provided in Note 3.

5.5.2 Finance expenses

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding
of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognised on
financial assets, and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in
profit or loss. Borrowing costs not directly attributable to the acquisition
or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using
the effective-interest method. Foreign currency gains and losses are
reported on a net basis.

5.5.3 Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. An income tax expense
is recognised in the profit and loss account unless it relates to items
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted as at the balance
sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax is calculated based on the temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the amounts used for
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taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are

expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse.

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences:

= initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit.

= (differences relating to investments in joint ventures, if it is probable
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

= tax-increasing temporary differences upon initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if:

= thereis alegally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and
assets

= they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the
same taxable entity, or on different taxable entities that intend to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise
their tax assets and liabilities simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset will be recognised if it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

5.6 INVENTORY

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is
determined by the first-in first-out (FIFO) method, or the weighted
average cost formula depending on the nature of the inventory. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and other direct costs, and related production overhead (based
on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of
completion and selling expenses.

5.7 PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

5.7.1 Recognition and measurement

An item of property, plant and eguipment is recognised as an asset if it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated with the assets
will flow to the group, and its cost can be reliably measured. Property,
plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures directly attributable to the asset’s acquisition
and if material the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use. Borrowing costs associated with loans to finance the
construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalised over the
period necessary to complete an asset and make it ready for its intended
use. Other borrowing costs are expensed. When significant parts of an
item of property, plant, and equipment have different useful lives, major
components are accounted for as separate items of property, plant, and
eguipment.

A gain or loss on the disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the
carrying amount of that item; any loss is included in impairment charges.

5.7.2 Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that future
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economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the group and its
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part

is derecognised. The costs of day-to-day maintenance of property, plant

and equipment are recognised in profit and loss as incurred.

5.7.3 Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit and loss on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of each major component of an item of
property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term or the asset’s useful life, unless it is highly
probable that the group will acquire ownership at the end of the lease
term. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation methods, useful lives, and
residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

5.8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

5.8.1 Goodwill

All business combinations in the group are recognised using the
acquisition method. Goodwill represents values arising from the
acquisitions of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment.
For associates and joint ventures, the carrying amount of goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment in the associates.
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the
profit and loss account. Minority interests are measured at the net value
of identifiable assets and liabilities in the acquired company or at fair-
value including a goodwill element. The method of measurement is
decided individually for each acquisition.

Goodwill is measured as a residual at the acquisition date and constitutes
the sum of total consideration transferred in connection with the
business combination, the carrying amount of the minority interests and
the fair value of the previous ownership interest in the acquired company
at the time of acquisition, less the net recognised amount (normally fair
value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for as transactions with
equity holders in their capacity as equity holders, and therefore no
goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions. In subsequent
measurements, goodwill is valued at acquisition cost, less accumulated
impairment losses.

5.8.2 Research and development

Expenditures on research activities undertaken to gain new scientific or
technical knowledge and understanding are recognised in profit and loss
in the period incurred.

Development expenditure that applies research findings to a plan or
design for the production of a new or substantially improved product or
process is capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the group has sufficient resources to complete
development. The capitalised amount includes the cost of materials,
direct labour expenses and an appropriate proportion of overhead
expenses. Other development expenditure is recognised in the profit and
loss account as an expense in the period in which it occurs. Capitalised
development expenditures are recognised at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

5.8.3 Other intangible assets

Expenditures on internally generated goodwill and brand names are
recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.
Other acquired intangible assets (patents, trademarks and other rights),
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are recognised in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets are
amortised from the date they are available for use.

5.9 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount
is also estimated annually at the balance sheet date irrespective of any
impairment indicators. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”, or “CGU"). Goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to the groups of CGUs
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its
CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units), on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives is not reversed. In respect of other assets,
impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed as at each
reporting date as to any indications that the loss has decreased or no
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment loss
had been recognised.

5.10 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE OR DISTRIBUTION

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities,
that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale or distribution
rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale or
distribution. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable, and the asset or disposal group is available for
immediate sale or distribution in its present condition.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale or
distribution are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets once classified as held for sale or distribution are not depreciated
or amortised, but are considered in the overall impairment testing of the
disposal group.

Non-current asset classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal
group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other
assets in the statement of financial position. Liabilities of a disposal group
classified as held for sale shall be presented separately from other
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liabilities in the statement of financial position. The balance sheet for
prior periods is not reclassified to reflect the classification in the balance
sheet for the latest period presented.

5.11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5.11.1 Classification of financial assets

The group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement

categories:

= Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI
or through profit or loss), and

= Those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded
in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

5.11.2 Recognition and derecognition of financial assets

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
trade-date, the date on which the group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

5.11.3 Measurement of financial assets

At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset (unless it is a
trade receivable without a significant financing component) at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
profit or loss. Trade receivables without a significant financing
component are initially measured at the transaction price.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment
of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the group’s

business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics

of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the

group classifies its debt instruments:

= Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses, impairments, and any gain or loss arising on derecognition are
recognised in profit and loss.

= FVOCI: Assets that are held both for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Interest income calculated using the effective interest
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method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI. On derecognition, the cumulative gain or 10ss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss.

= FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. Net gains and losses, including any
interest, are recognised in profit or loss. However, see section below
regarding derivatives designated as hedging instruments.

Equity instruments

The group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value.
Where the group has irrevocably elected (an election that is made on an
investment -by-investment basis) to present fair value gains and losses
on equity investments in OCI, there is no subseguent reclassification of
fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss when the group’s right to receive payments is
established.

5.11.4 Impairment of financial assets

The group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

There are mainly financial receivables (including trade receivables),
contract assets and financial lease receivables that are subject to the
expected credit loss model (ECL) in IFRS 9. For trade receivables, the
group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition
of the receivables.

5.11.5 Financial liabilities - initial recognition, classification, subsequent
measurement, gains and losses and derecognition

A financial liability is initially measured at fair value and, for a financial
liability not at FVPL, net of transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its issue. Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVPL. A financial liability is classified at FVPL if it is classified as
held-for-trading, it is a derivative, or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value and
net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in
profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or 10ss. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. See
section below regarding derivatives designated as hedging instruments.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The group also
derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified, and the
cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which
case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at
fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between
the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in
profit or oss.

5.11.6 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount
presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, the group currently
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has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

5.11.7 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency and interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives are initially
recognised at fair value, and attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and
accounted for separately if the host contract is not a financial asset and
the following criteria are met: i) the economic characteristics and risks of
the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host, i) a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative, and iii) the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or 10ss.

Derivatives not being part of hedge accounting are measured at fair
value and all changes in value are recognised in profit and loss. The
group may designate certain derivatives as hedging instruments to
hedge the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities (fair value hedges),
the variability in cash flows associated with highly probable forecast
transactions arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and interest
rates (cash flow hedges), and certain derivatives and non-derivative
financial liabilities as hedges of foreign exchange risk on a net investment
in a foreign operation (net investment hedges). At inception of
designated hedging relationships, the group documents the risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The
group also documents the economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, including whether the changes in cash
flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset
each other.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of
the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated
with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast
transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other
comprehensive income and presented in the hedging reserve within
equity. The amount recognised in other comprehensive income is
removed and included in profit or loss in the same period as the hedged
cash flows affect profit or loss under the same line item in the income
statement as the hedged item. Any ineffective portion of changes in the
fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, or the designation is
revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity remains there
until the forecast transaction affects profit or loss. If the forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in other
comprehensive income is recognised immediately in profit or loss. In
other cases, the amount recognised in other comprehensive income is
transferred to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item
affects profit or loss.
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Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges
are recognised in profit or loss. The hedged object is valued at fair value
with respect to therisk that is hedged. Gains or losses attributable to the
hedged risk are recognised in profit or loss and the hedged object’s
carried amount is adjusted.

Net investment hedges

Foreign currency differences arising from the translation of a financial
liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation
are recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent that the
hedge is effective and are presented within equity in the translation
reserve. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are
recognised in profit or loss. When the hedged part of a net investment is
disposed of, the relevant amount in the translation reserve is transferred
to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

5.12 SHARE CAPITAL, TREASURY SHARES AND EQUITY RESERVES
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. When
share capital is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid
including directly attributable costs and net of any tax effects, is
recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified
as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity.
When treasury shares are sold or reissued, the amount received is
recognised as an increase in equity, and the surplus or deficit resulting
from the transaction is transferred to/from retained earnings.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations, as
well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the group’s net
investment in a foreign operation.

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of financial assets at FVOCI.

The hedging reserve applies to cash flow hedges entered into in order to
hedge against changes in income and expenses that may arise from
exchange rate fluctuations. The profit or loss effect of such transactions
is included in the profit and loss account upon recognition of the hedged
cash flow. The hedging reserve represents the value of such hedging
instruments that is not yet recognised in the income statement.

5.13 PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when the group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
payments or other outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are determined as the present value of expected
future cash flows, discounted by a market based pre-tax discount rate.

Warranty provisions are made for expected future expenses related to
delivered products and services. The provisions are based on historic
data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated
probabilities.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when an approved, detailed
and formal restructuring plan exists, and the restructuring either has
begun or has been announced to the affected parties.
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Provisions for contract losses are recognised when the expected
revenues from a contract are lower than the cost of meeting the
contractual obligations. Before provisions are made, all impairment
losses on assets associated with the contract are recognised.

5.14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of ordinary earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to ordinary shares using the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the reporting period, after deduction of the
average number of treasury shares held over the period. The calculation
of diluted earnings per share is consistent with the calculation of ordinary
earnings per share, and gives effect to all ordinary shares with dilutive
potential that were outstanding during the period.

Note 6 | Financial risk and exposure

FINANCIAL RISK

The Aker Group consists of various operations and companies that are
exposed to different types of financial risks, including credit-, liquidity-
and market risk (e.g. oil price-, currency- and interest risk). The purpose
of risk management is to measure and manage financial risk in a reliable
manner, thereby increasing predictability and reducing negative effects
on Aker’s financial results. The Group uses different financial instruments
to manage its financial exposure actively.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The overall objectives of Aker’s capital management policy are to
maintain a strong capital base to retain investor, creditor and market
confidence, to ensure financial flexibility for the seizure of opportunities
as they arise, and to maintain a capital structure that minimises the
company’s cost of capital. For its surplus liquidity, Aker pursues a
conservative placement strategy with minimal risk. The placements need
to be flexible in terms of liquidity.

The target rate of return for the Industrial holdings is 12 per cent. The
target return for the Financial investments portfolio depends on the
composition of the portfolio, including the size of cash deposits and the
risk profile of the receivables. In addition, Aker has defined financial
target indicators (FTIs) that regulate the relationship between cash and
interest-bearing debt, as well as the capital structure. The ratios work as
guidelines for investment activities and capital allocation.

The governing principle of Aker’s dividend policy is that the company at
all times should have a solid balance sheet and liquidity reserves
sufficient to deal with future liabilities. The policy of the company is to
pay annual dividends corresponding to 2-4 per cent of net asset value
(value-adjusted). The market prices of listed companies are used in
calculating net asset value, while book values are used for other assets.

CREDIT RISK
The Group’s financial assets are bank deposits, trade and other
receivables, derivatives, and investments in shares. The Group’s exposure
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5.15 SEGMENT REPORTING

Aker defines operating segments based on the group’s internal
management and reporting structure. The group’s chief operating
decision maker, responsible for the allocation of resources and
assessment of the performance in the different operating segments, is
defined as the board of directors, the group president and CEO and the
CFO. Aker’s investment portfolio comprises two segments: Industrial
holdings and Financial investments. The recognition and measurement
applied in segment reporting is consistent with the accounting principles
applied when preparing the financial statements. Transactions between
segments are conducted on market terms and conditions. Comparative
segment information is usually re-presented for changes in reporting
segments. See Note 9 Operating segments and significant subsidiaries.

to credit risk is mainly related to external receivables. For large projects
and long-term lease contracts, assessment of credit risk related to
customers and subcontractors are performed in the tender phase and
throughout the contract period. Large and long-term projects are closely
monitored in accordance with agreed milestones.

Trade receivables presented in the balance sheet are net of provisions for
bad debts, which are estimated based on prior experience as well as
specific assessments for some of the receivables.

Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are with
counterparties with sound credit ratings and with whom the Group has
signed a netting agreement.

The company within the group with the largest exposure to credit risk, is
Ocean Yield. Ocean Yield faces credit risk through counterparties that
may not be able to meet its obligations under a long-term charter
contract. In order to mitigate this, the company charters out the vessels
to internationally well-recognised companies within the shipping and
offshore industry. However, as shipping and oil service markets are
volatile, there is no complete protection against potential counterparty
default.

The ongoing COVID-19 crisis and the lack of agreement between OPEC
and Russia to reduce oil production, has had significant negative effects
on the world economy and most industries and businesses have been
adversely affected. There is an imminent danger of recession, and this
will increase the credit risk for the Group in the future. It | currently not
possible to predict how large this increase in risk will be.

The exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, in the
balance sheet. Information about the exposure to credit risk at the
balance sheet date is found in the tables on the next page.
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2019 Carrying amount - exposure to credit risk

Derivatives
Fair value Fair value through qualified for hedge
through profit other comprehensive Receivables at accounting at
Note and loss income (FVOCI) amortised cost FVOCI Total
Financial interest-bearing non-current assets 8 - - 14 653 - 14 653
Other non-current assets including long-term
derivatives 20 62 613 38 - 713
Trade receivables, other interest-free short-term
receivables 22 7 - 5382 - 5389
Current derivatives 31 15 - - 214 229
Interest-bearing short-term receivables 18 9 - 2673 - 2683
Cash and cash equivalents 9 - - 12 018 - 12 018
Total 93 613 34764 214 35685

Interest-bearing receivables were impaired with NOK 25 million in 2019. In addition, a shareholder loan of NOK 60 million from Akastor to the joint
venture DOF Deepwater AS is recognised against the share of losses from the joint venture (See Note 33).

2018 Carrying amount - exposure to credit risk

Derivatives
Fair value Fair value through qualified for hedge
through profit other comprehensive Receivables at accounting at
Note and loss income (FVOCI) amortised cost FVOCI Total
Financial interest-bearing non-current assets 18 - - 1304 - 11304
Other non-current assets including long-term
derivatives 20 61 512 7 - 644
Trade receivables, other interest-free short-term
receivables 22 12 - 5875 - 5888
Current derivatives 31 64 - - 342 406
Interest-bearing short-term receivables 8 25 - 426 - 451
Cash and cash equivalents 9 - - 9786 - 9786
Total 163 512 27 462 342 28 479
Aging trade receivables and contract assets
Gross trade receivables and Gross trade receivables and
contract assets 2019 contract assets 2018
Not past due 10 697 8459
Past due 0-30 days 488 673
Past due 31-120 days 176 332
Past due 121-365 days 200 261
Past due more than one year 835 648
Total 12 396 10 372
Movements in allocation to loss on trade receivable and contract assets
Balance at 1 January 2019 (268)
Impairment loss (write-off) included in operating profit (88)
Reversal of impairments included in operating profit 33
Provisions utilised during the year 45
Other changes (12)
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates [©)
291)

Allocation to loss on trade receivable and contract assets at 31 December 2019
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Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to fulfil its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is
to ensure that it always has sufficient liquidity to pay its liabilities as they fall due.

Overview of contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments specified by category of liabilities:

Contractual cash flows including estimated interest payments

Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 1-2 2-5 Overb
Amounts in NOK 0 amount  cash flow orless months  years years years
Secured loans 24 459 (28280) (2048) (2455) (5436) (12565) (5776)
Unsecured bank loans 3431 (3798) (153) 67y (617) (1745) ms)
Unsecured bond issues 11006 2713)  (2074) (238) (1213) (9188) -
Convertible loan 863 912 912 - - - -
Other liabilities 154 (165) (74) @ 3) 74) (125
Credit facilities 274 274) (274) - - - ,
Total contractual cash flows for interest-bearing liabilities 40187 (44 318) (371) (2862) (8269) (23572) (5903)
Finance lease liabilities 6583 (7634) (488) (483)  (920) (2395 @47
Short-term derivative financial liabilities 414 (390) (280) (76) (&ZD) - -
Long term derivative financial liabilities 217 (149) - - (120) (29) -
Total contractual cash flows for interest-bearing liabilities and derivatives 47 401 (52491) (4479) (3421) (9343) (25996) (9320)
Trade and other payables 16 950
Long-term interest-free liabilities 3076
Total liabilities 67427
Overview of contractual maturities per segment:
Contractual cash flows including estimated interest payments
Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 1-2 2-5 Over5
Amounts in NOK million amount  cash flow orless months  years years years
Industrial holdings 34954 (38619) (2058) (2563) (8877) (15902) (9287)
Financial investments 716 (765) (544) 18) (36) 147) (22)
Aker ASA and holding companies 11731 (13107) a877) (842) (430) (9947) an
Total contractual cash flows for interest-bearing liabilities and derivatives 47 401 (52491) (4479) (3421) (9343) (25996) (9 320)

Long-term interest-free liabilities include NOK 661 million in deferred tax liabilities and NOK 352 million in deferred revenue and prepaid charter hire.

The Group’s ligquidity requirements are expected to be met through the balances of liquid assets and cash flow from operating activities. As at 31
December 2019, the group had cash and cash equivalents of NOK 12 018 million. In addition, the group has interest-bearing assets of NOK 17 336
million (see Note 18 and Note 19), and other investments of NOK 2 135 million (see Note 20).

OIL PRICE RISK

The equity accounted investment in Aker BP represents a substantial
part of the group’s assets. Since Aker BP's revenues are derived from the
sale of petroleum products, the value of the investment and the group’s
share of profit or loss are therefore exposed to oil and gas price
fluctuations. With the current unstable macro environment, Aker BP is
continuously evaluating and assessing opportunities for hedging as part
of a prudent financial risk management process. At year-end 2019, the
company had entered into commodity hedges for the first half of 2020
consisting of put options with average strike price of 54 USD/bbl for a
volume corresponding to approximately 60 per cent of the after-tax
value of estimated oil production in the period.

Although Aker’s subsidiary Aker Energy does not currently have any
production of hydrocarbons, the company is exposed to the oil markets
in several aspects. Market conditions will influence banks and investors’
appetite to lend to, or invest in, Aker Energy. Furthermore, Aker Energy
is exposed to the cost levels in the supplier industry that is a function of
the capacity and activity levels in the sector.

In 2020, the ongoing COVID-19 crisis and the lack of agreement between
OPEC and Russia to reduce oil production, has led to significant fall in oil
prices. This increases the oil price risk in the Group going forward, but
the impact is currently not possible to predict.

CURRENCY RISK

Aker’s operation in the international market results in various types of
currency exposure for the group. Currency risks arise through ordinary,
future business transactions, capitalised assets and liabilities, and when
such transactions involve payment in a currency other than the
functional currency of the respective company. In addition, currency risk
arises from investments in foreign subsidiaries. The group’s main
exposures are against USD, GBP, EUR and BRL. In addition, Aker
Solutions is exposed to AOA (Angolan Kwanza) a currency that in 2019
was under hyperinflation. The group is also exposed to several other
currencies.
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In Aker's consolidated accounts, the following exchange rates have been applied in translating the accounts of foreign subsidiaries and associated

companies:

Average rate Rate at Average rate Rate at
Country Currency 2019 31 Dec. 2019 2018 31 Dec. 2018
USA UsD 1 8.80 8.78 8.13 8.69
Great Britain GBP 1 1.23 1.59 10.85 ni2
The European Union EUR 1 9.85 9.86 9.60 9.95
Brazil BRL 1 223 218 2.25 2.24

The average rate and rate as at 31 December have been applied when translating the income statement and balance sheet items, respectively. If the
average exchange rate for the period does not provide a fair estimate of the transaction rate, the actual transaction rate is used.

In 2020, the ongoing COVID-19 crisis and the lack of agreement between OPEC and Russia to reduce oil production, has caused significant fluctuations
in exchange rates, including a sharp weakening of the Norwegian krone against the US dollar and the euro. The table below illustrates the Group’s
sensitivity to foreign currency rate fluctuations. If the Norwegian krone had been 40% weaker against USD in 2019, the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would have been as shown below. The sensitivity analysis does not take into account other effects of a stronger currency, such as
competitiveness, change in the value of derivatives etc.

5 in NOK Operating revenue Profit before tax Equity
usD 1025 (2060 22938
Other currencies 12 815 747 9800
NOK 24 917 (377) 6516
Total 48 756 (1692) 39253
Change if NOK 40% weaker against USD 3128 (899) 6190
When NOK 40% weaker against USD 51885 (2591) 45 443

Aker ASA and the operational companies in the group have prepared guidelines on the management of currency risks, including hedging of expected
future cash flows and value of assets and liabilities in foreign currencies. The group uses currency forward contracts and currency option contracts to
reduce currency exposure. The net value of the group’s currency contracts was NOK -356 million as at 31 December 2019.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The group's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings and receivables. Borrowings and receivables issued at variable rates expose the group
to cash flow interest rate risk. Securities issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. The figures for 2019 includes lease
liabilities of NOK 6 583 million.

As at 31 December 2019, the interest rate profile of the group's interest-bearing financial instruments was as follows:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Fixed rate instruments:

Financial assets 2 460 1708
Financial liabilities (4 270) (5100)
Net fixed rate instruments (1810) (3392)
Variable rate instruments:

Financial assets 26 895 19833
Financial liabilities (42 500) (25 327)
Net variable rate instruments (15 605) (5494)
Net interest-bearing debt (-) / assets (+) including finance lease receivables and lease liabilities (17 415) (8 886)
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments the cash flow hedge in the Group’s comprehensive income. Other

The Group does not recognise any fixed rate financial assets and interest rate derivatives are not designated as hedges, and hence a
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. At 31 December 2019, the fair change in the interest rate would affect profit or loss with respect to
value of interest rate swaps designated as hedges for parts of debt was these instruments. In 2019, the Aker Group has a loss of NOK -31 million

NOK 5 million. A change in interest rates as at the reporting date would related to interest rate derivatives.
not affect profit or loss, but would appear as a change in the fair value of
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Note 7 | Acquisition of subsidiaries and transactions with minority interests

TRANSACTIONS WITH MINORITY INTERESTS

In 2019, acquisition and sale of minority interests and subsidiaries’
purchase and sale of own shares lead to an increase in minority interests
of NOK 41 million and an increase in majority interests of NOK 9 million,
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the equity holders in the
parent company. The corresponding figures for 2018 were a NOK 37
million increase in minority interests and a NOK 17 million decrease in
majority interests. See also Note 24.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES IN 2019
Aker BioMarine
On1March 2019, Aker BioMarine, through a US holding company,

acquired 100% of the issued shares in Lang Pharma Nutrition, Inc. (Lang),

a full service, mass market dietary supplement manufacturer, for a
consideration of USD 89.3 million. The contribution consisted of a cash
consideration paid on closing in addition to a contingent consideration
with an estimated fair value as further described below.

Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets acquired:

Amounts in NOK million

Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets acquired:

Amounts in NOK million

Intangible assets m
Other non-current assets 28
Inventories 59
Trade and other receivables and other assets 44
Cash and cash equivalents 2
Total assets 244
Borrowings 5
Lease liabilities

Trade and other payables 23
Total liabilities 37
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 207
Goodwill arising on acquisition 63
Total consideration paid on acquisition 270
L ess cash and cash equivalents acquired (2)
Acquisition, net of cash acquired 268

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES IN 2018

Aker BioMarine

On17 January 2018, Aker BioMarine Antarctic AS (AKBMA) entered into an
Asset Purchase Agreement pursuant to which AKBMA acquired from
Enzymotec Ltd assets and certain liabilities related to the global krill
operations of Enzymotec. Total payable was equivalent to NOK 214 million.
The purchase price reflects, among other things, payment of transferred
inventory and consideration for customer relationships and trademark.

Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets acquired:

Amounts in NOK million

Intangible assets - customer list 393
Accounts receivables and other assets 100
Inventories 271
Cash and cash equivalents 32
Total assets 795
Borrowings 170
Accounts payables and other payables 83
Total liabilities 252
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 543
Goodwill arising on acquisition 218
Contingent consideration (310)
Total consideration paid on acquisition 451
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired (32)
Acquisition, net of cash acquired 419

The goodwill is attributable to Lang’s position and profitability in the
dietary supplement market and the assembled and skilled workforce in
the organisation. Lang will continue to operate as a separate company.
The results from Lang have been included in Aker BioMarine’s
consolidated income statement and balance sheet as of 1 March 2019.

The contingent consideration arrangement requires Aker BioMarine to
pay the seller an earn-out calculated each fiscal year using a
measurement of company EBITDA as its basis. The earn-out period is
from 2019 through 2022. The fair value of the contingent consideration
arrangement was estimated calculating the present value of the future
expected cash flows, based on a discount rate of 11 per cent.

Akastor

On 7 June 2019, Akastor, through its portfolio company MHWirth,
acquired 100 per cent ownership interest in Bronco Manufacturing LLC
(Bronco) for a cash consideration of USD 31.5 million at a cash-free and
debt-free basis. Bronco is consolidated as part of MHWirth.

Intangible assets 168
Inventory 37
Goodwill arising on acquisition 10
Total consideration paid on acquisition 214

In addition, on 3 July 2018 Aker BioMarine Antarctic AS (AKBMA) entered
into a Settlement and Termination Agreement with Orochem Technologies,
Inc (Orochem), whereupon the existing Equipment and License Agreement
were terminated and Orochem assigned to AKBMA its entire right, title, and
interest in the patents, inventions for removal of arsenic from krill oil and
ownership to purification technology. Total settlement was equivalent to
NOK 23 million, hereof NOK 3 million related to royalty payable until the
settlement date and NOK 20 million related to the intangible asset acquired.

Aker Energy

Aker Energy AS (“Aker Energy”) was founded in February 2018 and is owned
49 per cent by Aker ASA and 49 per cent by The Resource Group TRG AS.
Based on an assessment under IFRS 10, Aker Energy is fully consolidated in
the Aker Group. On1June 2018, Aker Energy Ghana AS, a subsidiary of Aker
Energy, completed the acquisition of Hess Ghana, the operator of the
Deepwater Tano Cape Three Points block ("DWT/CTP") with a 50 per cent
participating interest in the license. The acquisition is regarded as an
acquisition of an asset. The transaction has a total cash consideration of USD
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102 million, where USD 27 million was paid upon closing of the transaction
and a further USD 75 million will be payable upon approval of the PoD for the
DWT/CTP block.

Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets acquired:

Amounts in NOK million

Intangible assets - value of licenses 380
Other current operating assets 2
Cash and cash equivalents P
Total assets 894

Annual accounts |

Trade creditors 1
Other non-current liabilities 64
Total liabilities 65
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 829
Contingent consideration 61
Total consideration paid on acquisition 218
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired (12)
Acquisition, net of cash acquired 205

Note 8 | Sale of subsidiaries and discontinued operations

SALE OF SUBSIDIARIES
There were no material divestments of subsidiaries or other types of
material discontinued operations in 2019,

In April 2018, Aker sold real estate land areas at Fornebu. The sale
resulted in a gain in Aker Group accounts of NOK 232 million. The
disposal did not represent a separate major line of business and is not
presented as discontinued operations. There were no major sales of
subsidiaries in 2018 except for the sales described below for discontinued
operations.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS IN 2018

On September 26, 2018, Akastor completed the transaction to divest 50
per cent of its shares in AKOFS Offshore to MITSUI & CO., Ltd. ("Mitsui")
and Mitsui O.S.K. Lines, Ltd. ("MOL") for a total consideration of USD
142.5 million with interest of 4 per cent from the locked box date on
December 31, 2017. In addition, there are certain preferential rights in
respect of the operations of AKOFS Seafarer, including guaranteed
return to Mitsui and MOL and earn-out payments to Akastor in the first

six years of operations. The transaction does not include the existing
joint venture, Avium Subsea AS, between Akastor, Mitsui and MOL.
Following the transaction, AKOFS Offshore was restructured to
consolidate 100 per cent ownership interest in Avium Subsea AS.
Akastor, Mitsui and MOL holds 50 per cent, 25 per cent and 25 per cent
of the shares in AKOFS Offshore, respectively. AKOFS Offshore is
classified as a joint venture to the group and consolidated using the
equity method. The AKOFS Offshore operations, exclusive Avium Subsea
AS, are classified as discontinued operations.

RESULTS AND CASH FLOW FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE

Result from discontinued operations NOK 64 million in 2019 and NOK
438 million in 2018 apply to discontinued operations in Akastor and
Kvaerner (See note 9). Cash flow from discontinued operations is NOK 6
million in 2019 and NOK 1048 million in 2018. Liabilities of NOK 26 million
classified as held for sale at 31 December 2019 are remaining legacies
related to Kvaerner’s sale of its the onshore construction business in
North America in 2013.



Annual accounts | Aker ASA annual report 2019 61

Note 9 | Operating segments and significant subsidiaries

Operating segments are identified based on the Group’s internal Financial investments are managed as a portfolio with focus on financial

management- and reporting structure. The Group’s chief operating and strategic opportunities.

decision makers, who are responsible for the allocation of resources and

assessment of performance in the different operating segments, are Recognition and measurement applied to segment reporting is

defined as the board of directors, the CEO and the CFO. consistent with the accounting principles applied when preparing the
financial statements. Transactions between segments are conducted on

Aker's investment portfolio comprises two segments: Industrial holdings market terms and conditions. Operational revenues and segment assets

and Financial investments. The primary focus for businesses within are based on the geographical location of companies.

Industrial holdings is long-term value creation. Businesses within
AN OVERVIEW OF OPERATING SEGMENTS

Industrial holdings

Aker Solutions Leading global supplier of products, systems and services for the oil and gas industry. The Aker Group’s ownership interest is
46.93%. Aker ASA indirectly owns 34.76%. Aker Kvaerner Holding AS owns 40.56% of Aker Solutions ASA. Aker ASA owns
70% of Aker Kvaerner Holding AS. In addition, Aker ASA owns directly 6.37% of Aker Solutions ASA.

Akastor Akastor is an oil-services investment company with a portfolio of industrial holdings and other investments. The Aker
Group’s ownership interest is 48.78%. Aker ASA indirectly owns 36.71%. Aker Kvaerner Holding AS owns 40.27% of Akastor
ASA. Aker ASA owns 70% of Aker Kvaerner Holding AS. In addition, Aker ASA owns directly 8.52% of Akastor ASA.

Aker BP Exploration and production (E&P) company on the Norwegian continental shelf. Ownership interest 40.00%. The company is
defined as an associated company in the Aker Group, and is accounted for using the equity method.
Kveerner Leading global provider of engineering and construction services to the energy and process industry. The Aker Group’s

ownership interest is 41.02%. Aker ASA indirectly owns 28.71%. Aker Kvaerner Holding AS owns 41.02% of Kvaerner ASA.
Aker ASA owns 70% of Aker Kvaerner Holding AS.

Ocean Yield Owns, operates and charters vessels. Ownership interest 61.65% as at 31 December 2019.
Aker BioMarine Biotechnology company. Harvesting of krill and production and sale of krill products. Ownership interest 98%.
Aker Energy E&P company. Owns a 50% ownership interest in the Deepwater Tano Cape Three Points block that is under development in

Ghana. The group’s ownership in the company is 49.21%.

Cognite Software and digitalisation company. Ownership interest 63.99%.

Financial investments

Philly Shipyard Design and construction of vessels. Ownership interest 57.56%.

Solstad Offshore Owns and operates platform supply-vessels, anchor handling vessels and construction service-vessels. Ownership interest
23.10%. The company is defined as an associated company in the Aker Group, and is accounted for using the equity method.

FP Eiendom Real estate development company. Ownership interest 100%.

Norron Nordic investment manager. Ownership interest 54.29%.

Other and eliminations

Aker ASA and Cash, other financial investments and other assets. Companies included are listed in Note 1in the annual accounts of Aker
holding companies  ASA and holding companies.

Other Other companies and eliminations. See next section for overview of group entities.

SUBSIDIARIES factors mentioned in IFRS 10 that may help to illuminate the question of
Aker Solutions, Akastor and Kvaerner control further. Factors indicating that Aker has control include Aker’s
Aker considers on an ongoing basis whether the company’s indirect and representation on the nomination committees, the fact that leading
direct ownership interests in Aker Solutions and Akastor, as well as the employees have previously worked for Aker, the fact that the companies
indirect ownership in Kvaerner, are sufficient to give it control under IFRS themselves consider Aker an active owner, etc. On the other hand, in

10. The primary consideration is whether Aker is able to control the isolation, the shareholder’s agreement with the Norwegian State relating
outcome of voting at the companies’ general meetings. After careful to the holding company Aker Kvaerner Holding AS is a factor in favour of
consideration of this question based on both the absolute and relative Aker not having control. Based on an overall assessment, the conclusion
ownership interests and attendance at previous general meetings of the is that Aker does have control over Aker Solutions, Akastor and
companies and comparable companies, Aker has concluded that such Kvaerner,

control exists. Consideration has also been given to all other relevant
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SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES IN THE AKER GROUP ACCOUNTS ARE PRESENTED IN THE TABLE BELOW.
Companies owned directly by Aker ASA are highlighted. Group's ownership in per cent and Group's share of votes in per cent are equal if nothing else
is indicated.

For further information regarding significant subsidiaries in the listed companies Aker Solutions ASA, Akastor ASA, Kvaerner ASA, Philly Shipyard ASA
and Ocean Yield ASA, please refer to the companies’ own annual reports.

Business address

Group's ownership in % *) City location Country

Aker BioMarine AS 98.00 Fornebu Norway
Aker BioMarine Antarctic AS 100.00 Fornebu Norway
Aker Capital AS 100.00 Fornebu Norway
Ocean Yield ASA (OCY) 61.65 Fornebu Norway
Aker Energy AS 4921 Fornebu Norway
Philly Shipyard ASA (PHLY) 57.56 Oslo Norway
Cognite AS 63.99 Fornebu Norway
FP Eiendom ASY 100.00 Fornebu Norway
Aker Kveaerner Holding AS 70.00 Fornebu Norway
Aker Solutions ASA (AKSO) 40562 Fornebu Norway
Akastor ASA (AKA) 40279 Fornebu Norway
Kvaerner ASA (KVAER) 41.02 Fornebu Norway
Norron Holding AB 54.29 Stockholm Sweden

1) In accordance with UK Companies Act 2006, FP Eiendom AS’ indirectly owned subsidiaries Abstract (Aberdeen 2) Limited (reg. no. 8271923), Abstract
(Aberdeen 3) Limited (reg. no. 9137931), Abstract (Aberdeen 4) Limited (reg. no. 9137913), Abstract (Aberdeen 5) Limited (reg. no. 9137895), Abstract
(Aberdeen 6) Limited (reg. no. 9137897), Abstract (Aberdeen 7) Limited (reg. no. 9137894), Abstract (Aberdeen 8) Limited (reg. no. 9138091), Abstract
(Aberdeen 9) Limited (reg. no. 9137993), Abstract (Aberdeen 10) Limited (reg. no. 9251169), Aberdeen Residual Land Holdings Limited (reg. no. 9138539), and
Aberdeen International Business Park Limited (reg. no. 8361458) are exempt from audit of accounts under section 479A

2)In addition, Aker ASA owns 6.37% directly.

3)In addition, Aker ASA owns 8.52% directly.

*) Ownership percentage shown is percentage ownership of the relevant entity’s parent.

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS BASED ON COMPANY LOCATION

Operating revenue Selected assets"”
Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018 2019 2018
Norway 29 979 27973 38 362 36 015
EU 6 658 4994 10 722 9828
North America 3162 2924 2010 2054
South America 2205 1863 1508 1446
Asia 4232 2615 920 776
Other areas 2521 1794 2580 2467
Total 48 756 42163 56102 52 585

1) Selected assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, right-of-use assets as well as investments in equity accounted investments.
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2019 - OPERATING SEGMENTS

Elimin- Financial

ations Total investments

Aker Ocean Aker Bio Aker and industrial and
Amounts in NOK million Solutions Akastor Aker BP Kvaerner Yield Marine Energy Cognite  other holdings eliminations Total
External operating revenues 27 968 5313 - 8730 2124 2175 ) 268 1191 47768 988 48756
Inter-segment revenues 1296 48 - 303 138 - 63 72 (185%) 66 (66) -
Operating revenues 29263 5 361 - 9032 2262 2175 62 340 (662) 47834 922 48756
EBITDA 2244 492 - 498 1958 402 (1101) a5) (69) 4409 (481) 3928
Depreciation and amortisation (1234) (261) - (169)  (654)  (324) 20) ) 1 (2663) m7y (2780)
Impairments (304) 9 - 23)  (70) (54) - - - (1100) 108 (992)
Operating profit 705 222 - 306 595 24 z2n (16) (68) 646 (490) 156
S R
Interest income 57 n4 - 4] 20 10 9 - m 250 120 370
Interest expense (485) 149) - (33) (904) (201 (43) - 7 (1808) (474) (2282)
Other financial items aon 164 - (6) 3N (39) 8 m 16) (22) (143) (164)
Profit before tax 170 191 429 308 (321)  (205) (1147) ) (78) (670) (1022) (1692)
Tax expense 87 44) - 64) 30) 4) - - 4) (233) (15) (248)

Profit for the year from
continuing operations
Result from discontinued
operations (net of tax)
Profit for the year 83 93 429 234 (351)  (209) Q147) 7) (82) (967) (1037) (2004)

Profit for the year to equity

83 147 429 244 350 (209 (47N ) 82 (903) (1037) (1940)

- 54 - 10) - - - - - (64) - (64)

holders of the parent 19 37 429 67  (247) (206) (565) ()  (89)  (565) (968) (1533)
Property, plant, and equipment ¢ oo, 4597 - 1285 9252 2800 219 3 (47) 21502 1612 23114
and right-of-use assets

Intangibles assets 5710 1593 - 740 - 1653 1468 34 - 11199 956 12154
Investment in equity accounted 146 1051 17773 73 1565 - - - (5) 20557 277 20833
companies

Interest-bearing fixed assets 894 226 - 20 15159 - - - (75) 16224 1M2 17 336
Cash and cash equivalent 1898 555 - 2324 1628 120 692 - 261 7479 4540 12018
Interest-bearing liabilities (8957) (2125) - (123) (19195) (3688) (1040)  (18) 143 (35003)  (11766) (46 769)
Net tax liabilities(-)/assets(+) 641 376 - @ GYH - - 25 684 68) 616
Other assets and liabilities 205 1397 S 622)  (678) 484 (822) 19 (300)  (316) 267 (49)
Equity 7231 4371 17773 3385 7697 1357 517 39 (45) 42325 (3072) 39253
Minority interest Q7))  (18) - - me) . - - 48 182)  (20232) (20 414)
[l iy el ozl @ 7134 4354 17773 3385 7581 1357 577 39 3 42143 (23303) 18840
equity holders of the parent

Investments 2 1028 617 - 484 4 1904 560 36 - 4635 488 5122

Aker ASA and holding companies key figures:

Dividends received -
Gross asset value (GAV) ® 2338

1) There are restrictions on the cash

2) Investment include acquisitions of | rty,

2653

1000 41486

67
859

658 -
5187 2363

925

42

3378
54 200

104
7734

3482
61934

rs between Aker ASA and holding companies and subsidiaries. Restricted cash at the end of 2019 was NOK 61 million

/ plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangibles (including increases due to business combinations)
3) Listed companies at market value and other companies at book value.
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2018 - OPERATING SEGMENTS

Elimin- Financial
ations Total investments
Aker Ocean Aker Bio Aker and industrial and

Solutions Akastor Aker BP Kvaerner Yield Marine Energy Cognite other holdings eliminations Total

External operating revenues 24422 3709 - 7144 2614 1263 14 127 173 39467 2696 42163
Inter-segment revenues 810 90 - 76 179 - - 37 (1189) 3 ) -
Operating revenues 25232 3800 - 7220 2793 1263 14 164  (1017) 39469 2694 42163
EBITDA 1810 290 - 437 2299 269 (263) 9 (238) 4614 (217) 4397
Depreciation and amortisation (739) 181) - Mo)  (803) (179) (3) - - (2 014) (83) (2097)
Impairments 22) - - - (262) ) - 3) - (294) 81 (213)
Operating profit 1049 109 - 327 1235 83 (266) 6 (238) 2306 (219) 2087
Share of profit of equity ) as7) 1547 ) ) ) ) ) . 1390 763) 626
accounted companies

Interest income 39 67 - 27 26 1 2 - - 161 91 252
Interest expense (236) (90) - 20y (676)  (100) 6) - - (1128) (398) (1526)
Other financial items (60) (20) - 4 (84) 5 16) 1 27 (144) 125 (19)
Profit before tax 792 (9 1547 338 501 10)  (286) 6 @m 2585 (1165) 1420
Tax expense (238)  (103) - (60) (26) 2 - m (6) (431) (59) (490)
Profit for the year from 554 (194) 1547 278 475 ® (286) 6 (@7 2154 1224) 930
continuing operations

Result _from discontinued ) 128) ) ) ) ) ) ) 264 236 202 438
operations (net of tax)

Profit for the year 554 (322) 1547 278 475 8) (286) 6 147 2390 (1022) 1368
Profit for the year to equity

holders of the parent 176 (280) 1547 80 286 ® 142) 4 147 1808 (903) 906
Property, plant, and equipment 3044 825 - 967 10388 2019 9 1 - 17 253 1008 18262
Intangibles assets 5686 1260 - 710 - 992 1388 - (3) 10033 943 10976
Investment in equity accounted 1 1088 19878 69 1668 . . . - 22704 644 23348
companies

gsxsftrsa' interest-bearing fixed 93 257 - - 10324 - - - - 10674 1081 1755
Cash and cash equivalent 2473 198 - 3165 956 22 192 47 96 7148 2638 9786
Internal interest-bearing

liabilities . - - - - 324 - - - (324) 324
Eaxé‘m:'s‘“tere“’bea”“g 2913 (602) . - (5317) (1460) . . ©(20292)  (10135) (30 427)
Net tax liabilities(-)/assets(+) 439 361 - (265) ) - - 4 29 560 37 523
Other assets and liabilities 1214) 930 - (1206) (663) 305 (872) 1 182) (2902) 597 (2304)
Equity 7608 4317 19878 3439 7348 1554 717 53 (60) 44854 (2937) 41918
Minority interest (106) - - - - - - - 55 (52) (19 856) (19 908)
Total equity attributable to

sauliholdersiofhelparent 7502 4317 19878 3439 7348 1554 717 53 (5) 44802 (22793) 22009
Investments 2 505 131 - 334 21 545 436 1 - 1132 1132 3106

Aker ASA and holding companies key figures:
Dividends received - - 1465 - 613 - - - - 2078 96 2174
Gross asset value (GAV)® 3750 1313 31403 931 5816 241 471 42 - 46139 5074 51213




Annual accounts |

Note 10 | Operating revenue

ANALYSIS OF OPERATING REVENUES BY CATEGORY
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Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Revenue from contracts with customers recognised over time 41507 35110
Revenue from contracts with customers recognised at a point in time 4777 3470
Leasing income 2010 2402
Other income 462 1182
Total 48 756 42163

Revenue from contracts with customers consist of construction contracts,
service revenue and sale of standard products recognised over time or ata
point in time in accordance with IFRS 15. Different types of customer
contracts are described below. Warranty provisions related to on-going
projects and onerous customer contracts provision are described in Note 29.

REVENUE FROM CUSTOMER CONTRACTS RECOGNISED OVER TIME
Revenue from contracts with customers in Aker Solutions totalled NOK 27.8
billion in 2019 and include contracts with customers to deliver services,
technologies, products and solutions within Subsea and Field Design. Each
contract within Subsea is usually assessed as one performance obligation as
the deliveries are combined in one output. Each engineering, hook-up,
modification and maintenance job within Field Design is usually assessed as a
separate performance obligation and revenue is recognised over time using a
cost progress method or according to delivered time and materials. Each
service job under a frame agreement is usually assessed as a separate
performance obligation and revenue is recognised according to delivered
time and materials within Services. Payment terms are normally 30-90 days
according to predefined milestones within Subsea and 30 days after time and
materials are delivered within Field Design and Services.

Revenue from contracts with customers in Kvaerner totalled NOK 8.5 billion
in 2019 and include contracts with customers to provide engineering,
procurement and construction services (EPC-contracts) for offshore
installations or onshore plants and decommissioning that have no alternative
use for the group. These contracts will usually be one performance obligation
and revenue is recognised over time using a cost progress method. Service
revenue is recognised over time using a cost progress method or is
recognised according to delivered time and materials. Payment terms are
normally 30 days for construction contracts and on average around 45 days
after time and materials are delivered for service revenue.

Revenue from contracts with customers in Akastor totalled NOK 3.7 billion in
2019 and include construction contracts with customers to provide drilling
systemns, products and services. Each of the construction contracts normally
includes a single combined output for the customer, such as an integrated
drilling equipment package. One single performance obligation is usually

identified in each contract and revenue is recognised over time using a cost
progress method. Service revenue is recognised over time using a cost
progress method.

Revenue from contracts with customers in ASK JV totalled NOK 1.4 billion in
2019. The company has one contract (Johan Sverdrup Riser Platform)
regarded as one performance obligation and revenue is recognised over time
using a cost progress method.

Revenue from contracts with customers in Philly Shipyard totalled NOK 167
million in 2019 and include contracts with customers regarding construction
of merchant vessels for the Jones Act market. Revenue from shipbuilding is
recognised over time using a cost progress method.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS AT POINT IN TIME
Revenue from contracts with customers in Aker BioMarine totalled NOK 2.2
billion in 2019 and include sale of krill products recognised at a point in time,
when the customers obtains control over the goods, which is based on the
contractual terms of the agreements. Upon sale of product, each sale would
normally constitute two performance obligations.

Revenue from contracts with customers in Akastor totalled NOK 1.5 billion in
2019 and include revenue from sale of standard oilfield products recognised
at a point in time, usually when the goods are delivered to the customers.

Revenue from contracts with customers in FP Eiendom totalled NOK 0.6
billion in 2019 and include revenue from sales of apartments recognised at a
point in time at delivery to the customers.

IMPORTANT CUSTOMERS
Aker has one customer that has been invoiced for more than 10 per cent of
the group’s revenues in 2019,

TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO REMAINING PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the future
related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied, or partially satisfied,
at 31 December 2019:

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations

2023 and
Amounts in NOK million 2020 2021 2022 later Total
Aker Solutions 13047 3100 1372 266 17 784
Kvaerner 5218 1990 992 - 8200
Akastor 2419 1068 - - 3487
Total 20 684 6158 2 364 266 29 471
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CONTRACT BALANCES
The following table provides information about contract assets and
contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

Amounts in NOK million 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Trade receivables 4969 5408
Contract assets 7136 4696
Contract liabilities 1447 1764

Contract assets relate to consideration for work completed, but not yet
invoiced at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to
receivables when the rights to payment become unconditional, which
usually occurs when invoices are issued to the customers. Movements in
allocation to loss on trade receivables and contract assets are described
in Note 6. Contract liabilities relate to advances from customer for work
not yet performed at the reporting date. Revenue recognised in 2019
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that was included in contract liabilities in the beginning of the year is
NOK 1233 million. Contract liabilities has increased by NOK 15 million in
2019 due to acquisition of subsidiaries. The change in contract assets and
liabilities relates to the natural progression of the project portfolio, as
well as the current project mix.

LEASING INCOME

Leasing income of NOK 2 010 million in 2019 consists of NOK 933 million
in financial lease income and NOK 909 million in operational lease
income from bareboat hire in Ocean Yield, in addition to income from
subleasing right-of-use assets of NOK 168 million.

OTHER INCOME

Other income of NOK 462 million in 2019 consist among others of gain
from sale of assets and in addition NOK 334 million in share of earnings in
joint ventures and associates.
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Note 11 | Wages, personnel expenses and other operating expenses

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Wages 12 641 11263
Social security contributions 1778 161
Pension costs 800 749
Other expenses 803 698
Personnel expenses included in other items? (138) (358)
Total wages and other personnel expenses 15 884 13 963

1) Related to capitalised construction expenses in Philly Shic

Geographical split of number of employees: 2019 2018
Norway 10 495 9757
EU 1777 2426
North America 961 884
South America 5473 4001
Asia 2751 2549
Other regions 408 362
Total number of employees at year-end 21865 19 979
Average number of employees 20922 19712

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Leasing expenses 692 1163
Exploration expenses oil and gas 217 -
Office equipment, sales- and administration expenses 1387 1060
External consultants and hired-ins, exclusive audit expenses (see below) 1627 1005
Travel expenses 654 517
Insurance 146 169
Loss on customer receivables, including reversal of impairments (18) 155
Miscellaneous operating expenses 1) 1987 1866
Total 6 693 5936

1) Other opera expenses include, among others, operation and maintenance of properties.

FEES TO AUDITORS OF THE AKER GROUP ARE INCLUDED IN MISCELLANIOUS OPERATING EXPENSES, AND DISTRIBUTED AS FOLLOWS:

Consulting
Amounts in NOK million Ordinary auditing services Total 2019 2018
Aker ASA 2 1 3 2
Subsidiaries 47 6 53 40
Total 49 7 56 42

Ordinary audit fees totalled NOK 49 million in 2019 (NOK 36 million in 2018).

Consulting services of NOK 7 million consist of NOK 2 million in other assurance services, NOK T million in tax advisory services and NOK 4 million in
other non-audit services.
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Note 12 | Impairments
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Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Impairment losses on intangible assets (Note 16) (25) 97)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment (Note 15) (702) m7n
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets (Note 19) (266) -
Total (992) (213)

Impairment losses on intangible assets in 2019 of NOK 25 million are
mainly attributable to IT systems and a strategic digitalisation project in
Kvaerner.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment of NOK 702 million
in 2019 are mainly attributable to Ocean Yield with NOK 590 million, Aker
BioMarine with NOK 54 million, Aker Solutions with NOK 46 million, and
FP Eiendom with NOK 12 million. The impairment in Ocean Yield is
related to the FPSO Dhirubhai-1, and the impairment in Aker BioMarine is
related to the fishing vessel Juvel. The impairments in Aker Solutions
relate to capitalised development costs.

The impairments of right-of-use assets in 2019 of NOK 266 million,
mainly relate to office leases in Aker Solutions of NOK 257 million and
Akastor of NOK 9 million.

Impairment losses on intangible assets in 2018 of NOK 97 million were
mainly attributable to Ocean Yield with NOK 80 million, and Aker
Solutions with NOK 15 million. Ocean Yield made an impairment of
goodwill related to the FPSO Dhirubhai-1. The reason for the impairment
charges in Aker Solutions was related to capitalised development costs.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment of NOK 117 million in
2018 were mainly attributable to Ocean Yield with NOK 109 million and
Aker Solutions with NOK 7 million. Ocean Yield made an impairment
charge related to the AHTS vessels Far Senator and Far Statesman.

Below is more detailed information about impairment assessments
performed for the material assets within the Group. See also Note 15
Property, plant and equipment and Note 16 Intangible assets.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS

Determination of the recoverable amount

When performing impairment assessments, cash generating units are
determined at the lowest level possible to identify independent cash
flows.

Discount rate, post tax

Discount rate, pre tax

For capitalised development expenses and other intangible assets, all
development projects are tested quarterly for impairment in which it is
taken into account market and technology development, changes in
order backlog, costs incurred compared to the budget, and other factors
that potentially may deteriorate the value in use. For uncompleted
projects, full impairment tests are performed annually by reviewing and
updating the original business case for each project so future cash flows
are revised and new present value calculated. An impairment loss is
recognised for projects where the net present value of future cash flows
is lower than expected recognised capitalised amount at project
completion.

For the years 2018 and 2017, the recoverable amounts of the cash
generating units are found by calculating the value in use. The
calculations are based on future cash flows as assumed in current
budgets and strategic plans. Cash flow after tax is used in the
calculations and correspondingly discount rate after tax.

Discount rates:

Discount rates are derived from a weighted average cost of capital
(WACC) model. The rate is estimated as a weighted average of the
required return on equity and expected borrowing costs. The capital
asset pricing model for a peer group of companies within the same
sector has been applied when calculating the WACC. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the interest rate for 10-year government bonds
at the time of the impairment assessment. Borrowing costs are based on
a risk-free rate, with an adjustment reflecting long-term interest margin.
The discount rate is set for each CGU and may therefore vary between
and within the subsidiaries.

Forecast period Growth rate terminal value

Company 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Aker Solutions 8.6-8.8 9.3-95 11.0-11.5 12.2-14.3 4 years 4 years 1.5 15
Akastor 10.4-12.5 10.0 12.4-15.0 122 S years 5 years <2.0 <20
Kvaerner 8.9 8.6 10.3-11.0 10.9-10.4 4 years 4 years 1.0 1.0
Ocean Yield 7.3-8.6 6.1-8.2 7.5-8.6 7.2-8.2 NA NA NA NA
Aker BioMarine 1.0 1.0 12.4 12.7 5 years 5 years 2.0 2.0
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Cash flow assumptions
Cash flow assumptions varies between the different CGUs, and the
assumptions used in the most material assessments are described below.

For Aker Solutions, four years cash flows in the period 2020 to 2023
projected from the forecast and strategy process, approved by
management and the Board of Directors in 2019, have been used as basis
for the estimates of future cash flows. The forecasts are based on firm
orders in the backlog and identified prospects in addition to expected
service revenue. Aker Solutions has defined the growth rate, discount
rate and estimated future cash flows as the most sensitive assessment in
the value in use calculation. The forecasted cash flows used in the
impairment tests reflect organic growth only. Other parameters in the
assessment are the predicted long-term oil price per barrel, mix of
products and services, level of operating expenses and capital
expenditure for maintenance of the asset portfolio.

For impairment testing of goodwill, a post-tax value in use method is
used, with pre-tax rates calculated using an iterative method for
illustration purposes only. The assumptions are summarised above. The
forecasted cashflows are based on firm orders and an expected share of
new contracts.

For Akastor, the value-in-use calculations represent the operating
earnings before depreciation and amortisation and are estimated based
on the expected future performance of the existing businesses in their
main markets. Assumptions are made regarding revenue growth, gross
margins and other cost components based on historical experience as
well as assessment of future market development and conditions. These
assumptions reguire a high degree of judgement, given the significant
degree of uncertainty regarding oilfield service activities in the forecast
period. Akastor uses a constant growth rate not exceeding two per cent
(including inflation) for periods beyond the management’s forecast
period of five years.

For Kvaerner, assumed project awards is an essential element in the
impairment testing. The group’s business development organisation
reviews and considers market prospects and selects target projects.
Target projects are included based on a probability that Kvaerner will be
selected as supplier and estimated revenues and margins based on the
scope of work and Kvaerner’s experience and judgment from other
projects. Cash flow projections for on-going projects are based on
budget and forecast. Explicit period for estimated cash flows are fourth
quarter 2019-2023. Terminal values reflecting long-term, steady state
revenue and margin levels are estimated based on a combination of
historic levels and judgment. An annual growth rate of one per cent is
used in calculating the terminal value.

For Ocean Yield the value in use has been estimated for the FPSO
Dhirubhai-1. Following the completion of the 10-year contract in
September 2018, Ocean Yield is working to secure new employment for
the FPSO. Several opportunities have been evaluated for the vessel, but
it is taking more time than earlier envisaged to find a satisfactory
solution.

The value in use has also been estimated for the vessels Connector, Far
Senator and Far Statesman based on the present value of estimated
future cash flows. The projected cash flows represent management’s
best estimate for future charter hire for these vessels.

In Aker BioMarine, an impairment charge of NOK 54 million has been
booked in 2019 regarding the fishing vessel Juvel. Due to the uncertainty
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about the future use of the vessel, a separate valuation was performed to
estimate the fair value of the vessel as per IAS 36. The valuation was
based on an assessment of potential sales price for the vessel, valuing
the vessel at USD 18.7 million after subtracting cost to sell. This resulted
in an impairment of USD 5.9 million, equivalent to NOK 54 million.

For impairment testing of goodwill in Aker BioMarine, projected cash
flows are based on management’s best estimates and the business plan
for the krill business for the subsequent five-year period. The estimates
are based on detailed forecasts prepared by the various departments in
the krill business. For subsequent periods, the model is based on
estimated terminal growth of 2.0 per cent, which is in line with long-term
forecasts for growth in GDP. In the forecast for the period 2020-2024,
revenue projections are based on agreements entered into, actual
historical prices along with management’s evaluation of the potential for
new agreements. The estimated operating margin is in accordance with
management s forecast which is based on the scalability in the business
model. A large proportion of the company’s operating expenses are
independent of production volumes, which means that increased sales
levels will contribute to higher operating margins. Capital expenditure is
based on long-term technical and operations program and firm
commitments.

Sensitivity analysis and recoverable amount

In relation to the impairment testing, the companies have performed
various sensitivity analysis. Below is a summary of the sensitivity analysis
performed in the largest companies.

Aker Solutions

The impairment testing of goodwill is affected by changes in the long-
term oil price, as it will impact the expected order intake. The testing is
also affected by changes in the discount rate, growth rates, and the
ability to secure projects as estimated in the cash flow, product mix and
cost levels. Multiple sensitivity tests have been run on the key
assumptions in the value in use calculation to address the current
uncertainty in the oil services market. In the sensitivity testing, Aker
Solutions have assessed the impact on the value in use calculation when
applying the following changes to the key assumptions: decrease in long
term growth rate to zero, increase in post-tax discount rate by two
percentage points and a 25 per cent decrease in forecasted free
cashflows during the four year period from 2020 to 2023, including the
terminal value.

Cash-generating units (CGUs) identified for testing fixed and intangible
assets are usually a plant or a group of plants which are deemed to
produce independent cash inflows. No impairment losses were
recognised as a result of the impairment testing of assets in CGUs based
on the value in use method. Various sensitivity analysis for change in
future cash flows, growth rate and WACC have been performed for the
CGUs with limited headroom in the impairment testing. The results from
the analysis support the conclusion from the test that no impairment
should be recognised. Aker Solutions is continuously monitoring the
market development and will perform impairment testing if further
impairment triggers are identified.

One CGU with net assets of NOK 480 million is sensitive for impairment.
The WACC used in the impairment testing was 11 per cent and the
growth rate was 5 per cent. The WACC can be increased to 13.4 per cent,
the growth rate can be reduced to 1.5 per cent and the free cashflows
can be reduced by over 50 per cent without triggering an impairment.
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When a leased property has been vacated or will be vacated by Aker
Solutions in the near future, the right-of-use asset is assessed for
impairment. If the vacated property is a separable part of the leased
building, it is tested for impairment as a separate cash-generating unit.
Expected future sublease income is discounted to present value and
compared to the value of the separable right-of-use asset. If the vacated
area is not separable, the right-of-use asset it tested together with the
other assets in the cash generating unit. An impairment charge of NOK
257 million has been booked in 2019 for right-of-use assets in Aker
Solutions.

Akastor

For the portfolio companies containing goodwill, the recoverable
amounts are higher than the carrying amounts based on the value in use
analysis and consequently no impairment loss of goodwill was
recognised in 2019 or 2018. The group has performed sensitivity
calculations to identify any reasonably possible change in key
assumptions that could cause the carrying amount to exceed the
recoverable amount. In MHWirth, if the average revenue growth in the
forecast period were reduced by more than 12 per cent, or the average
EBITDA margin in the forecast period were reduced by more than 6 per
cent, the estimated recoverable amount would be lower than the
carrying amount and it would result in impairment in MHWirth.

Kvaerner

For the yard CGUSs Stord and Verdal, recoverable amount for recognised
goodwill exceeds the related carrying values, and consequently indicates
that no impairment is required. The following adverse changes could
occur simultaneously before any impairment is required in relation to the
Stord yard CGU; revenue reduction of 30 per cent, EBITDA margin
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reduction of 1.5 percentage points and increase in pre-tax discount rate
of 2.4 percentage points. The Verdal yard CGU is more sensitive to
impairment; a simultaneous revenue reduction of 3 per cent and increase
in pre-tax discount rate of 1.4 per cent points would result in an
impairment.

Ocean Yield

As of year-end the Group has assessed the value of the FPSO Dhirubhai-
1. The value in use has been estimated for the vessel and has been
calculated based on the present value of estimated future cash flows.
The Group has considered several possible scenarios and calculated the
present value of estimated future cash flows for these scenarios. The
scenarios are based on recent interest for the FPSO. The value in use has
then been calculated as the weighted average of these scenarios. The
estimated value in use is lower than book value for the FPSO and as a
consequence an impairment of USD 68.4 million has been recognised.
The remaining net book value of the FPSO as of 31t December 2019 is
USD 146 million.

The estimated value in use has been calculated for the vessels
Connector, Far Senator and Far Statesman and no impairment has been
considered necessary.

Aker BioMarine

Sensitivity analysis of goodwill have been performed by using
simulations of various combinations of discount rates and changes in
vessel production volumes, Krill production and krill sales, in addition to
fuel costs. No reasonably combination of these factors results in a value
in use being lower than the value recognised in the balance sheet as of 31
December 2019.

Note 13 | Financial income and financial expenses

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents and investments at amortised cost 293 176
Interest income on debt instruments at FVOCI 77 76
Dividends on financial assets 165 170
Net change in fair value of financial equity investments at fair value through profit and loss 14 64
Net foreign exchange gain - 59
Net gain from interest rate swaps - 57
Other financial income 56 101
Total financial income 605 704
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (2270) (1497)
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at fair value 12) (30)
Net foreign exchange loss (82) -
Foreign exchange loss from hedge instruments (143) (297)
Net loss from interest rate swaps a3n -
Net other financial expenses (144) a74)
Total financial expenses (2 681) 1997
Net financial items 2077) (1293)
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Note 14 | Tax

TAX EXPENSE(-)/TAX INCOME(+)
Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018

Recognised in income statement:

This year's net tax receivable (+) and payable (-) (232) (261)
Adjustment prior years (20) -
Total current tax expense (252) (261)
Deferred tax expense:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (D (253)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 55 24
Total deferred tax expense 4 (229)
Income tax - continued operations (248) (490)

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Profit before tax (1692) 1420
Nominal tax rate in Norway 22% (2018: 23%) 372 (327)
Tax rate differences in Norway and abroad 147 44
Permanent differences ma) 81
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 55 24
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised (573) (422)
Tax effect of associated companies 124 234
Other differences (260) (124)
Total income tax expenses in income statement (248) (490)

TAX RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Remeasurement of defined benefit liabilities 39 15
Changes in fair value of financial assets - )
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges Q1n 20
Currency translation differences 2) 7
Total tax expenses other comprehensive income 16 40

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS ARE ALLOCATED AS FOLLOWS:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Aker Solutions 871 663
Akastor 388 374
Other companies 2 22
Total 1261 1059

Deferred tax assets refer to NOK 1381 million in losses carried forward and NOK -109 million in temporary differences. The deferred tax asset related to
the tax losses carried forward was reduced by NOK 221 million in 2019,

The total unrecognised tax loss carry-forward at year-end 2019 are NOK 13.1 billion. This mainly relates to Aker ASA with NOK 4.0 billion, Aker Capital
AS with NOK 1.1 billion, Aker BioMarine with NOK 2.1 billion, Akastor with NOK 2.7 billion, Ocean Yield with NOK 1.4 billion and Aker Solutions with NOK
0.7 billion.
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CHANGES IN NET DEFERRED TAX ARE AS FOLLOWS:

Property, Projects  Tax losses

plantand  Intangible under carry
Amounts in NOK million equipment assets construction forward Other Total
At 31 December 2018 (198) (237) (2401 1602 1779 545
Impact of changes in accounting policies - - - - 90 90
At 1 January 2019 198) 237) (2 401 1602 1869 635
Acquisitions and sales of subsidiaries - ) - 12 10 20
Deferred tax income statement - continued operations 14 124 931 a77) (888) 4
Deferred tax total comprehensive income - OCI - - - - 16 16
Prepaid withholding tax - - - - 60 60
Deferred tax income recognised directly in equity - - (27) - (23) (50)
Exchange rate differences and other changes (13) - (16) (56) [©) (85)
At 31 December 2019 (196) (115) (1513) 1381 1043 600
Allocated between deferred tax assets and liabilities as follows:
Deferred tax assets m4) (105) (412) 1381 5N 1261
Deferred tax liabilities (82) 10) aon - 532 (661)
CHANGES IN NET DEFERRED TAX ARE AS FOLLOWS:

Property, Projects  Tax losses

plantand  Intangible under carry
Amounts in NOK million equipment assets construction forward Other Total
At 31 December 2017 221 (260) (2245) 1910 1799 982
Impact of changes in accounting policies - - 94 - (40) 54
At 1January 2018 221 (260) (2151) 1910 1759 1036
Acquisitions and sales of subsidiaries 101 5 4 (313) 19) (222)
Deferred tax income statement - continued operations - 18 (259) 47 (36) (229)
Deferred tax income statement - discontinued operations a7 - - (33) - (109)
Deferred tax total comprehensive income - OC| - - - - 40 40
Prepaid withholding tax - - - - 46 46
Exchange rate differences and other changes M - 5 (10) (12) A7)
At 31 December 2018 (198) (237) (2 401) 1602 1779 545
Allocated between deferred tax assets and liabilities as follows:
Deferred tax assets (153) (228) (1493) 1634 1299 1059
Deferred tax liabilities (44) 10) (908) (32) 479 (515)

TAX PAYABLE AND INCOME TAX RECEIVABLE

Tax payable amounts to NOK 117 million and tax receivable amounts to NOK 133 million. Tax receivable mainly relates Aker Solutions with NOK 120
million, Akastor with NOK 10 million and Philly Shipyard with NOK 2 million. The 2019 figures are based on preliminary estimates of non-taxable
income, non tax-deductible items and temporary differences between the financial accounts and the tax accounts. The final result will be calculated
based on the tax return and may differ from the estimates above.
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Note 15 | Property, plant and equipment

Machinery Landand Assets under
Amounts in NOK million Vessels and vehicles buildings  construction Total
Cost at 31 December 2018 19 375 9945 4547 1484 35 351
Implementation IFRS 16 - 97) (206) - (303)
Cost at 1 January 2019 19 375 9849 4341 1484 35048
Acquisitions through business combinations - 7 3 - 10
Other acquisitions 546 231 109 1786 2672
Other disposals and scrapping 16) (76) 37 - (129)
Transferred from assets under construction and other reclassifications 961 699 19 a977) (298)
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 188 32 7 11 224
Cost at 31 December 2019 21054 10 742 4427 1303 37 526
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2018 (8312) (6 900) (1828) (5N (17 091)
Implementation IFRS 16 - 92 58 - 150
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January 2019 (8312) (6 809) 1770y (51 (16 941)
Depreciation charge for the year (786) (730) 27) - (1644)
Impairments (see Note 12) (590) (39 as (60) (702)
Transferred from assets under construction and other reclassifications (28) 38 58 - 68
Other disposals and scrapping 16 68 7 - 92
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates (80) (23) (10) - (13)
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2019 (9 780) (7 495) (1855) (1) (19 240)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 1274 3248 2573 1192 18 287
1) Capitalised interest in 2019 amounted to NOK 6 million
Machinery Land and  Assets under

Amounts in NOK million Vessels and vehicles buildings  construction Total
Cost at 1 January 2018 25628 10 034 5393 951 42 005
Other acquisitions® 243 168 4] 868 1320
Sales of operations (7 063) (106) (507) (73) (7 749)
Other disposals and scrapping (39 (587) (260) ©) (892)
Transferred from assets under construction and other reclassifications (294) 277 (32) (312) (360)
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 901 160 (88) 55 1028
Cost at 31 December 2018 19 375 9945 4547 1484 35 351
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January 2018 (1187) (6728) (1859) (54) (19 828)
Depreciation charge for the year 1007) (699) asn - (1858)
Impairments (see Note 12) (164) 3 5) - 172)
Sales / disposals of operations 4164 81 4 - 4249
Reclassifications 244 4 15) 5 238
Other disposals and scrapping 35 567 204 - 806
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates (397) (122) (6) (2) (527)
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2018 (8 312) (6 900) (1828) (51) (17 091)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 11063 3 045 2719 1433 18 262
Book value of leasing agreements recorded in the balance sheet ) 4 1”3 B 127

1) Capitalised interest in 2018 amounted to NOK 11 million

Carrying amount at the end of 2019 amounts to NOK 18 287 million, an

increase of NOK 26 million during the year. The increase mainly relates to

acquisitions, offset by depreciation charge for the year and impairments,
see comments below.

This year’s depreciation of NOK 1644 million (NOK 1858 million in 2018)
relates to continuing operations. In 2018 total depreciation was divided

between NOK 1715 million in continuing operations and NOK 144 million
in discontinued operations. The impairment of the year is NOK 702
million (NOK 172 million in 2018) relates to continuing operations. In 2018
total impairment was divided between NOK 117 million in continuing
operations and NOK 55 million in discontinuing operations.
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See Note 12 Impairments for more information regarding impairment
assessments and Note 26 regarding collateral.

Vessels and airplanes

Vessels and airplanes totalled NOK 11 274 million at the end of 2019, with
an increase of NOK 211 million during the year. The increase is mainly
attributed to the acquisition of a new airplane and transfer from assets
under construction of NOK 1.5 billion. The increase is offset by
depreciation and impairments of NOK 1.4 billion.

The depreciation periods for the hulls are between 10 and 30 years, while
the machinery and equipment on board are depreciated over a period
between 3 and 15 years.

Machinery and vehicles

Machinery and vehicles totalled NOK 3 248 million, an increase from
previous year of NOK 203 million. The increase is due to acquisitions and
transfer from assets under construction of NOK 1.0 billion, offset by
depreciation and impairments of NOK 0.8 billion.

Machinery and vehicles are depreciated over a period between 3to 15
years.

Buildings and land

Buildings and land totalled NOK 2 573 million, with a decrease of NOK
146 million in 2019. The decrease is mainly related to implementation
effects of IFRS 16 of NOK 148 million in addition to depreciation and
impairments of NOK 140 million. The reduction is offset by acquisitions
and transfer from assets under construction of NOK 186 million.

Note 16 | Intangible assets
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Land is not depreciated. The depreciation periods for buildings are
between 8 to 30 years.

Assets under construction

Assets under construction are decreased by NOK 241 million during 2019
to NOK 1192 million. The change is mainly due to the delivery in mid-
January 2019 of the new krill harvesting vessel Antarctic Endurance in
Aker BioMarine. Total cost for the vessel was USD 147 million including
capitalised interests. In addition, NOK 228 million is reclassified to
intangible assets and prepaid expenses. The reduction is offset by
investments in Aker Solutions, Akastor, Kvaerner and FP Eiendom
totalling NOK 744 million.

Contractual commitments

Aker BioMarine has at the end of 2019 entered into contracts on
investments in property, plant and equipment for NOK 0.5 billion.
Contractual commitments in Aker Solutions is NOK 324 million and in
Kvaerner NOK 65 million.

Ocean Yield has entered contractual obligations for the purchase of
vessels, currently under construction, of NOK 215 million in total during
2020.

Effect of exchange rate changes on property, plant and equipment
Effects from exchange rate fluctuations represent NOK 111 million and are
mainly attributable to changes in the USD/NOK in Ocean Yield, Akastor,
Aker Solutions, Aker BioMarine and Philly Shipyard. Based on book
values as at 31 December 2019, a increase of the USD rate of 40 per cent
will increase assets by about NOK 4.8 billion.

Capitalised

Oil- and gas exploration
Amounts in NOK million licenses expenses Goodwill Other Total
Cost at 1 January 2019 937 416 9199 4635 15188
Acquisitions through business combinations - - 384 563 947
Other acquisitions - 325 - 418 743
Other disposals and scrapping 9) - - (204) (212)
Expensed dry wells - (27) - - 217)
Reclassifications (8) 29) - n4 77
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 10 4 91 64 169
Cost at 31 December 2019 931 500 9674 5590 16 695
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2019 - - (1692) (2520) (4 212)
Amortisation for the year - - - (459) (459)
Impairment losses (see Note 12) - - - 25) (25)
Other disposals and scrapping - - - 204 204
Reclassifications - - - (13) 13)
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates - - a4) @n (35)
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2019 - - (1706) (2 835) (4 540)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 931 500 7 967 2757 12154
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Capitalised

Oil- and gas exploration
Amounts in NOK million licenses expenses Goodwill Other Total
Cost at 1 January 2018 - - 9098 4279 13 377
Acquisitions through business combinations 880 - - - 880
Other acquisitions - 390 10 506 906
Sales / disposals of subsidiaries and operations - - - (206) (206)
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 58 27 90 55 230
Cost at 31 December 2018 937 416 9199 4635 15188
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2018 - - ae27) (2269) (3 895)
Amortisation for the year - - - 39 (391)
Impairment losses (see Note 12) - - 80) a8) 97)
Sales / disposals of subsidiaries and operations - - - 187 187
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates - - 15 (30) (15)
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2018 - - (1692) (2520) (4 212)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 937 416 7 506 2116 10 976

Oil- and gas licenses

Oil- and gas licenses of NOK 931 million at the end of 2019 is attributable
to Aker Energy and is reduced by NOK 6 million during the year. Oil- and
gas licenses are assessed for impairment annually.

Capitalised oil- and gas exploration expenses

Capitalised oil- and gas exploration expenses of NOK 500 million at the
end of 2019 is attributable to Aker Energy. The increase in 2019 of NOK
84 million is related to capitalised exploration expenses, partly offset by
expensed dry wells and reclassifications.

Goodwill

Goodwill totalled NCK 7 967 million at the end of 2019. The change in
2019 of NOK 461 million is attributable to positive foreign exchange
fluctuations and increase due to the acquisition of AGR and Bronco in
Akastor, in addition to Aker BioMarine’s investment in Lang Pharma
Nutrition Inc.

See table below for the allocation of goodwill per company. Goodwill
related to Aker Solutions, Akastor and Kvaerner originates from various
acquisitions and other transactions through the years. The goodwill in
Aker BioMarine stems from Aker’s acquisition of Natural and the
establishment of Aker BioMarine in December 2006 and is fully allocated
to the krill business.

Other intangible assets
The carrying amount of other intangible assets of NOK 2 757 million at
the end of 2019 mainly consists of NOK 1632 million in capitalised

development expenses and customer relationships, trademark and
fishing licenses in Aker BioMarine of NOK 855 million. Customer
relationship has increased by NOK 405 million in 2019 due to the
acquisition of Lang Pharma Nutrition Inc., and fishing licenses totalling
NOK 92 million are reclassified from property, plant and equipment.

Capitalised development expenses consisted of NOK 1324 million
representing capitalised development projects in Aker Solutions, in
Akastor totalling NOK 169 million and in Kvaerner totalling NOK 132
million. The net change of NOK 93 million in 2019 is largely attributable to
capitalised expenses of NOK 298 million in Aker Solutions and Akastor
and NOK 73 million in Kvaerner. The increase is offset by depreciation
and impairment of NOK 341 million.

Other intangible assets are amortised over a period between 5 to 12
years.

Amortisation and impairments

This year’s amortisation of NOK 459 million (NOK 391 million in 2018)
relates to continued operations. In 2018 total amortisation is divided
between NOK 382 million in continued operations and NOK 9 million in
discontinued operations. Impairment of intangible assets of NOK 25
million (NOK 97 million in 2018) is mainly attributable to IT systems and a
strategic digitalisation project in Kvaerner and is allocated to continued
operations in 2019.

See Note 12 Impairments for more information regarding impairment
assessments.

Goodwill Other intangible assets
Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018 2019 2018
Aker Solutions 4707 4642 1386 1428
Akastor 1519 1359 309 134
Kvaerner 929 929 132 102
Aker BioMarine 813 576 841 416
Aker Energy - - 37 -
Other - - 52 36
Total 7 967 7506 2757 2116
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Note 17 | Investments in associates and joint ventures

The Aker Group has interests in several associates and joint ventures
(“"JV™), of which the most important ones are: Aker BP ASA (40 per cent,
associate), BOX Holding Inc. (49.9 per cent, associate), Solstad Offshore
ASA (231 per cent, associate), FP Bolig Holding AS (37.6 per cent,
associate), DOF Deepwater AS (50 per cent, JV), Kiewit-Kvaerner
Contractors (50 per cent, JV), K2JV ANS (51 per cent, JV), Align AS (38.8
per cent, associate), Principle Power (25.4 per cent, associate), REC
Silicon ASA (22.95 per cent, associate), Trygg IDT Holdings | Corp (50
per cent, JV), and AKOFS Offshore AS (50 per cent, JV).

Aker BP ASA is an integrated E&P company operating on the Norwegian
continental shelf,

BOX Holding Inc. owns six container vessels chartered out on long-term
bareboat contracts.

Solstad Offshore ASA owns and operates platform supply vessels,
anchor handling vessels and construction service vessels.

AKOFS Offshore AS is a provider of vessel-based subsea well
construction and intervention services to the oil and gas industry.

K2JV ANS is a partnership between Kellogg Brown & Root (Norway) AS
and Kvaerner. The partnership is constructing the Johan Sverdrup utility
and living quarter (ULQ) topside for Equinor.

DOF Deepwater AS operates in the marine sector. The company owns a
series of five anchor-handling (AHTS) vessels.

Kiewit-Kvaerner Contractors is a partnership between Peter Kiewit
Infrastructure Co and Kvaerner. The partnership was established with the
purpose of delivery of the contract awarded by ExxonMobil for the
Hebron Project gravity based structure (GBS) offshore Newfoundland,
Canada.

Principle Power Inc a floating wind power technology company.

REC Silicon ASA is a producer of silicon materials to the solar and
electronics industries.

Align AS is a supplier of technical safety and total fire-fighting solutions
for the global oil and gas market.

Trygg IDT Holdings | Corp is a pharmaceutical development company
with FDA approved products for abuse-deterrent opioids that has been
licensed to others and launched in the U.S. market.

FP Bolig Holding AS develops residential real estate projects at Fornebu
outside Oslo.

The associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.

Book value Acquisitions Share of Changes due to Other  Book value at

at1January and profits/ exchange differences  Dividends changes in 31 December
Amounts in NOK million 2019 disposals losses and hedges received equity 2019
Aker BP ASA ) 19 878 - 429 228 (2653) mo) 17773
BOX Holdings Inc. ) 1668 - 202 ms) (186) - 1565
Solstad Offshore ASA D) - - - - - - -
AKOFS Offshore AS 2) 1086 - (35) m - - 1050
K2 JV ANS 2) 24 - 130 - (153) - 1
DOF Deepwater AS 2) - - (124) - - 124 -
Kiewit-Kvaerner Contractors 2) 17 - - - - - 17
Philly Tankers AS 2) 388 123) - 5 270) - -
Align AS D) 56 - 30) 5 - - 31
Principle Power Inc 1)) - 18 (6) - - n7 130
REC Silicon ASA D - 85 - - - - 85
Trygg IDT Holdings | Corp 2) 20 - - - - - 20
FP Bolig Holding AS D) 98 - ) - - - 96
Other entities 113 (126) 2) 4 [©) 77 65
Total 23348 (146) 563 123 (3 263) 207 20 833
1) Associates 21927 12 595 121 (2 840) 191 19724
2) Joint ventures 1421 (258) (32) 3 (424) 398 1109
Total 23348 (146) 563 123 (3 263) 207 20 833

Shares of profits/losses from associates and joint ventures are based on
the companies’ net profit including profit/loss from discontinued
operations. The purpose of the investment determines where its results
are presented in the income statement. When entities are formed to
share risk in executing projects or are closely related to the operating
activities, the shares of the profits and losses are reported as part of

other income in the operating profit. Shares of profits or losses from
financial investments are reported as part of financial items.

Share of profits/losses for 2019 is allocated with NOK 334 million as other
income and NOK 229 million as share of profit/loss from associates and
joint ventures as part of financial items.
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Solstad Offshore AKOFS
Aker BP ASA BOX Holdings Inc. ASA Offshore ASY K2JV ANS
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Country Norway Marshall Islands Norway Norway Norway
Ownership and voting rights 400% 400% 499%  499% 231% 231% 500% 50,0% 51,0%  51,0%
Operating revenues 29467 30499 696 668 5245 4830 1093 448 364 1527
Operating expenses (17782) (14 433) (8) (8) (6246) (8627) (858) (269) ao8)  a27m
Financial items (2139) (1387 (284) (188) a727)  (1892) (329) 145) - -
Net profit 100%) 1242 3875 404 473 (2877) (5732) [€1)) (62) 256 256
Share of net profit result 497 1550 202 234 (665) (1324) 47) (€D 130 130
Elimination of unrealised sales gain and
other adjustments - 3) - (37) 665 - 12 1 - -
Depreciation/Impairment (67) - - - - 662 - - - -
Share of earnings 429 1547 202 197 - (662) (35) (20) 130 130
Non-current assets 101045 87647 7008 7094 27226 28608 5076 474 - -
Current assets 6310 5990 3N 463 2713 3041 638 447 39 332
Total assets 107 355 93637 7 319 7 557 29939 31649 5714 5188 39 332
Non-current liabilities (71505) (55606) 4620) 4721 (5050) (10013) (2207) (2098) - -
Current liabilities (5061 (12 053) (355) (333)  (28472) (22267) (1373) (861 37 (106)
Minority interests - - - - (3) (28) - - - -
Net assets (100%) 20788 25978 2344 2503 (3586) (658) 2134 2229 2 226
Share of net assets 8315 1039 1170 1249 (828) (152) 1067 1115 1 15
Elimination of unrealised gains and
losses, deferred payment and
adjustments (143) 80) 395 419 - 276 143) (154) - @n
Excess value 9601 9567 - - 828 (124) 126 125 - -
Balance end of period 17773 19878 1565 1668 - - 1050 1086 1 24
Dividends received 2653 1465 186 184 - = = - 153 107

2018 figures are for the period from 27 Se

Aker BP ASA

018 to 31 December 2018, see Not

2019

analysis of excess value have been performed by using simulations of

various combinations of discount rates, oil price and value growth. No
reasonably possible combination of these factors results in a value in use
being lower than the value recognised in the balance sheet as of 31
December 2019.

The excess value of NOK 9.6 billion is allocated to the Johan Sverdrup
field with NOK 7.1 billion and NOAKA-field (North of Alvheim,
Krafla/Askja) with NOK 2.4 billion. The depreciation of NOK 67 million in
2019 is attributable to the Johan Sverdrup field. Together with the
company, Aker is performing impairment assessments. Sensitivity

Aker BP ASA, Solstad Offshore ASA and REC Silicon ASA are listed companies. Shown below are the share prices and market values of the Group's
share in the companies.
Market value in

Number of shares Quoted price in - Book value in NOK

in millions NOK million NOK million
Aker BP ASA 144.0 288.00 17773 41486
Solstad Offshore ASA 67.3 0.97 - 65
REC Silicon ASA 64.2 2.68 85 172
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Note 18 | Interest-bearing assets
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Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Restricted deposits 783 528
Loans to employees 66 22
Loans to related parties 381 450
Non-current bonds - 37
Pre-delivery instalments - Finance lease receivables 136 798
Other interest-bearing receivables 416 536
Total 1782 2372
Recorded as follows:

Interest-bearing non-current receivables 1140 1921
Interest-bearing current receivables 642 451
Total 1782 2372

Restricted deposits in 2019 mainly relates to a deposit related to loan agreements in Philly Shipyard of NOK 584 million and in Ocean Yield of NOK 199

million.

Loans to related parties consists of loans to the associate FP Bolig Holding AS of NOK 52 million, the joint venture AKOFS Offshore AS of NOK 191

million, and to Aker Pensjonskasse of NOK 102 million.
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Note 19 | Leases

LEASES IN WHICH THE GROUP IS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts related to warehouses, rental of offices and factory facilities and machines and vehicles. Contracts related to leasing of
buildings and locations typically has lease periods of 10-15 years with options for renewal at market value. Lease contracts regarding IT services,
vehicles and equipment have an average lease term of 3-5 years. In 2018 the lease contracts were classified as operational leases according to IAS 17.
At the implementation of IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, The Group has applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for lease
with less than 12 months of lease term, or leases of low value items (for example IT equipment).

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities recognised in the balance sheet
Right-of-use assets

Land and  Machinery and

buildings vehicles Total Lease liabilities

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 5201 43 5243 6771
Additions 745 5 750 750
Remeasurements (65) - (65) (65)
Terminations (180) - (180) (220)
Derecognition of ROU asset due to sublease (28) - (28) -
Reclassification of property, plant and equipment 7 - 7 -
Depreciation (661) 16) 677) -
Impairment (266) - (266) -
Interest expense - - - 293
Lease payments and interests - - - (1055)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 43 - 43 108
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 4797 32 4 827 6 583
Amounts recognised in the income statement and the cash flow statement

2019
Expenses relating to short-term leases presented in other operating expenses and cost of goods sold (761)
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets presented in other operating expenses and cost of goods sold en
Expenses relating to variable lease payments presented in other operating expenses 27)
Gain on termination of lease agreements presented in other operating expenses 40
Interest on lease liabilities presented in financial expenses (293)
Total cash outflows for leases exclusive interest (762)
2018 - Operating leases under IAS 17
Amounts in NOK million Minimum lease payments — Sublease income 2018
Buildings and vessels 999 B 999
Machinery and equipment 163 - 163
Other agreements ] B 1
Leasing agreements as part of other operating expenses 1163 - 1163
Part of operating revenue _ (244) (244)
Part of cost of goods and changes in inventory 263 263

Total leasing agreements 1426 (244) 1182
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2019 2018
Finance lease 14 819 9383
Finance sublease 734 -
Total 15 553 9 383
Recorded as follows:
Non-current finance lease receivables 13513 9383
Current finance lease receivables 2 040 -
Total 15 553 9 383
Financial leases

Finance lease receivable of NOK 14.8 billion represents Ocean Yield's ownership in 48 vessels. This includes NOK 1.5 billion against the joint venture
AKOFS Offshore AS, for the lease of Aker Wayfarer. In 2018, these lease contracts were classified as financial leases according to IAS 17. See details for

the financial lease receivables in the table below:

Aker Container Other

Wayfarer vessels Tankers shipping Total
Number of vessels 1 4 29 14 48
Gross finance lease receivables
Less than one year 330 106 1278 290 2004
Between one and five years 1026 425 4026 1167 6 642
More than five years 701 585 6766 2104 10 156
Unguaranteed residual values 507 195 1677 122 2 501
Gross finance lease receivables 2564 1310 13746 3682 21304
Less: unearned finance income (113) (346) (4 053) (973) (6 485)
Total finance lease receivables 1451 965 9693 2710 14 819
Present value of minimum lease payments
Less than one year 307 104 1237 281 1930
Between one and five years 681 362 3395 1001 5439
More than five years 289 388 4237 1354 6 268
Unguaranteed residual values 173 12 824 75 1182
Total finance lease receivables 1451 965 9693 2710 14 819
Pre-delivery instalments - - - 137 137
Total finance lease receivables and related assets 1451 965 9693 2 847 14 956

Financial sublease

The Group also has financial subleases related to right-of-use assets previously classified as operational subleases according to IAS 17. After IFRS 16,
when the Group is an intermediate lessor, the subleases are classified with reference to the right-of-use assets arising from the head lease. If the lease

term in the sublease contract for right-of-use assets cover the main part of the lease term in the head lease, the sublease may be classified as a

financial sublease. In these cases, the Group derecognises right-of-use assets and recognises a receivable at the commencement of the sublease.

Movements in financial subleases from the implementation of IFRS 16 can be summarised as follows:

2019
Balance at 1 January, 2019 789
Additions 28
Interest income 30
Lease payments including interests (138)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 23
Balance at 31 December 2019 734

Balance at 31 December 2019 include NOK 197 million against the associated company Aker BP.
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The following table sets out a maturity analysis of financial sublease receivable, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the
reporting date:

Amounts in NOK million 2019
Less than one year 144
One to two years 142
Two to three years 139
Three to four years 121
Four to five years 83
More than five years 305
Gross undiscounted finance sublease receivables 935
Less: unearned finance income (201
Total finance sublease receivables 734

Operational leases (Ocean Yield)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by Ocean Yield are classified as operating leases. Revenue from
operational leases totalled NOK 909 million in 2019. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease agreements are
summarised as follows:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Less than one year 748 855
Between one and five years 2905 2971
More than five years 1854 2563
Total operating lease 5506 6 389

Operational sublease
The Group also has operational subleases for right-of-use assets classified as operational subleases according to IFRS 16. Total revenue from
operational subleases totalled NOK 168 million in 2019.
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Note 20 | Other shares and non-current assets
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Amounts in NOK millio 2019 2018
Norron funds - 26

American Shipping Company ASA 380 385

NES Global Talent Ltd. 644 530

Awilco Drilling Plc 48 76

Odfjell Drilling Ltd. 791 705

Shares in other companies 271 267

Total other shares and investments 2135 1989

Pension assets (Note 27) 2 1

Other interest-free non-current receivables 100 132

Total other non-current assets 102 132

Total other shares and other non-current assets 2236 2121

Note 21 | Inventories

Amounts in NOK 2019 2018
Raw materials 226 103

Work in progress 614 870

Finished goods 997 779

Total 1838 1752

Impairment of inventory recognised as expense during the period (194) 10on
Reversal of impairment recognised as an expense reduction during the period 71 69

Carrying amount of inventory pledged as security for liabilities was NOK 390 million as at 31 December 2019.

Note 22 | Trade and other short-term interest-free receivables

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Trade receivables 4969 5408
Contract assets 7136 4 696
Other short-term interest-free receivables 3447 3042
Total 15 552 13146

Other short-term receivables in 2019 includes prepaid expenses with NOK 2 228 million.

See also Note 6 Financial risk and exposure.
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Note 23 | Earnings per share, dividend per share, and paid-in equity

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Continued operations:

Net profit (loss) from continued operations (1940) 930
Minority interests (430) 404
Profit from continued operations attributable to equity holders of the parent (1510) 526
Discontinued operations:

Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations (64) 438
Minority interests 41 58
Profit from discontinued operations attributable to equity holders of the parent (23) 379
Total profit attributable to equity holders of the parent (1533) 906
Shares outstanding at 1 January 74 268 792 74295 513
Changes in own shares held 9 407 (26 721)
Total shares outstanding at 31 December 74 278199 74 268792
Allocation:

Issued shares at 31 December 74 321862 74321862
Own shares held (43 663) (53070)
Total shares outstanding at 31 December 74 278199 74 268792
Weighted average number of shares at 31 December 74 271928 74 282137

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
No instruments with a potential dilution effect were outstanding at 31
December 2019 or 31 December 2018.

DIVIDEND
Dividends paid in 2019 was NOK 22.50 per share, NOK 1671 million in

total. Dividends paid in 2018 was NOK 18.00 per share, NOK 1337 million

Note 24 | Minority interests

in total. No dividend will be proposed for the Annual General Meeting on
27 April 2020, but that the Board of Directors instead is authorised to
declare dividend based on the 2019 annual accounts.

PAID-IN CAPITAL
See Note 9 to the Aker ASA separate financial statement for a
specification of share capital as at 31 December 2019,

The Aker Group includes several subsidiaries owned less than 100 per cent. See Note 9 Operating segments and significant subsidiaries for key figures

for some of these companies.

Aker Aker Ocean Aker Philly Other
Amounts in NOK million Solutions Akastor Energy Kvaerner Yield BioMarine Shipyard companies Sum
Per cent minority interests as at 31 December 2019 65.24 63.30 50.79 71.29 38.28 2.00 42.44 - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 10 523 1944 367 3459 3051 - 522 41 19908
Impact of changes in accounting policies (232) 4) - - - - - - (236)
Correction previous year 59) - - - - - - - (59)
Balance at 1 January 2019 10 233 1940 367 3459 3051 - 522 41 19613
Profit for the year 70 56 (582) 167 104) ) (69) @) 471)
Other comprehensive income 8 (3N 15 12) (48) - 4 (@) 64)
Dividend (32) - - 187y (433) - - (25) (676)
New minority, release of minority 4) 20 - (3) 3) 29 - 1 41
Share issue by subsidiary - - 464 - 1495 - - 1 1971
Balance at 31 December 2019 10 276 1985 265 3425 3958 27 458 21 20414
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Minority interest in Aker Kveerner Holding

The minority interest in Aker Kvaerner Holding of NOK 5 917 million at 31

December 2019 is broken down in the table above on the companies

where Aker Kvaerner Holding has ownership interests, with NOK 3 569
million for Aker Solutions, NOK 1228 million for Akastor and NOK 1119

million for Kvaerner.

Share issue by subsidiary
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Ocean Yield received NOK 717 million through a share issue in November

20719. In addition, Ocean Yield issued in August 2019 a perpetual hybrid
callable bond of USD 125 million. These two transactions have after the

deduction of the minority share of transactions costs, increased the
minority interest by NOK 1495 million.

Share increases in Aker Energy AS during 2019 from The Resource Group

TRG AS and other minority shareholders have increased minority
interests by NOK 464 million.

Note 25 | Other comprehensive income

Total
translation
Translation Fair value Hedging and other Retained Minority Total
Amounts in NOK million reserve  reserves  reserves reserves earnings Total interests equity
2019
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses) - - - - (55) (55) 94) (149)
Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value - 9 - 9 - 9 22 31
Items that will not be reclassified to income statement - 9 - 9 (55) (46) (72) (118)
Debt investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value - - - - - - - -
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges - - 40 40 - 40 73 n3
Reclassified to profit or loss: debt investments at
FVOCI, translation and cash flow hedges (37) - (15) (52) - (52) (93) (145)
Currency translation differences 77 - - 77 - 77 79 156
Changes in other comprehensive income from
associated and joint venture companies 247 - (84) 163 - 163 (51 Ll
Items that may be reclassified to income statement
subsequently 287 - (59) 228 - 228 8 235
Other comprehensive income 2019 287 9 (59) 237 (55) 182 (64) n7
Total
translation
Translation Fair value Hedging and other Retained Minority Total
Amounts in NOK million reserve  reserves  reserves reserves earnings Total interests equity
2018
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses) - - - - (30) (30) (53) 82)
Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value - 82 - 82 - 82 (16) 66
Items that will not be reclassified to income statement - 82 - 82 (30) 52 (68) (16)
Debt investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value - 4 - 4 - 4 2 6
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges - - (59) (59) - (59) (36) (95)
Reclassified to profit or loss: debt investments at
FVOCI, translation and cash flow hedges (165) - (12) a77) - a77) (301 (478)
Currency translation differences 362 - - 362 - 362 153 515
Changes in other comprehensive income from
associated and joint venture companies 1151 - (23) 1128 3 1131 2 1133
Items that may be reclassified to income statement
subsequently 1348 4 (94) 1258 3 1261 (180) 1081
Other comprehensive income 2018 1348 86 (94) 1340 27) 1313 (248) 1065
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Note 26 | Interest-bearing liabilities

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Secured bank loans 24 459 17 851
Unsecured bank loans 3431 988
Unsecured bond issues 11006 1021
Convertible loan 863 -
Loan from associates and other related parties 12 12
Overdraft facilities 274 132
Other interest-bearing liabilities 142 423
Total interest-bearing liabilities 40187 30427

Recorded as follows:

Current liabilities 6762 5682
Non-current liabilities 33425 24 745
Total interest-bearing liabilities 40187 30427

CHANGES IN THE GROUP'S INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES IN 2019:

Amounts in NOK million Non-current Current Total
Interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2018 24 745 5682 30 427
Bond in Aker Solutions 1000 - 1000
Drawn bank facility in Aker Solutions 600 - 600
Drawn bank facility in Ocean Yield 6 053 - 6 053
Bond in Ocean Yield 750 - 750
Drawn bank facility in Akastor 1135 - 1135
Drawn bank facility in Aker ASA and holding companies 1724 - 1724
Drawn Schuldschein loan in Aker ASA and holding companies 974 - 974
Bond in Aker ASA and holding companies 1500 - 1500
Drawn bank facility in Aker BioMarine 1455 - 1455
Convertible subordinated bond in Aker Energy 851 - 851
Other new loans and loan fees 301 462 763
Change in credit facilities - (33) (33)
Total payments of interest-bearing loans 16 343 429 16 772
Repayment of bank facilities in Aker Solutions - (1000) (1000)
Repayment of bonds in Aker ASA and holding companies (350) (1372) (1722)
Repayment of bank facilities in Ocean Yield (1426) (1691 3 n17)
Repayment of bank facilities in Akastor (455) - (455)
Other repayments (367) (454) (821)
Total repayments of interest-bearing loans (2597) (4 517) (7 114)
Acquisition and sale of subsidiaries 157 (287) (130)
Reclassification / first year instalments (5432) 5432 -
Currency translation and other changes 209 23 232
Interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2019 33425 6 762 40187

Currency adjustments total NOK 0.2 billion and are mainly attributable to the USD loans described above. Loans denominated in USD at the end of the
year totalled USD 2.9 billion. A 40 per cent increase in the USD exchange rate compared to the rate of 8.78 on the balance sheet date would have
caused an increase in debt expressed in NOK of NOK 10.1 billion.
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CONTRACTUAL TERMS OF INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019:
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Nominal value Carrying
Amounts in NOK million Currency Nominal interest rate Maturity incurrency amount (NOK)
Aker Solutions
Unsecured bond 2022 NOK 3 mths Nibor + 315% July 2022 1500 1503
Unsecured bond 2024 NOK 3 mths Nibor + 32.00% June 2024 1000 993
Unsecured bank loan - Term loan NOK  Nibor +1.10% March 2023 600 582
Unsecured bank loan - Brazilian Development Bank BRL  862% 2020 to 2024 190 415
Other loans and loan fees 4
Total Aker Solutions 3497
Akastor
Unsecured bank loan NOK Nibor + 3.25% December 2021 800 794
Unsecured bank loan - Term loan NOK 4.00% April 2027 180 161
Unsecured bank loan Usb Libor + 3.25% December 2021 56 494
Total Akastor 1448
Ocean Yield
Secured loans in USD ush Libor + 0.66% - 2.40% 2020 to 2029 1845 16 013
Secured loans in NOK NOK 3.69% 2025 489 485
Unsecured bond NOK Nibor +3.65% - 4.5% 2020 to 2024 2709 2689
Total Ocean Yield 19186
Aker BioMarine
Secured bank loans Ush Libor + 250% - 3.95% 2022 t0 2023 166 1461
Secured bank loans Ush 313% 2031 106 928
Other mortgage loans NOK 2023 t0 2026 99 99
Other loans and overdraft facilities 406
Total Aker BioMarine 2894
Aker ASA and holding companies
Unsecured bond issue NOK Nibor +1.90% - 5.00% 2020 to 2024 5 851 5822
Schuldschein loan EUR 1.674% / Euribor +1.60%  March 2024 100 986
Term loan facilities UsD Libor + margin 2022 550 4821
Total Aker ASA and holding companies 11629
Other companies
FP Eiendom NOK Nibor +1.65% December 2022 125 125
Philly Shipyard Usb 2.63% March 2020 60 526
Aker Energy UsDh 5.5% 98 863
Other companies - 18
Total other companies 1532
Total interest-bearing liabilities 40187

Aker Solutions

Akastor

Unsecured bonds: The bonds are unsecured on a negative pledge basis
and include no dividend restrictions. The bonds issued are listed on the
Oslo Stock Exchange.

Bank loans: The terms and conditions of the Brazilian Development Bank
loan include restrictions which are customary for this kind of facility.

Credit facility: Aker Solutions has a credit facility of NOK 5 billion with
expiry in March 2023. As per the end of 2019, NOK 600 million was
drawn on the facility.

Mortgage loans: The terms and conditions include restrictions which are
customary for this kind of facility, including inter alia negative pledge
provisions and restrictions on acquisitions, disposals and mergers. There
are also certain change of control provisions included.

Kvaerner
Kvaerner has a revolving credit facility of NOK 2 billion with maturity in
September 2024. The facility was undrawn at 31 December 2019.
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Ocean Yield

Mortgage loan: The mortgage loans are with different bank syndicates
and are secured in 61 vessels with a book value of NOK 22.7 billion. The
mortgage loans have an average debt maturity of 4 years with maturity
from September 2020 to August 2031. Interests are mainly paid
quarterly.

Unsecured bonds: The senior unsecured bond issues have a floating
interest, which is paid quarterly. The Company has entered into cross
currency interest rate swaps from NOK interest to USD interest.

The facilities include financial covenants as to equity ratio, interest
coverage ratio and minimum liquidity. Ocean Yield was in compliance
with all covenants at year-end 2019.

Aker BioMarine
Secured loans: Instalments and interest are paid semi-annually.

The mortgages and overdraft facility, totalling NOK 2 882 million, are
secured in ships and other assets with book values of NOK 2 916 million.

The loan and overdraft facilities include several financial covenants. Aker
BioMarine was in compliance with all covenants at year-end 2019.

Aker ASA and holding companies

Senior unsecured bonds: The maturity dates and interest rates are shown
in Note 14 to Aker ASA’s separate financial statements. The principal falls
due on the maturity date and interest is payable quarterly.

Schuldschein loan: The loan consists of a EUR 30 million fixed interest
tranche with a fixed interest of 1.67 per cent, and a EUR 70 million
floating interest tranche with an interest of Euribor plus 1.60 per cent
margin. The loan is unsecured.

Mortgage loan: The mortgage loans have guarterly interest payments.
The loans are secured with 42.8 million Aker BP ASA shares.
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The bonds and loans have an average debt maturity of 2.9 years with
maturity from May 2020 to November 2024.

There are several covenants associated with Aker ASA and holding
companies’ loans, including debt ratio and total internal loans and
guarantees in relation to Aker ASA and holding companies net asset
value. Aker ASA was in compliance with all covenants at the end of 2019.

FP Eiendom

Loans with a group of Norwegian banks with floating interest. Interest
and instalments are payable quarterly until maturity. The loans mature
with NOK 10 million in 2020 and 2021 and NOK 105 million after 2022.

Philly Shipyard
The company’s loans are secured in full with restricted cash.

Aker Energy

Aker Energy entered into an agreement on 4 July 2019 to issue USD 100
million of subordinated convertible bonds to Africa Finance Corporation.
The bonds have a coupon of 5.5 per cent per year and will be converted
to equity in the event of an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of Aker Energy.
The bonds have a maturity of five years, with an option to extend with
another three years. Aker Energy shall redeem the bonds in full if the
Plan for Development and Operations of the oil field DWT/CTP has not
been approved by all relevant governmental authorities within 11 April
2020, and hence the loan has been classified as current liability as at 31
December 2019.

Collateral

Collateral for interest-bearing debt of NOK 24.9 billion has been issued
related to secured loans, construction loans and overdraft facilities. The
book value of the assets used as collateral is NOK 31 billion.
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Note 27 | Pension expenses and pension liabilities

The Aker Group’s Norwegian companies mainly cover their pension The discount rates used in 2019 and 2018 are based on the Norwegian
liabilities through group pension plans managed by life insurance high-guality corporate bond rate.

companies. The Norwegian companies in the Group are subject to the

Norwegian Act relating to mandatory occupational pensions, and the

Group meets the requirements of this legislation.

The following assumptions have been made when calculating liabilities
and expenses in Norway:

Profit/loss 2019

In addition, some of the Norwegian companies are members of an Balance 2019  and balance 2018
agreement-based early retirement plan (AFP). The schemes provide a

Expected return 2.2% 2.8%

large proportion of the Norwegian employees the opportunity to retire
before the normal retirement age in Norway of 67 years. Employees who Discount rate 2.2% 2.8%
choose retirement will retain a lifelong benefit from the age of 62 years.

Wage growth 2.25% 2.75%

The Group’s companies outside Norway have pension plans based on
. . o/ _ 0, 0/ 0,

local practice and regulations. Pension adjustment 0.0%-4.0% 0.0%-4.0%
The Group also has uninsured pension liabilities for which provisions have Mortality table K2013 K2013
been made.
PENSION EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN PROFIT AND LOSS:
Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Expense related to benefits earned during the period 107 90
Interest expense accrued on pension liabilities 38 35
Expected return on pension funds 12) an
Service costs 1 1
Pension expense recognised from defined benefit plans 134 14
Contribution plans (employer’s contribution) 692 658
Total pension expense recognised in profit and loss 826 772
Allocation in income statement:
Pension cost recognised as part of wages and other personal expenses 800 749
Interest expenses and expected return recognised as part of net financial items 26 23
Total pension expense recognised in profit and loss 826 772

REMEASUREMENT LOSS (GAIN) INCLUDED IN OTHER COMRPEHENSIVE INCOME:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Change in discount rate and other financial assumptions 45 (4
Change in life expectancy - 6
Change in other assumptions 142 95
Other comprehensive income - loss/(gain) before tax 188 97
Tax (39) (as5)
Other comprehensive income - loss/(gain) after tax 149 82

CHANGES IN NET PRESENT VALUE OF BENEFIT-BASED PENSION LIABILITIES:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Net pension liabilities at 1 January 1180 1189
Pension expense recognised from defined benefit plans 134 N4
Acquisitions and disposals - )
Pension payments (60) (68)
Payments received (135) 130
Remeasurements included in other comprehensive income 188 97
Effects of changes in exchange rates and other changes 2 (16)

Net pension liabilities at 31 December 1308 1180
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NET DEFINED-BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS RECOGNISED IN THE BALANCE SHEET:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Pension liabilities at 31 December (2969) (2872)
Fair value of pension funds at 31 December 1660 1692
Net liabilities for benefit-based pension liabilities at 31 December (1308) (1180)
Pension funds 2 1
Pension liabilities (1309) (1181
Net liabilities for benefit-based pension liabilities at 31 December (1308) (1180)
PLAN ASSETS PER CATEGORY:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Bonds 895 1139
Other 640 434
Total funds Norwegian plans 1535 1573
Total funds for plans outside Norway 125 19
Total funds 1660 1692

The bond investments are mainly in Norwegian municipalities.

Norwegian municipalities are assumed to have a rating equal to AA, but

there are no official ratings for the majority of these investments. The
remaining bond investments are primarily in the Norwegian market
within bonds classified as being “Investment Grade”.

SENSITIVITY (NORWEGIAN PLANS):

In the table below, the effect on pension expenses and pension liabilities
is depicted given a one percentage point increase or decrease in the
discount rate. The effect of a one percentage point increase or reduction
in pension adjustment is shown as well.

1%-point 1%-point
Amounts in NOK million increase reduction
Discount rate 24) 24
Future pension growth 25 (@)

Note 28 | Other interest-free long-term liabilities
Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
US pension guarantee provision (see Note 12 to the Aker ASA financial statement) 71 89
Derivatives (see also Note 31) 217 232
Deferred revenue and deferred considerations 352 381
Other interest-free long-term debt 581 135
Total other interest-free long-term liabilities 1222 837
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Note 29 | Provisions

Annual accounts |

Amounts in NOK million Warranties  Abandonment provision Other Total
Balance at 31 December 2018 828 223 1513 2564
Effect of implementing IFRS 16 - - 277) (277)
Balance at 1 January 2019 828 223 1236 2288
Provisions made during the year 148 108 283 540
Provisions used during the year (183) (225) a77) (585)
Provisions reversed during the year (433) - n (505)
Reclassifications 10 - 8 18
Currency exchange adjustment 6 3 10 19
Balance at 31 December 2019 377 109 1289 1774
Non-current liabilities - - 101 101
Current ligbilities 377 109 1188 1673
Balance at 31 December 2019 377 109 1289 1774
Amounts in NOK million Warranties  Abandonment provision Other Total
Balance at 1 January 2018 861 247 1066 2174
Acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries - - 75 75
Provisions made during the year 217 88 837 1142
Provisions used during the year 129) Me) (442) (687)
Provisions reversed during the year (109) - (1e1) (270)
Reclassifications an (8) 94 75
Currency exchange adjustment - 12 43 55
Balance at 31 December 2018 828 223 1513 2564
Non-current liabilities 1 - 220 221
Current liabilities 827 223 1292 2343
Balance at 31 December 2018 828 223 1513 2564

Warranties

The provision for warranties mainly relates to the possibility that the
group, based on contractual agreements, may have to perform
guarantee work related to products and services delivered to customers.
The provision is based on Aker’s contractual obligations and empirical
estimates of the frequency and cost of work that may need to be done.
The warranty period is normally two to five years and any cash effects
will arise during this period.

NOK 182 million has been provided for warranties in Aker Solutions, NOK
65 million in Akastor, NOK 114 million in Kvaerner and NOK 15 million in
Philly Shipyard. Reversed warranty provision in Aker Solutions amounted
to NOK 341 million in 2019, mainly due to updated and refined estimates
for warranty provisions.

Removal and decommissioning liabilities
The current liability of NOK 109 million relates to the FPSO Dhirubhai-1in
Ocean Yield. Due to delays, the cost of the decommissioning process has

increased, and an additional provision of USD 12.2 million has been
recognised in 2019. The decommissioning work was finalised in February
2020.

Other provisions

Other provisions mainly comprise Aker Energy with NOK 759 million,
Akastor with NOK 104 million, Aker Solutions with NOK 339 million,
Kvaerner with NOK 56 million and FP Eiendom with NOK 30 million. The
provision in Aker Energy is mainly related to contingent liability from the
acquisition of Hess Ghana. The provision will be settled when the Plan of
Development is approved by the Ghanaian authorities. Other provisions
relate to workforce reductions and restructuring in addition to onerous
customer contracts with expected loss upon completion, in addition to
restructuring provisions. In 2018, onerous lease for vacant premises was
also included in other provisions. After the implementation of IFRS 16 on'1
January 2019, the right-of-use assets has been adjusted by onerous
lease.
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Note 30 | Trade and other payables

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Trade accounts payable 3306 2732
Contract liabilities 1447 1764
Accruals of operating- and financial expenses 8 206 7931
Other current interest-free liabilities 2201 2102
Total 15160 14 529

Other current liabilities include VAT, payroll tax and tax withholding and reserves for unpaid wages and holiday payments.

Note 31| Financial instruments

See also Note 6 Financial risk and exposure for description of financial instruments.

CARRYING AMOUNTS AND ESTIMATES OF FAIR VALUE

2019 2018

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amounts in NOK million amount value amount value
Financial assets carried at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCH P 1102 1102 1030 1030
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (including derivatives)? 1126 1126 1108 1108
Interest rate swaps - hedge accounting at FVOCI 5 5 - -
Foreign exchange contracts - hedge accounting at FVOCI 209 209 342 342
Total financial assets carried at fair value 2442 2442 2 480 2 480
Financial assets carried at amortised cost
Loans and receivables 22 547 22 546 17162 17 746
Cash and cash equivalents (including long-term restricted deposits, see Note 18) 12 218 12 218 10 314 10 314
Total financial assets carried at amortised cost 34764 34764 27 476 28 061
Financial liabilities carried at fair value
Interest rate swaps - hedge accounting at FVOCI - - 9 9
Foreign exchange contracts - hedge accounting at FVOCI 46 46 190 190
Derivative contracts - not hedge accounting at fair value through profit and loss 585 585 618 618
Other liabilities at fair value through profit and loss ¥ 324 324 74 74
Total financial liabilities carried at fair value 955 955 891 891
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
Bonds 11006 11399 1021 11282
Other interest-bearing debt 29181 29 245 19 406 19 469
Interest-free non-current financial liabilities 759 759 518 518
Interest-free current financial liabilities 11154 11154 10 724 10 724
Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 52100 52 557 41669 41993

1) Consist of investments in debt instruments with NOK 613 million and investments in equity instruments with NOK 489 million. These investments are
I struments are not held for trading and are classified as medium to long-term strategic investments. The largest investment
any ASA with NOK 380 million
JOK 1033 million, derivatives with NOK 15 million and NOK 78 million in debt instruments / contingent consideration. These
e mandatory measured at 1 Je through profit and loss in accordance with IFRS 9,
3)Consists of total return swap agreement with underlying American Shipping Company ASA shares with NOK 48 million and deferred consideration of NOK 276
million. These items are mandatory measured at fair value through profit and loss in accordance with IFRS 9

ts of equity instruments w.
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NOK 3.2 billion of financial liabilities classified as fixed rate in the interest profile table (Note 6) are liabilities that pursuant to contract have floating
interest rates but have been swapped to fixed rates using interest rate swaps. In the table above, the changes in the fair value of these derivatives due
to interest rate changes are shown on the line “Interest rate swaps-hedge accounting at FVOC!I” and the line “Derivative contracts - not hedge
accounting at fair value through profit and 10ss”.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The table below analyses financial instruments by valuation method. See Note 5 Accounting principles for definitions of the different levels in the fair
value hierarchy.

2019
Amounts in NOK million Levell Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets carried at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 380 8 714
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (including derivatives) 56 20 1049
Interest rate swaps - hedge accounting at FVOCI - 5 -
Foreign exchange contracts - hedge accounting at FVOCI - 209 -
Total 436 243 1763
Financial liabilities carried at fair value
Foreign exchange contracts - hedge accounting at FVOCI - 46 -
Derivative contracts - not hedge accounting at fair value through profit and loss - 585 -
Other liabilities at fair value through profit and loss - 39 285
Total = 670 285
Fair value interest-bearing financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
Bonds 8550 - 2849
Other interest-bearing debt - 27 489 1755
Total 8550 27 489 4604

CHANGES FOR RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS FOR FINANCIAL ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS LEVEL 3 AS AT 31 DECEMBER:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Carrying amount as at 1 January 1534 1095
Transfer to level 3 4 9
Total gains or losses for the period recognised in the income statement 207 4]
Total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income 17 14)
Purchases 3 765
Divestment and other (2) (363)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 1763 1534

The amount of gains or losses for the period included in profit and loss and other comprehensive
income that is attributable to gains or losses related to assets and liabilities at level 3 still held at
the end of the reporting period 224 1
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Note 32 | Contingencies, guarantee liabilities and legal claims

GUARANTEES

In the course of ordinary operations, completion guarantees are issued,
and advance payments are received from customers. Guarantees are
typically issued to the customer by a financial institution.

Akastor ASA has issued financial guarantees in favour of financial
institutions related to financing of the five vessels in DOF Deepwater AS.
The guarantee was NOK 495 million per 31 December 2019 (NOK 507
million per 31 December 2018), of which NOK 177 million has been
provided for under other non-current liabilities as part of the recognition
of Akastor’s accumulated share of the company’s losses.

Akastor AS has issued a financial parent company indemnity guarantee
of NOK 432 million and a financial guarantee of NOK 136 million in favour
of finance institutions for fulfilment of lease obligations related to Avium
Subsea AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of AKOFS Offshore. In addition,
Akastor is guaranteeing the performance of AKOFS Norway Operations
AS (operating AKOFS Seafarer) under the 5-year charter agreement with
Equinor. The total contract value of this charter agreement is NOK 3.3
billion. In addition, Akastor ASA has issued a guarantee for payment of
preferred dividend from AKOFS Offshore to its other investees over six
years for a total amount of NOK 319 million.

LEGAL DISPUTES

Through their activities, the group companies are involved in various
disputes all over the world. Provisions are made to cover expected losses
resulting from such disputes if a negative outcome is likely and a reliable
estimate can be prepared. However, the final decision in such cases will
always be associated with uncertainty, and a liability may thus exceed
the provision made in the accounts.

Kvaerner - Nordsee Ost Project

In 2012, arbitration related to the Nordsee Ost project was filed. The last
wind jackets for the project were delivered in October 2013. The
arbitration process for the project will take time due to high complexity,
and it is currently not possible to estimate when the arbitration will be
finalised. There is substantial uncertainty with respect to the final
financial outcome of the Nordsee Ost project.

TAX CLAIMS

Group companies are regularly involved in matters under consideration
by local tax authorities in various countries. The group treats matters,
which have not been finally resolved, in accordance with the information
available at the time the annual accounts are issued.

Aker Solutions - Tax claim Brazil

The tax authorities in the state of Parana in Brazil has claimed the Aker
Solutions company in Brazil for approximately BRL 265 million (NOK 580
million) including penalties and interests, stating that the conditions for
the export exemption from ICMS are not fulfilled. ICMS is a value added
tax on sales and services related to the movement of goods.
Management has the opinion that a successful outcome in the
administrative appeal system or in a judicial process is likely based on
current law and practice. The claim is regarded as a contingent liability
since the possible outcome will be confirmed by the occurrence of an
uncertain future event (a potential court decision). No provision has been
made for this contingent liability since a cash outflow is not considered
probable, nor is it possible to establish a reliable estimate.

Note 33 | Transactions and agreements with related parties

Aker ASA’s main shareholder is TRG Holding AS, controlled by Kjell Inge
Rakke through The Resource Group TRG AS (TRG AS). The Aker Group
treats all companies controlled by Kjell Inge Rakke as related parties.

TRANSACTIONS WITH KJELL INGE RGKKE AND FAMILY

Through TRG AS, Kjell Inge Rgkke owns various companies with
investments in industrial properties, as well as 40 per cent of the shares
of the commercial real estate company Fornebu Gateway AS. Companies
within the group are tenants at several of these properties. In 2019,
companies within the group paid NOK 90 million in rent to the real estate
companies owned by TRG and NOK 186 million in rent to Fornebu
Gateway AS (NOK 89 million to the real estate companies owned by TRG
and NOK 170 million in rent to Fornebu Gateway AS in 2018). Except for
contractual annual CPl-adjustments, the rent has been unchanged
subsequent to TRG taking over the ownership of the properties a few
years ago.

Since 2015, Aker ASA has guaranteed for certain pension liabilities in TRG
AS (previously Aker Maritime Finance AS) that the company took over
from Aker ASA in 2015 (see Note 12 to Aker ASA’s separate financial
statement).

TRG AS has in 2019 contributed NCK 454 million in equity to Aker
Energy AS, and has as of year-end 2019 contributed a total of NOK 925
million in equity to Aker Energy since the establishment of the company.
TRG’s subsidiary TRG Energy AS and related entities, that explores
another oil field in Ghana, were in 2019 invoiced NOK 74 million from
Aker Energy AS for manhours related to that oil field.

When Aker employees perform services for Kjell Inge Rakke or other
related parties, Aker’s expenses are billed in full. In 2019, TRG AS and
Kjell Inge Rakke paid NOK 2.6 million plus value added tax for services
and rental of premises (NOK 2.2 million in 2018). TRG AS and Kjell Inge
Rakke have provided services to Aker for NOK 1.4 million in 2019 (NOK
1.6 million in 2018).

Except for the above-mentioned transactions, and remuneration for his
work as chairman of the board of Aker ASA and board representative in
other companies within the group (see Note 34), Aker has no material
outstanding accounts or other transactions with Kjell Inge Rakke.

Kristian Rokke, son of Kjell Inge Rakke, is employed as Chief Investment
Officer in Aker ASA. See Note 34 for information about his remuneration.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH EMPLOYEES

In April 2019, Aker sold 1381 071 shares in Aker BioMarine AS to KMMN
Invest Il AS, a company wholly owned by Aker BioMarine’s CEO Matts
Johansen. The sale represented two per cent of the shares in Aker
BioMarine AS, and the consideration of NOK 48 million represented
estimated fair value of the shares at the time of the transaction. In
connection with the sale, KMMN Invest I AS was granted an interest-
bearing seller credit of NOK 45 million with the shares sold as security. At
year-end 2019, the total outstanding amount for the seller credit was
NOK 47 million including accrued interest.

TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES OUTSIDE
ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS

Several of the companies within the group have transactions with related
parties to the group as part of their ordinary course of business. This
particularly applies to Aker BP, who received products and services from
several companies within the group, including Aker Solutions, Akastor,
Kvaerner, Ocean Yield and Cognite. Below are descriptions of other
transactions with associates and joint ventures outside ordinary course
of business.

DOF Deepwater AS

Aker's subsidiary Akastor have issued a shareholder’s loan to the joint
venture DOF Deepwater AS (a company owned 50 per cent by Akastor
and 50 per cent by DOF ASA). During 2019, the shareholder’s loan was
increased by NOK 60 million. As of 31 December 2019, the balance of the
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shareholder’s loan was NOK 97 million, while the carrying amount has
been reduced to zero due to recognition of Akastor’'s accumulated share
of the company’s losses. Akastor ASA has issued financial guarantees in
favour of financial institutions related to financing of the five vessels in
DOF Deepwater AS (see Note 32).

AKOFS Offshore AS

As of 31 December 2019, Akastor had interest-bearing receivables
against AKOFS Offshore AS and subsidiaries amounting to NOK 191
million in total. Further, Akastor has made available a NOK 100 million
revolving facility to AKOFS Seafarer AS from commencement of the
company’s contract with Equinor.

Akastor has issued a financial parent company indemnity guarantee of
NOK 43 million and a financial guarantee of NOK 136 million in favour of
finance institutions for fulfilment of lease obligations related to Avium
Subsea AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of AKOFS Offshore.

G&A Air AS

G&A Air AS was until T November 2019 owned 50 per cent by Aker ASA,
upon when Aker sold all its shares in the company. G&A Air AS owns an
airplane that is leased and operated by Sundt Air Management who
based on market terms (for the use) directly invoices the users of the
airplane.

Aker BP ASA
Aker BP has in 2019 invoiced NOK 19 million to Aker Energy AS for
services related to the development of Aker Energy’s oil field in Ghana.

TRANSACTIONS AND OUTSTANDING BALANCES INVOLVING RELATED PARTIES IN 2019 AND 2018

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Income statement:

Operating revenues 3535 4067
Operating expenses amn (363)
Depreciation and impairment ROU assets (203) -
Net financial items an 4
Balance sheet:

Right of use assets 1187 -
Finance lease receivable 1648 1571
Interest-bearing receivable 381 450
Trade receivable and other interest-free current assets 362 669
Total assets 3578 2690
Trade liabilities and other interest-free current liabilities (15) 18)
Interest-bearing debt 12) 12)
|ease liabilities (1418) -
Net exposure 2133 2 660

The operating revenues above for 2019 mainly relate to the delivery of equipment and services from Aker Solutions to Aker BP and sale of man-hours

from Kvaerner to joint venture projects.
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Note 34 | Salary and other remuneration to the Board of Directors,
nomination committee, CEO and other senior executives

REMUNERATION TO AND SHARES OWNED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Shares owned as of

nounts in NOK 31 December 2019 2019 2018
Kjell Inge Rgkke (Chairman of the Board) » 50673577 620 000 600 000
Finn Berg Jacobsen (Deputy Chairman) 5159 425 000 415 000
Kristin Krohn Devold (Director) - 375000 365000
Karen Simon (Director) - 375 000 365000
Anne Marie Cannon (Director until 26 April 2019) - 125 000 365000
Atle Trangy (Employee representative)? - 187 500 182 500
Arnfinn Stense (Employee representative)? - 187 500 182 500
Tommy Angeltveit (Employee representative)? - 187 500 182 500
Amram Hadida (Employee representative until 26 April 2019)2 - 62 500 182 500
Total 2545 000 2840 000

1) Owns 96.5 per cent of The Resource Group TRG AS (TRG
also own: )

2)The employe
However, b

labour organisatior

ve from the @/*’/J’OV@@S a
tly the employee represent.

REMUNERATION TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

AS/ TRG ASOWM 99.71 per

rcent o‘ TRG Ho /d//vo S which owns 68.18 per cent of Aker ASA. TRG AS

rally have the same compensation
atives from LO and other

Amounts in NOK 2019 2018
Finn Berg Jacobsen (Chairman of the audit committee) 190 000 185 000
Atle Trangy 135 000 130 000
Kristin Krohn Devold 135 000 130 000
Total 460 000 445 000
REMUNERATION TO THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Amounts in NOK 2019 2018
Kjell Inge Rakke (Chairman of the nomination committee) 45 000 45 000
Gerhard Heiberg 45 000 45000
Leif-Arne Langay 45 000 45000
Total 135 000 135 000

All remunerations are vested during the year. Where amounts have not
been paid by the end of the year, provisions have been made in
accordance with best estimates.

In 2019, The Resource Group TRG AS (TRG) earned NOK 665 000 in
board remuneration (remuneration to the nomination committee
included) from Aker ASA (NOK 645 000 in 2018), through Chairman of
the Board Kjell Inge Rgkke. TRG also earned board remuneration from
other Aker-owned companies totalling NOK 1594 000 through Kjell Inge
Rakke in 2019 (NOK 1756 000 in 2018). See also Note 33 Transactions
and agreements with related parties.

The board members earned no payments from Aker ASA in 2019 or 2018
except as described above. Some board members also hold directorships
in other companies within the Aker Group.

AKER’S ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Aker ASA's numerous operational companies are organised into two
portfolios; one industrial and one financial. At the end of 2019, Aker’s
executive team consisted of President and CEO @yvind Eriksen, CFO
Svein Oskar Stoknes and Chief Investment Officer Kristian Rakke.
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GUIDELINES FOR REMUNERATION OF THE CEC AND SENIOR
COMPANY EXECUTIVES

Below are the advisory and binding guidelines for remuneration of the
CEO and senior company executives.

The shutdown of societies and businesses as a result of the ongoing
COVID-19 crisis has had significant negative effects on the world
economy and most industries and businesses have been negatively
affected. Demand for oil and gas has dropped significantly and there is
an imminent danger of recession. For the parent company Aker, with
few employees and relatively low operating costs in relation to the
values managed under active ownership, salaries are the largest
expense item. As a result of the increased uncertainty, it has been
decided that there will be no salary adjustments for the employees at
Aker ASA in 2020, nor has any 2020 bonus program been launched. In
addition, Aker’s President and CEQ @yvind Eriksen has requested that
his salary be reduced to half for the remainder of the year.

Advisory guidelines

The total remuneration package for executives consists of a fixed salary,
standard employee pension and insurance coverage and a variable salary
element. The main purpose of the system is to stimulate a strong and
enduring profit-oriented culture that ensures share price growth.

The intention of the variable salary element is to promote the
achievement of good financial results and leadership in accordance with
the company’s values and business ethics. The variable salary element
has three main components. The first component is a payment based on
the dividend on the company’s shares, and the second component is a
payment based on personal goal achievement. Work on special projects
may entitle an employee to an additional bonus. The third component of
the variable salary is described under “Binding guidelines” below.

Senior executives participate in a collective pension and insurance
scheme open to all employees. The collective pension and insurance
scheme applies for salaries up to 12G. For further information regarding
the pension scheme, see Note 11 to Aker ASA’s separate financial
statements. The members of the executive team are offered standard
employment contracts and standard employment conditions with
respect to notice periods and severance pay. Their employment
contracts can be terminated on three months’ notice. If the company
terminates a contract, the executive is entitled to three months’ pay after
the end of the notice period.

Binding guidelines

One of the three components of the variable salary is a granting of bonus
shares calculated on the basis of the increase in value-adjusted equity.
The other components of the variable salary are described under
“Advisory guidelines” above. In addition, the employees have an option
to buy Aker ASA shares at a discount (see Note 2 to the separate
financial statement for Aker ASA). The company does not offer stock
option programmes for its employees.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

@yvind Eriksen’s appointment as President and CEO can be terminated
by either party on three months’ notice. If his contract is terminated by
the company, Mr. Eriksen is entitled to three months’ notice and three
months’ salary from the date of termination. The remuneration plan for
Mr. Eriksen includes a fixed salary, standard employee pension and
insurance coverage and a variable salary element. The variable salary
element may total up to two-thirds of the fixed salary. In 2019, Mr.
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Eriksen earned a salary of NOK 18 478 817 (NOK 17 260 590 in 2018), and
variable pay of NOK 11457 256 mainly paid in December 2019 (NOK 11 316
948 in 2018). The value of additional remuneration was NOK 26 694 in
2019 (NOK 31722 in 2018), while the net pension expense for Mr. Eriksen
was NOK 180 685 in 2019 (NOK 176 220 in 2018). As at 31 December 2019,
Mr. Eriksen owns 219 072 shares in Aker ASA through his wholly-owned
company Ergy AS. Ergy AS also owns 325 000 shares in Ocean Yield
ASA, 208 220 shares in Cognite AS and 100 000 Class-B shares (0.2 per
cent) in TRG Holding AS as at 31 December 2019.

Svein Oskar Stoknes acceded the position of CFO in Aker on 1T August
2019. The appointment can be terminated by either party on three
months’ notice. If his contract is terminated by the company, Mr. Stoknes
is entitled to three months’ salary from the date of termination. Any
salary or remuneration received during the period of severance will be
deducted from the company’s severance payment. The remuneration
plan for Mr. Stoknes includes a fixed salary, standard employee pension
and insurance coverage and a variable salary element. Mr. Stoknes’s
variable salary also includes a bonus-share award scheme including an
option to buy Aker ASA shares at a discount (see Aker ASA Note 2 for a
description of the scheme). Mr. Stoknes’s contractual variable salary may
total up to 140 per cent of his fixed salary. Mr. Stoknes earned a fixed
salary of NOK 1446 590 in 2019, as well as variable pay of

NOK 2 062 807. For 2019, this includes the vested value of bonus shares
awarded in 2020. Of the variable pay, NOK 581530 will only be paid in
2020 if Aker ASA pays dividends totaling NOK 23.50 per share during
the year. The value of additional remuneration was NOK 6 132 in 2019,
while the net pension expense for Mr. Stoknes was NOK 74 610 in 2019. In
2019, Mr. Stoknes purchased 1786 shares at a discount as part of the
employee share purchase program. As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Stoknes
owns 2 786 shares in Aker ASA. In addition, Mr. Stoknes owns 26 444
shares in Aker Solutions ASA, and 1297 shares in Akastor ASA as at 31
December 2019.

Frank O. Reite resigned from his position as CFO on 31 July 2019. The
remuneration plan for Mr. Reite included a fixed salary, standard
employee pension and insurance coverage and a variable salary element.
Mr. Reite’s variable salary also included a bonus-share award scheme
including an option to buy Aker ASA shares at a discount (see Aker ASA
Note 2 for a description of the scheme). Mr. Reite’s contractual variable
salary could total up to 140 per cent of his fixed salary. Mr. Reite earned a
fixed salary of NOK 2 794 268 in 2019 (NOK 4 583 902 in 2018), as well as
variable pay of NOK 3 316 769 (NOK 4 374198 in 2018). For 2019, this
includes the vested value of bonus shares awarded in 2020. Of the
variable pay, NOK 1044 019 will only be paid in 2020 if Aker ASA pays
dividends totaling NOK 23.50 per share during the year. For 2018, no
bonus shares were allocated. The value of additional remuneration was
NOK 62 853 in 2019 (NOK 21352 in 2018), while the net pension expense
for Mr. Reite was NOK 104 385 in 2019 (NOK 172 754 in 2018).

Kristian Rakke’s appointment as Chief Investment Officer can be
terminated by either party on three months’ notice. If his contract is
terminated by the company, Mr. Rgkke is entitled to three months’ salary
from the date of termination. Any salary or remuneration received during
the period of severance will be deducted from the company’s severance
payment. The remuneration plan for Mr. Rgkke includes a fixed salary,
standard employee pension and insurance coverage and a variable salary
element. Mr. Rgkke’s variable salary also includes a bonus-share award
scheme including an option to buy Aker ASA shares at a discount (see
Aker ASA Note 2 for a description of the scheme). Mr. Rgkke’s
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contractual variable salary may total up to 140 per cent of his fixed
salary. Mr. Rakke earned a fixed salary of NOK 3 808 689 in 2019 (NOK
3275 8351in 2018), as well as variable pay of NOK 4 688 795 (NOK
3750 011in 2018). For 2019, this includes the vested value of bonus
shares awarded in 2020. Of the variable pay, NOK 1438 330 will only be
paid in 2020 if Aker ASA pays dividends totaling NOK 23.50 per share
during the year. For 2018, no bonus shares were allocated. The value of
additional remuneration was NOK 19 646 in 2019 (NOK 16 935 in 2018),
while the net pension expense for Mr. Rakke was NOK 175 476 in 2019
(NOK 170 953 in 2018). As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Rgkke owns

200 000 shares in Akastor ASA through his wholly-owned company
Riverrun Capital Management AS. Mr. Rakke owns no shares in Aker ASA
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directly, but has an indirect ownership through a 1.75 per cent ownership
interest in TRG AS.

Senior executives receive no remuneration for directorships or
membership of nomination committees of other Aker companies. In
2019, Aker ASA recognised a total of NOK 3 101 238 in respect of @yvind
Eriksen’s directorships of other Aker companies. Aker ASA recognised
NOK 1939 700 in respect of Kristian Rekke’s directorships of other Aker
companies in 2019, and NOK 881537 for Frank O. Reite’s directorships of
other Aker companies in 2019.

The President and CEO and other senior executives receive no other
remuneration than described above. Accordingly, their employment
conditions include no loans, guarantees or stock option rights.

Note 35 | Events after the balance sheet date

MARKET UNCERTAINTY

OPEC and Russia did not reach an agreement on oil production cuts
expected after the outbreak of COVID-19. This virus led to lower
economic activity, especially in China, in the first weeks of 2020, and
lower demand for oil. Instead of a cut in production, the break in the
negotiations ended with increased oil production and a price war
between OPEC and Russia. This led to a dramatic fall in oil prices,
followed by significant price declines in the world's stock markets. Oil-
exposed companies are hit especially hard, including Aker and portfolio
companies such as Aker BP, Aker Solutions, Akastor, Kvaerner and
Ocean Yield.

At the same time, the world has experienced a serious and rapid spread
of COVID-19. The World Health Organization (WHO) has declared the
situation and the virus a pandemic. This tragic virus outbreak affects a
significant number of people, and it also affects businesses and
economies worldwide. A recession scenario is plausible, but the long-
term global and national impacts on industries, economic activity, oil
prices and financial markets are hard to predict given the current
situation. The challenging times and uncertain market conditions will
impact the coming quarters, and this is part of Aker’s cngoing risk
assessment in the future.

From an accounting perspective, these are factors that may affect
accounting estimates related to the recoverable amounts of assets, and

the risk of write-downs will increase if the negative development
continues. It is too early to give any estimate of the impact this will have
on the consolidated financial statements, but the situation will be closely
monitored going forward. The Aker Group has initiated measures to
reduce the negative effects for the group and is continuously considering
further measures. See also discussion in the Board of Directors’ report.

POSTPONEMENT IN AKER ENERGY

Given the historic oil price collapse in the first quarter of 2020 as a result
of the Corona virus and the price war between Saudi Arabia and Russia,
the company, with support from Aker, decided in late-March 2020 to
postpone the Pecan project indefinitely. The company has had an
ambition to be in production 37 months after project sanctioning. Under
today’s travel and transport restrictions, and with a very uncertain
situation for the supplier industry, the company no longer considers this
schedule as possible. The focus moving forward will be on the potential
for improvement, including for the technical solution. It is also natural to
consider transaction opportunities in the further development of Aker
Energy.

Aker Energy maintains a constructive dialogue with the authorities in
Ghana, with a shared understanding of the challenges being faced.
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Income statement

Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018
Salaries and other personnel related expenses 21119 177) (169)
Depreciation of fixed assets 3 (15) (14)
Other operating expenses 2 (98) (77)
Operating profit (loss) (290) (260)
Interest income from subsidiaries 47 40
Other interest income 26 20
Dividends from subsidiaries 4 2585 3517
Foreign exchange gains 91 85
Gains sale of shares 13 -
Other financial income 69 26
Total financial income 2832 3689
Interest expenses to subsidiaries 27) @2
Other interest expenses (288) (283)
Impairments of shares and receivables 7 (1790) (1254)
Foreign exchange losses (66) as5)
Other financial expenses 191 (88)
Total financial expenses (2 363) (1662)
Net financial items 468 2027
Profit before tax 179 1767
Tax expense 10 - -
Profit after tax 179 1767

Allocation of profit/loss for the year:

Profit (+) / loss (-) 179 1767
Allocation of dividend - ae7m
Transferred from (+) / allocated to (-) other equity (179) (96)

Total 9 = =
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Balance sheet as at 31 December
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Amounts in NOK m Note 2019 2018
ASSETS

Deferred tax assets 10 - -
Property, plant and equipment 3 87 98
Shares in subsidiaries 4 23532 24 657
Investments in associates and joint ventures 5 - 56
Non-current receivables from group companies 6 859 671
Other non-current financial assets 6 66 11
Total non-current assets 24 543 25493
Current receivables from group companies 6 2502 3505
Other current receivables 59 292
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1787 1310
Total current assets 4348 5106
Total assets 28 892 30599
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 2081 2 08I
Own shares m M
Share premium 250 250
Other paid-in equity 1 1
Total paid-in equity 2332 2 331
Other equity 18 004 17 816
Total equity 9 20 335 20148
Pension liabilities 1 51 58
Other non-current provisions 2 80 89
Non-current liabilities to group companies 13 1477 2380
Non-current external interest-bearing debt 4 5458 4679
Total non-current liabilities 7 066 7206
Allocated dividend 9 - 1671
Current external interest-bearing debt 4 1349 1454
Other current liabilities 5 141 121
Total current liabilities 1490 3246
Total equity and liabilities 28 892 30599

Fornebu, 31 March 2020

Kjell Inge Rakke (sign)

Finn Berg Jacobsen (sign)

Aker ASA

Kristin Krohn Devold

Chairman Deputy Chairman (sign)
Director
Atle Trangy (sign) Tommy Angeltveit (sign) Arnfinn Stensg (sign)

Director Director

Director

Karen Simon (sign)

Director

@yvind Eriksen (sign)
President and CEO
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Cash flow statement
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Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018
Profit before tax 179 1767
Sales losses/gains(-) and write-downs/reversals(-) of shares 7 1777 1254
Foreign exchange losses/gains(-) (25) (59)
Depreciation and write-downs of fixed assets 3 15 14
Dividend income from subsidiaries not yet received (2500) (3500)
Changes in other current items, etc. 61 (103)
Cash flow from operating activities (493) (628)
Sales proceads/acquisitions(-) of fixed assets 3 3) (5)
Sale of shares and other equity investments 172 -
Acquisitions of shares and other equity investments (510) -
Repayments of interest-bearing receivables 1196 106
Payments on interest-bearing receivables (425) (706)
Cash flow from investment activities 430 (604)
Issue of non-current debt 2459 1985
Repayments of external interest-bearing debt (1722) (1300)
Net repayments/payments (-) on debt to group companies 1471 2 345
Dividend paid and payments from other equity transactions (1668) (1361
Cash flow from financing activities 540 1668
Cash flow for the year 477 436
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 8 1310 873
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 8 1787 1310
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Notes to the financial statements

Note 1| Accounting principles

The financial statements are prepared and presented in Norwegian
kroner (NOK). The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted
accounting principles in Norway as at 31 December 2019.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Subsidiaries are companies in which Aker ASA has control. This normally
means an ownership interest of more than 50 per cent, and that the
investment is long-term and of a strategic nature. Associates are
companies in which Aker ASA has significant influence, but not control,
which normally is the case when Aker ASA holds between 20 per cent
and 50 per cent of the voting shares. Joint ventures are contractual
arrangements whereby two or more parties undertake an economic
activity that is subject to joint control, and whereby the parties have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the
cost method in Aker ASA’s separate financial statements. A write-down
to fair value is made whenever impairment is due to causes that are
assumed to be non-transient. A reversal is made whenever the
impairment is no longer present.

Dividends exceeding the share of retained profits since acquisition are
deemed as refunds of invested capital and reduce the book value of the
investments. Received dividends from companies owned less than 90
per cent are accounted for when the dividends are approved.

A group contribution received that exceeds Aker ASA’s share of retained
profits since acquisition, is booked as a deduction from the book value of
the investment, with a corresponding deduction of the deferred tax asset
(or anincrease in deferred tax). In cases where no deferred tax asset is
booked and an amount equal to the group contribution is transferred
back to the subsidiary as a group contribution without tax effect, the
entire received group contribution will be recorded as a deduction from
the book value of the investment (without any corresponding entry with
respect to deferred tax assets/deferred tax). The group contribution
without tax effect is then correspondingly recorded as an increase in the
book value of the investment, with the result that the net effect on the
investment is zero. This reflects the fact that, overall, the “circular group
contribution” has not constituted a transfer of value between Aker ASA
and the subsidiary.

CLASSIFICATION AND ASSESMENT OF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
Current assets and current liabilities comprise items that fall due within
one year after the balance sheet date. Other items are classified as non-
current assets/non-current liabilities.

Current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition cost or fair value.
Current debt is recognised at its nominal value at the time it was
recorded. Non-current assets are valued at acquisition cost but written
down to fair value whenever impairment is deemed non-transient. Non-
current debt is recognised at nominal value. Fixed interest rate bonds are
accounted for at amortised cost.

RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at par value after
the subtraction of a provision for expected losses. Provisions are made
for losses based on individual assessments of each receivable.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into NOK using the
exchange rates applicable at the time of each transaction. Monetary
items in foreign currencies are translated into NOK using the exchange
rates applicable on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into NOK
using the exchange rates applicable on the date of measurement.
Valuation changes due to exchange rate fluctuations are recorded on a
continuous basis under other financial items.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets are recognised and depreciated over the estimated
life of the asset. Direct maintenance of operating assets is expensed on
an ongoing basis as operating expenses, while improvements and
enhancements are added te the acquisition cost and depreciated in line
with the asset. If the recoverable amount of the operating asset is less
than its carrying value, the recoverable amount is impaired. The
recoverable amount is the higher of net sales value and value-in-use.
Value-in-use is the present value of the future cash flows that the asset is
expected to generate.

PENSIONS

Pension expenses and pension liabilities are calculated according to
linear vesting based on expected final salary. The calculation is based on
a number of assumptions such as the discount rate, future salary
increases, pensions and other social benefits from the Norwegian
national insurance system (Folketrygden), future returns on pension
funds and actuarial assumptions regarding mortality and voluntary
retirement. Pension funds are recognised at fair value.

TAX

The tax expense in the income statement includes both the tax payable
for the period and changes in deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at a
nominal value rate based on the temporary differences that exist
between accounting and tax values, and tax losses carried forward at the
end of the accounting year. Tax increasing and tax decreasing temporary
differences that reverse or can be reversed in the same period are offset.
Net deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that they can be utilised.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement is prepared according to the indirect method.
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits and other
current, liquid investments.

THE USE OF ESTIMATES

Preparation of the annual accounts in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting principles, as well as the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed and assessed on an ongoing basis, and are
based on historical experience and various other factors considered to
be reasonable. Changes to the accounting estimates are recognised in
the profit and loss account in the same period as the one in which the
estimates are revised, unless deferred allocations are prescribed by
generally accepted accounting principles.
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Note 2 | Salaries and other remunerations

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Salaries 120 126
Social security contributions 20 23
Pension expenses exclusive financial items (see Note 11) 7 14
Other benefits 29 7
Total salaries and other personnel expenses 177 169
Number of employees at year-end 43 39
Number of full-time equivalents at year-end 42 38
AUDIT FEE IS INCLUDED IN OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES AND CONSISTS OF THE FOLLOWING:

Amounts in NOK million, inclusive VAT 2019 2018
Statutory audit 2.2 1.9
Attestation services - -
Tax services - -
Other services 0.8 0.1
Total 3.0 2.0
REMUNERATION TO/FROM GROUP COMPANIES AND RELATED PARTIES CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Invoiced for services and office rent within the Group 17.3 15.7
Invoiced for services to The Resource Group TRG AS 2.5 2.
Procured services from The Resource Group TRG AS and Kjell Inge Rakke (1.6) 1.6)
Board fee to The Resource Group TRG AS, excluding payroll tax (0.7) (0.6)
Total 17.5 15.6

See Note 33 to the group accounts for other transactions with related parties.

INCENTIVE PROGRAMME FOR EMPLOYEES (EXCLUDING THE
PRESIDENT AND CEO)

Aker ASA has adopted an incentive programme to promote the
company’s goals and align employees’ and shareholders” motivation. In
2019, the incentive programme had the following elements:

= gdividend bonus, based on the Aker ASA dividend

= apersenal bonus, based on personal achievement

= bonus shares, allocated on the basis of on an agreed increase in net
asset value

= anoption to purchase Aker ASA shares subject to a lock-up period.

See Note 34 to the group accounts regarding the incentive program for
the President and CEO.

BONUS CEILING

Dividends and personal bonuses are paid in cash in the year after the
vesting year. Participants can achieve a total bonus equal to a defined
percentage of fixed salary (bonus ceiling), split into a dividend bonus and
a personal bonus.

DIVIDEND BONUS
The dividend bonus is linked to dividends paid for the vesting year. A
defined number of shadow shares are used as the basis for calculating

the dividend bonus. The calculation of the shadow shares is based on the
target yield for net asset value and the target dividend for the vesting
year. Participants receive a dividend bonus (cash) equal to the dividend
per share proposed by the board of directors multiplied by the number
of shadow shares.

PERSONAL BONUS

The personal bonus is linked to the achievement of personal results and
goals, and is set based on an overall evaluation covering each
participant’s personal achievements and development, the results and
development of the company and the unit to which the participant
belongs, and the participant’s contribution to the Aker-community.

BONUS SHARES

Participants may be awarded shares in the company if the company
achieves an increase in net asset value of more than 10 per cent in the
relevant year. The number of potential bonus shares cannot be
determined before allocation takes place, as the final number is based on
the share price on the determination date and the participant’s salary as
at 31 December of the vesting year. An allocation range is calculated for
the award of bonus shares at the beginning of the vesting year, equal to
50 per cent of the range for the dividend bonus. The fixed allocation
range is a gross range. The participant’s estimated tax on the free bonus
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shares is deducted from this gross range, as the company pays this
amount in by way of advance tax deduction. Deduction of tax leaves a
net range as a basis for calculating the number of bonus shares. The
value of the bonus shares equals the share price on the vesting date
minus a deduction to take into the account the lock-up period (20 per
cent). The lock-up period is three years from the date the bonus shares
are received. The limitations on the right of participants to dispose of the
discounted shares freely are registered in VPS as a restriction in favour of
the company. If a participant leaves the company during the lock-up
period, 50 per cent of the distributed bonus shares are returned to the
company without compensation to the participant.

OPTION TO PURCHASE SHARES SUBJECT TO A LOCK-UP PERIOD
Participants may purchase shares in the company at a price equal to 80
per cent of the share price at the time the shares are purchased. The
number of shares that can be purchased during the vesting year is
calculated based on the estimated number of bonus shares the
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participant may theoretically receive at the end of the earning year if
he/she achieves the maximum bonus. Participants choose how many
shares they want to buy within their allocation range. A lock-up period of
three years applies from the date the shares are received. The limitations
on the right of participants to dispose of the shares freely are registered
in VPS as a restriction in favour of the company. The lock-up period
continues to apply if the participant leaves the company during the lock-
up period, unless the company and the participant agree otherwise.

Dividend bonuses and personal bonuses are recorded as salary expenses.
An allocation of NOK 42 million has been made under other current
liabilities as at 31 December 2019 in respect of dividend bonuses and
personal bonuses including holiday pay and payroll tax. The accrual of
bonus shares is recorded as a salary expense in the income statement
distributed over the lock-up period. The contra entry is other equity. It is
recorded an accrual related to 2019 bonus shares of NOK 10 million.

Note 3 | Property, plant and equipment

Office
equipment and

Amounts in NOK million Art fixtures Property Total
Acquisition cost as at 1 January 2019 43 108 8 159
Disposals and scrapping - 4) - 4)
Additions - 3 - 3
Acquisition cost as at 31 December 2019 43 107 8 158
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs a7) (53) ) 71)
Book value as at 31 December 2019 26 54 6 87
Depreciation for the year - (15) - (15)
Useful life 3-8 years 50 years
Depreciation plan No depreciations Linear Linear
Note 4 | Shares in subsidiaries

Equity as at Profit Dividend
Amounts in NOK million Ownershipin % " Location, city  31Dec. 2019 2 before tax 2 received Book value
Aker Capital AS 100.0 Fornebu 15164 1961 2500 16 814
Aker Kvaerner Holding AS 70.0 Fornebu 5060 (1988) 67 3542
Aker BioMarine AS 98.0 Fornebu 1357 (205) - 17n
LN-XAX Air AS 100.0 Fornebu 513 3 - 510
Aker Solutions ASA 4 6.4 Fornebu 7231 170 - 428
Akastor ASA® 8.5 Fornebu 4 371 191 - 232
AGE Air AS 100.0 Fornebu 191 1 - 190
Resource Group International AS 100.0 Fornebu 53 - - 52
Norron Holding AB 543 Stockholm 34 10 18 44
Intellectual Property Holdings AS 100.0 Fornebu 1 - - 8
Aker Achievements AS 100.0 Fornebu 3 1 - -
Total 2585 23532

1) Ownership and voting inte
2)100 per cent of the compa

ny’s equity before dividends and group contributions as at 31 December and profit before tax in 2019

Akastor ASA, Aker Solutions ASA, Norron Holding AB and Aker BioMarine AS figures are group figures.

1h

 Aker ASA owns 40.3 per cent thro
n, Aker ASA owns 40.6 per cent throu

Aker Kveerner Holding AS

3)In ac

4)In addit

The investments are recorded at the lowest of fair value and cost price.

h Aker Kvaerner Holding AS.
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Note 5 | Investments in associates and joint venture companies

Accumulated Book value Book value
Amounts in NOK millio Cost write-down 2019 2018
G&A Air AS (the 50% ownership interest was sold in 2019) - - - 56
Others 1 ) - -
Total investments in associates and joint ventures 1 [©) - 56

The investments are recorded at the lowest of fair value and cost.

Note 6 | Other non-current financial assets and receivables from subsidiaries

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Other non-current receivables 61

Aker Pensjonskasse 4

Others 1 -
Total other non-current financial assets 66 1
Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Aker BioMarine AS 857 477
Resource Group International AS 2 -
AGE Air AS - 190
Aker Kveaerner Holding AS - 4
Total non-current receivables from group companies 859 671

The receivables have maturities of more than one year. Interest terms on the receivables reflect market terms.

Am s in NOK millic 2019 2018
Aker Capital AS 2500 3500
Other 2 5
Total current receivables from group companies 2502 3505
Note 7 | Impairments and reversals of impairment of shares

NOK millio 2019 2018
Aker Kvaerner Holding AS (1459) (1053)
Aker Solutions ASA (259) M3)
Akastor ASA (73) (78)
G&A Air AS - (10)
Total impairment and reversals of impairments on shares (1790) (1254)
Note 8 | Cash and cash equivalents
Amounts in NOK millio 2019 2018
Unrestricted cash 1768 1289
Restricted cash 20 20

Total cash and cash equivalents 1787 1310
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Note 9 | Shareholders' equity

The share capital at 31 December 2019 consisted of 74 321 862 shares with a nominal value of NOK 28 per share. All shares have equal voting rights and
are entitled to dividends. Aker ASA has no voting rights for its own shares. At 31 December 2019, Aker ASA had 43 663 own shares, and the number of
shares outstanding was 74 278 199. No dividend will be proposed for the Annual General Meeting on 27 April 2020, but that the Board of Directors
instead is authorised to declare dividend based on the 2019 annual accounts.

CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY IN 2019 ARE SHOWN BELOW:

Premium on Share Other paid-in  Total paid-in

Share capital shares premium capital capital Otherequity Total equity
Equity as at 1 January 2081 m 250 1 2331 17 816 20148
Purchased/sold/bonus treasury shares - - - - - 14 14
Changes in estimate pension booked
directly against equity - - - - - ©) 5)
Profit for the year - - - - - 179 179
Equity as at 31 December 2 081 m 250 1 2332 18 004 20 335

In 2019, the company has acquired O treasury shares and sold/distributed 9 407 treasury shares in connection with the employees incentive program.
Net effect recorded against equity was NOK 3 million.

In addition, accrued share bonus in 2019 with NOK 10 million has been recorded as an expense and increased other equity. Other equity has been
reduced through distribution of profit and loss with the same amount and accrued share bonus totally has net zero effect on other equity.

THE 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019:

Number of

shares Per cent
TRG Holding AS 50673577 68.2%
Folketrygdfondet 3254997 4.4%
UBS AG 1353359 1.8%
Tvenge, Torstein Ingvald 800 000 11%
State Street Bank & Trust Company 547297 0.7%
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank N.A. London 463 320 0.6%
Verdipapirfondet KLP Aksjenorge 451571 0.6%
Artic Funds PLC 446 905 0.6%
Verdipapirfondet DnB Norge 408 215 0.6%
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank N.A. London 402131 0.5%
Morgan Stanley & Co Int. Plc. 353333 0.5%
Kommunal Landspensjonskasse 303592 0.4%
Verdipapirfondet Nordea Norge verdi 281741 0.4%
Pagano AS 274977 0.4%
Verdipapirfond Odin Norge 262 328 0.4%
Gothic Corporation 255 222 0.3%
KLP Aksjenorge indeks 254122 0.3%
Storebrand Norge | verdipapirfond 252 409 0.3%
State Street Bank and Trust Company 251465 0.3%
Ergy AS 219072 0.3%
Others 12 812 229 17.2%

Total 74 321862 100%
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Note 10 | Tax expense and deferred tax

The table below shows the difference between accounting and tax values at the end of 2019 and 2018 respectively, changes in these differences,
deferred tax assets at the end of each year and the change in deferred tax assets.

2019 2018
Provisions and accruals 35 -
Fixed asset differences 3 1
Net pension liability/guarantee pension 121) 147)
Capital gains and loss reserve 26 33
Total differences (63) M3)
Tax losses carried forward (3962) (3565)
Other differences (272) an
Total deferred tax basis (4297) (3689)
Net deferred tax 22% (2018: 23%) (945) (812)
Write-down deferred tax assets 945 812

Recognised deferred tax assets - -

Deferred tax asset is recognised in the balance sheet if future utilisation of the asset is expected. The deferred tax assets have been written down to
zero as of 31 December 2019.

ESTIMATED TAXABLE INCOME

2019 2018
Profit before tax 179 1767
Permanent differences (527) (2208)
Change in temporary differences (50) a7)
Estimated taxable income (398) (458)
Tax payable 22% in the profit and loss account (2018: 23%) - -
Tax payable 22% in the balance sheet (2018: 23%) - -
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2019 2018
Tax payable in the profit and loss account - -
Change in deferred tax - -
Total tax expense - _
RECONCILIATION OF EFFEKCTIVE TAX RATE IN THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

2019 2018
22% tax on profit before tax (2018: 23%) 39) (406)
22% tax on permanent differences (2018: 23%) 16 508
Change earlier years 57 13
Change in tax rate - @37
Change in unrecognised deferred tax asset (134) (78)

Estimated tax expense - -

Effective tax rate (tax expense compared with profit / loss before tax) 0% 0%
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Note 11 | Pension expenses and pension liabilities

According to the Norwegian Occupational Pensions Act (Lov om tjenestepensjon), the company is required to provide a pension plan for all its

employees. The company’s pension plans meet the statutory requirements. Aker ASA primarily covers its pension liabilities through a group pension

plan provided by a life insurance company. For accounting purposes, the pension scheme is mainly treated as a defined contribution plan. The pension
scheme for 4 active persons is treated as a defined benefit plan as of 31 December 2019. In addition, Aker ASA has uninsured pension liabilities, which

gives rights to defined future benefits.

ACTUARIAL CALCULTATIONS HAVE BEEN UNDERTAKEN BASED ON THE FOLLOWING ASSUMPTIONS 2019 2018
Discount rate 2.2% 2.8%
Wage increases 2.3% 2.8%
Social security base adjustment / inflation 2.0% 2.5%
Pension adjustment 0.0% - 1.2% 0.0%-1.8%

The actuarial assumptions are based on assumptions commonly used in the life insurance industry with respect to demographic factors.
The discount rate is based on the Norwegian high-quality corporate bond rate.

PERCENTAGE COMPOSITION OF PENSION ASSETS 2019 2018
Bonds 81.1% 84.2%
Shares 9.8% 8.2%
Property/other 9.1% 7.6%
PENSION EXPENSES
A t ‘ 2019 2018
Present value of this year's pension accruals m 8
Interest expense on accrued pension liabilities 2 (2
Expected return on pension funds 1 1
Net pension expenses defined benefit plan 2) 10)
Pension expenses defined contributions plan (6) (5)
Total pension expenses 8) as)
Total pension expenses are included in Salaries and other personnel related expenses with NOK 7 million and in Other financial expenses with
NOK 1 million.
NET PENSION LIABILITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER

2019 " 2018"
Present value of accrued pension liabilities (96) aon
Value of pension funds 45 43
Net pension liabilities 2 (1)) (58)
Number of individuals covered 56 63
1) Aker ASA had only underfunded plans in 2019 and 2018 i.e. plans where the value of the pension liabilities exceeds the value of the pension funds.

2) Provision has been made for social security contributions on plans with net pension liabilities

The plans include 4 active and 53 retired persons.

Pension funds are invested in accordance with the general guidelines for life insurance companies. Recorded pension liabilities are calculated on the

basis of estimated future pension liabilities and accrued in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The pension liability recorded in

the accounts is not the same as the vested pension rights as at 31 December.
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Note 12 | Other non-current provisions

Aker ASA annual report 2019 109

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
US pension guarantee provision 71 89
Unrealised loss on foreign exchange derivatives 9 -
Total other non-current provisions 80 89

Aker ASA had earlier signed a guarantee commitment regarding the US pension fund Kvaerner Consolidated Retirement Plan with Kvaerner US Inc
(KUSI). As of December 2015, Aker Maritime Finance AS (“AMF”) took over the pension liability from KUSI in order to avoid accelerated payments
under the Aker ASA guarantee because of a potential bankruptcy of KUSI. Aker ASA continued to guarantee for the liability and shall cover for all

AMF's expenses related to the pension plan. In 2017, Aker Maritime Finance AS merged with The Resource Group TRG AS (“TRG”), and the

commitment of Aker ASA to cover the expenses is now against TRG. As at 31 December 2019, Aker ASA has made a provision of NOK 71 million in the

balance sheet.

Note 13 | Non-current liabilities to subsidiaries

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Aker Capital AS 1447 2367

Aker Holding Start 2 AS 12 13

AGE Air AS 12 -

LN-XAX Air AS 6 -

Total non-current liabilities to group companies 1477 2 380

Note 14 | External interest-bearing debt

Amounts in NOK million Interest Maturity 2019 2018
Bond AKERI3 Nibor +35% May 2020 - 1000

Bond AKER1O Nibor + 4 % May 2020 - 700

Bond AKERO9 Nibor + 5 % September 2022 1000 1000

Bond AKER14 Nibor+2.65%  January 2023 2000 2000

Schuldschein loan - fixed rate tranche 1,67% March 2024 296 -

Schuldschein loan - floating rate tranche Euribor +1.60% March 2024 690 -

Bond AKER15 Nibor +1.9% November 2024 1500 -

Loan expenses (28) 21)
Total non-current external interest-bearing liabilities 5458 4679

Bond AKERI12 Stibor +3,25%  July 2019 - 1455

Bond AKERI3 Nibor +35% May 2020 768 -

Bond AKER10 Nibor + 4 % June 2020 583 -
Loan expenses m )
Total current external interest-bearing liabilities 1349 1454

The Schuldschein loan is denominated in EUR. The other loans are in NOK. The company is in no breaches to its covenants as of 31 December 2019.
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Note 15 | Other current liabilities

Amounts in NOK millio 2019 2018
Accrued interest external 41 34
Other accrued expenses 38 33
Foreign exchange derivatives 25 19
Other 37 35
Total other current liabilities 141 121

Note 16 | Guarantee obligations

5 in NOK on 2019 2018
Loan guarantees 308 308
Other guarantees 41 32
Total guarantee obligations 349 340

Loan guarantees as at 31 December 2019 consisted mainly of guarantees related to Aker BioMarine AS with NOK 305 million.

Note 17 | Financial market risk

The company are exposed to several types of financial risk, the most Aker ASA secures a part of net exposure in cash flow in foreign exchange
significant of which are credit, liquidity, foreign exchange and interest and normally not balance items. Cash flow, including detectable

rate risk. The purpose of risk management is to measure and manage structural transactions and possible loans in foreign exchange are
financial risks in a reliable manner, in order to increase predictability and secured within fixed intervals. In total, Aker ASA has hedged USD 170
simultaneously minimise any negative impacts on Aker’s financial results. million net by means of forward contracts and options. As at 31

Aker ASA has loan and guarantee commitments that contain equity December 2019, the income statement shows a net loss of NOK 34
covenants. At 31 December 2019, Aker ASA was in compliance with all million on all foreign exchange agreement according to note 3.

such covenants. See also Note 6 and Note 35 to the group accounts. Unrealised loss of NOK 34 million is included in other current liabilities.

Note 18 | Shares owned by board members and key executives

See Note 34 to the financial statements of the Group.

Note 19 | Salary and other remuneration to the Board of Directors,
nomination committee, CEO and other senior executives

See Note 34 to the financial statements of the Group.

Note 20 | Disputes and contingent liabilities

There are no known major disputes or contingent liabilities as at 31.12.19.

Note 21| Events after the balance sheet date

See Note 35 in the financial statement of the Group.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

Today, the board of directors and the president and chief executive officer reviewed and approved the board of directors’ report and the consolidated
and separate annual financial statements of Aker ASA, consolidated and parent company for the year ending and as of 31 December 2019.

Aker ASA’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs and IFRICs adopted by the EU as well as additional
disclosure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting Act and as such are to be applied per 31 December 2019. The separate financial statements of
Aker ASA and the parent company have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and Norwegian accounting standards as at
31 December 2019. The board of directors’ report for the group and the parent company satisfy with the requirements of the Norwegian Accounting
Act and Norwegian accounting standard no. 16, as at 31 December 2019.

To the best of our knowledge:

= The consolidated and separate annual financial statements for 2019 have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

= The consolidated and separate annual financial statements give a true and fair overall view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit/loss
of the group and for the parent company as of 31 December.

= The board of directors’ report provides a true and fair review of the
- development and performance of the business and the position of the group and the parent company,
- the principal risks and uncertainties the group and the parent company may face.

Fornebu, 31 March 2020

Aker ASA
Kjell Inge Raokke (sign) Finn Berg Jacobsen (sign) Kristin Krohn Devold Karen Simon (sign)
Chairman Deputy Chairman (sign) Director
Director
Atle Trangy (sign) Tommy Angeltveit (sign) Arnfinn Stensg (sign) @yvind Eriksen (sign)

Director Director Director President and CEO
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Independent auditor’s report

G A ent Telephone +47 04063
o alsvelen
Fostboks 7000 Majorstuen Fax +47 22160 86 01
0306 Oslo Internet www_kpmg.no
Enterprise 035 174 627 MVA
To the Annual Shareholder's Meeting of Aker ASA

Independent auditor's report

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Aker ASA, which comprise:

+ The financial statements of the parent company Aker ASA (the Company), which comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, and

+ The consolidated financial statements of Aker ASA and its subsidiaries (the Group), which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement, total
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:
+ The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations.

+ The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards
and practices generally accepted in Norway.

+ The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the EU.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (1ISAs). Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Orfficas in

KPMG AS, a Norwagian limited liability company and membar firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiiaied Oslo Ehprum Ma | Rana Staord

with KPMG Intemational Coopanative ['HPMG Intemational’), & Alta Finnsnes Makle
Arards Hamar Sk

Slatsaulorisarts revisarer - madiammer av Den nerske Reviscdarening Bergan Haugesund
Bodp Krnarvic Sancnessigen Tynsat
Drammen Wnstiansand  Stavangar Alssund
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Independent auditor's report - 2019
Aker ASA

1. Assessment of the carrying value of FPSQO Dhirubhai-1

Reference is made to Note 2 Basis for preparation and estimates and assumptions, Note 5 Accounting
principles, Note 12 Impairments, Note 15 Property, plant and equipment, and the Board of Directors'

report.

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Property, plant and equipment include the
FPSO Dhirubhai-1 with carrying value of NOK
1283 million as of 31 December 2019.

The impaimment assessment of the FPSO
Dhirubhai-1 is considered to be a risk area
mainly due to the economic environment in the
oll & gas business segment.

As the long-term charter for the FPSO
Dhirubhai-1 expired in September 2018, and
no new contract has been entered by 31
December 2019, there is an increased
uncertainty for how long the unit will be idle,
the future day rates and the duration of a new
contract in the future. These factors increase
the impairment risk.

The identification of indicators of impairment
and the preparation of the estimate of the
recoverable amount of an asset involves
significant uncertainties and subjective
judgments, which requires special audit
consideration.

An impairment of NOK 590 million related to
the FPSO Dhirubhai-1 has been recognised in
2019,

We applied professional skepticism and critically
assessed management’s judgment for impairment
indicators, including counterparty assessment.
Audit procedures in this area, performed by the
group team and component auditor in Ocean
Yield ASA, included:

+ evaluating management's assessment of
impairment indicatars,

+ assessing the mathematical and
methodological integrity of management's
impairment models and the reasonableness
of discount rates applied with reference to
market data;

+ assessing and challenging management's
estimates of future cash flows in light of
previous estimates, historical performance
and external sources for future day rates
where available;

+ evaluating and challenging management on
the appropriateness of the key assumptions,
such as for example residual value, in the
cash flow forecasts; and

+ evaluating the appropriateness of the
disclosures in the financial statements related
to the carrying value of property, plant and
equipment.

From the audit evidence obtained, we consider
management's assessment of the carrying value
of the FPSO Dhirubhai-1 to be in accordance with
the requirements under the relevant accounting

standards.

2. Cost estimates related to construction contracts

Reference is made to Note 2 Basis for preparation and estimates and assumptions, Note 5 Accounting

principles, and Note 10 Operating revenue.

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Accounting for long term construction contracts
1s considered to be a risk area as it invalves
management estimates and judgments which
are often complex and involve assumptions
regarding future events for which there may be
little or no extemnal corrobarative evidence
available.

The key judgements and estimates applied by
management include their assessment of the

For financially significant contracts subject to
significant estimation uncertainty and / or with a
reasonable possibility of being in a significant
loss-making position, we applied professional
skepticism and critically assessed the accounting
estimates and judgments against the
requirements of IFRS 15. Our audit procedures,
performed by the group team and component
auditors in other listed subsidiaries, included:
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Independent auditor's report - 2019
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stage of project completion as well as + corroborating contractually based revenue
assessing the estimated future contract and cost amounts included in project
revenue and related costs. forecasts with reference to signed contracts

and external confirmations;
As such, these contract accounting estimates, | *  assessing vanable considerations estimates

and especially the cost estimates, also require included in forecasted revenue in accordance
significant attention during the audit and are with IFRS 15;
subject to a high degree of auditor judgment. + abtained and read the terms and conditions of

significant contracts and comparing these to
management's assessment of the contract
forecasts;

+ evaluating management's process for
assessing the stage of completion and the
method applied in accordance with IFRS 15;

+ reading and discussing project reports and
other assessments with management and
comparning current forecasts to histoncal
outcomes where relevant;

+ challenging management on the estimate of
cost to complete and the risk assessment
related to forecast cost;

+ assessing the reasonableness of vanable
costs to complete with reference to contract
terms, actual and forecast cost and schedule
performance and extemnal correspondence;
and

+ evaluating the disclosures in the financial
statements against the relevant requirements
of IFRS 15.

From the audit evidence obtained, we consider
construction contract cost estimates to be
consistent with the requirements under the
relevant accounting standards.

Other information

Management is respansible for the ather information. The other information comprises information in
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

QOur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements below.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation
in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements of the
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU, and for such intemal control as management determines is necessary to enable
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the preparation of financial statements that are free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud
or efTor.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and
the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar
as it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ identify and assess the risks of matenal misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a matenal misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of intemal control.

+ obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's intemal control.

+ evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

+ conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concem basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Cur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to
continue as a going concem.

+ evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

+ obtain sufficient appropnate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in intemal control
that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements in the ESG report
concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the
result is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and regulations.

Opinion on Registration and Documentation

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the Intemational Standard on Assurance Engagements
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information, it is our apinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set
out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with the
law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Oslo, 31 March 2020
KPMG AS

Arve Gevoll
State Authonised Public Accountant

Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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Combined income statement

Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018
Operating revenues 2 - 194
Operating expenses (267) (254)
Depreciation and write-down 8 (25) 18)
Operating profit (292) (78)
Dividends received 3 3482 2174
Other financial items 4 (597) (247)
Value change of shares and fund gains 5 (435) (383)
Profit before tax 2159 1467
Income tax expense 6 - -

Profit for the year 2159 1467




Annual accounts |

Combined balance sheet as at 31 December
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Amounts in NOK million Note 2019 2018
ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8 815 328
Interest-bearing non-current receivables 9 1068 759
Financial interest-free non-current assets 89 210 154
Equity investments 7 20 681 20082
Total financial non-current assets 21960 20996
Total non-current assets 22775 21324
Interest-free current receivables 39 192
Interest-bearing current receivables 9 144 225
Cash and cash equivalents 10 3715 1945
Total current assets 3899 2363
Total assets 26 674 23 686
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid-in capital 1 2332 2 331
Retained earnings 12 383 10 215
Total equity 14714 12 546
Non-current provisions 2 131 147
Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 13 9402 6837
Total non-current liabilities 9533 6984
Interest-free current liabilities 2 199 1833
Interest-bearing current liabilities 13 2227 2323
Total current liabilities 2427 4156
Total equity and liabilities 26 674 23686

Fornebu, 31 March 2020

Aker ASA
Kjell Inge Rakke (sign) Finn Berg Jacobsen (sign) Kristin Krohn Devold
Chairman Deputy Chairman (sign)
Director
Atle Trangy (sign) Tommy Angeltveit (sign) Arnfinn Stensg (sign)

Director Director Director

Karen Simon (sign)
Director

@yvind Eriksen (sign)
President and CEO
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Notes to the financial statements
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Note 1| Accounting principles and basis for preparation

The combined financial statements of Aker ASA and holding companies
have been prepared to present Aker’s financial position as a parent
holding company. The traditional financial statement of the parent
company has been extended to include all subordinate administrative
service and holding companies that are wholly-owned by Aker ASA and
have balance sheets containing only investments, bank deposits and
debt.

THE COMPANIES THAT HAVE BEEN COMBINED ARE AS FOLLOWS:
= Aker ASA

= Aker Capital AS

= Aker Holding Start 2 AS

= Aker US Services LLC

= Resource Group International AS

= AGE Air AS

= N-XAX Air AS

Note 2 | Operating revenues

To the extent applicable, the accounting principles of Aker ASA and
holding companies are based on the same accounting principles as Aker
ASA. See accounting principles of Aker ASA on page 102. One exception
from Aker ASA’s accounting principles is that the acquisition and
disposal of companies is part of the ordinary business of Aker ASA and
holding companies. Consequently, gains on sales of shares are classified
as operating revenues in the combined income statement. Gains and
losses are only recognised when assets are sold to third parties. This is
one reason why the accounts of Aker ASA and holding companies may
show different historical cost for share investments than the company
accounts of the underlying companies included in the combined financial
statements. Group contributions approved after the balance sheet date
are accounted for in the year of approval.

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Gain on sale of shares in Fornebuporten Holding AS - 194
Total operating revenues - 194
Note 3 | Dividends received

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Aker BP ASA 2653 1465
Ocean Yield ASA 658 613
American Shipping Company ASA 86 79
Aker Kvaerner Holding AS 67 -
Other 18 17
Total dividends received 3482 2174
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Note 4 | Other financial items

Amounts in NOK millio 2019 2018
Interest income from subsidiaries 48 43
Other interest (395) (333)
Other financial items (250) 42
Total other financial items (597) (247)

Other financial items in 2019 included a loss on total return swap (TRS) agreements of NOK 26 million and loss on foreign exchange including hedge
instruments totalling NOK 147 million.

Other financial items in 2018 included a gain on total return swap (TRS) agreements of NOK 166 million and loss on foreign exchange including hedge
instruments totalling NOK 102 million.

Note 5 | Value change of shares and fund gains

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Aker Solutions ASA (direct investment) (259) ms)
Akastor ASA (direct investment) (73) 78)
Solstad Offshore ASA (44) (253)
Align AS (59) -
Cxense ASA 2 Qa7
American Shipping Company ASA - 41
Trygg IDT Holdings Corp - (89)
Other changes in value of shares 2) 22)
Fund gains - Norron Target/Select - 148
Total (435) (383)
Note 6 | Tax

Deferred tax asset is incorporated in the balance sheet if budgets and plans indicate that the asset will be utilised in the future. The deferred tax assets
have been written down to zero as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.
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Note 7 | Equity investments

Number of Book value  Per share market Market value ¥
At 31 December 2019 Ownership in per cent shares (NOK million) value (NOK) (NOK million)
Industrial Holdings
Aker Solutions ASA Y 28.39 77 233531 24.72 1909
Akastor ASA 2 2819 77 233 531 9.94 768
Kvaerner ASA 9 28.71 77 233 53] 1112 859
Aker Kveerner Holding AS 70.00 3460 3536
Aker Solutions ASA Y 6.37 17 331762 428 24.72 428
Akastor ASA? 852 23331762 232 9.94 232
Aker BP ASA 40.00 144 049 005 8967 288.00 41486
Aker BioMarine AS 98.00 67672473 2363 - 2363
Ocean Yield ASA 61.65 108 066 832 2929 48.00 5187
Aker Energy AS 49.22 61662 621 925 - 925
Cognite AS 63.99 6791780 47 - 47
Total industrial investments 19 347 54 200
Financial Investments
FP Eiendom AS 508
American Shipping Company ASA 317
Abelee AS 170
REC Silicon ASA 85
Align AS 58
Solstad Offshore ASA 57
Philly Shipyard ASA 51
Norron Holding AB 44
Trygg IDT Holdings | Corp 20
Other equity investments 24
Total shares and long-term equity investments 20 681

) Aker Kvaerner Holding AS owns 40.56 per cent of Aker Solutions ASA. Aker ASA owns 70 per cent of Aker Kvaerner Holding AS. In addition, Aker ASA owns
6.37 per cent of Aker Solutions ASA. Total indirect and direct shareholding in Aker Solutions ASA for Aker ASA is 34.76 per cent.
2)Aker Kveerner Holding AS owns 40.27 per cent of Akastor ASA. Aker ASA owns 70 per cent of Aker Kvaerner Holding AS. In addition, Aker ASA owns 8.52 per

cent of Akastor ASA. Total indirect and direct shareholding in Akastor ASA for Aker ASA is 36.71 per cent.

3)Aker Kvaerner Holding AS owns 41.02 per cent of Kvaerner ASA. Aker ASA owns 70 per cent of Aker Kvaerner Holding AS. Aker ASA thus indirectly owns 28.71

per cent of Kvaerner ASA.
4)See Note 14

Note 8 | Property, plant and equipment and financial interest-free non-

current assets

Financial interest-

Property, plant

Amounts in NOK million free fixed assets and equipment Total 2019 Total 2018
Pension funds 1 - 1
Interest-free non-current receivables from subsidiaries 209 - 209 153
Other - 815 815 328
Total 210 815 1025 482

In 2019, property, plant and equipment include an airplane of NOK 679 million (NOK 183 million in 2018). The item also includes inventory, software,

office machines and real estate of NOK 105 million (NOK 115 million in 2018).

The depreciation in 2019 was NOK 25 million (NOK 18 million in 2018).
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Note 9 | Interest-bearing receivables and interest-free non-current receivables

Interest-bearing Interest-bearing

current non-current
Amounts in NOK r receivables receivables Total 2019 Total 2018
Receivables from subsidiaries 95 648 743 388
Receivable American Shipping Company ASA - - - 58
Receivable Estremar Invest AS - 349 349 367
Other receivables 49 71 120 171
Total 144 1068 1213 985
INTEREST-BEARING RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST-FREE NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES FROM SUBSIDIARIES AT 31 DECEMBER 2019:
Interest-bearing Interest-bearing Total Interest-free Total
current non-current interest- non-current receivables
Amounts in NOK m receivables receivables bearing receivables subsidiaries
FP Eiendom AS 95 - 95 - 95
Aker BioMarine AS - 648 648 209 857
Total 95 648 743 209 952
Note 10 | Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to 3 715 million as at the end of 2019. Of this total, NOK 20 million were restricted deposits.
] .
Note 11 | Shareholders’ equity
Retained
Premium Share Other paid-in  Total paid-in earnings Total
unts in NOK nr Share capital on shares premium capital capital equity equity
Balance at 31 December 2018 2081 m 250 1 2 331 10 215 12 546
Profit for the year - - - - - 2159 2159
Allocation of dividend - - - - - - -
Changes in estimate pension - - - - - 5) (5)
Purchased/sold/bonus treasury shares - - - - - 14 14
Equity at 31 December 2019 2081 ©) 250 1 2332 12 383 14714

At 31 December 2019, the number of issued shares was 74 321862, the number of treasury shares was 43 663 and the number of outstanding shares
was 74 278199, All shares have equal voting rights and are entitled to dividends. Aker ASA has no voting rights for its own shares.
No dividend will be proposed for the Annual General Meeting on 27 April 2020, but that the Board of Directors instead is authorised to declare

dividend based on the 2019 annual accounts.

Note 12 | Interest-free current and non-current liabilities

tsin NOK Current Non-current Total 2019 Total 2018
Pension liabilities - 51 51 58
Guarantee liability The Resource Group TRG ASY - 71 71 89
Dividend - - - 1671
Other liabilities 199 9 209 162
Total 199 131 330 1980

1) See Note 12 to the Aker ASA separate financial statements



124 Aker ASA annual report 2019

Annual accounts |

Note 13 | Interest-bearing current and non-current liabilities

INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES TO EXTERNAL CREDITORS IS SHOWN BELOW:

Amounts in NOK million 2019 2018
Non-current bonds 4500 4700
Secured bank loans 3951 2172
Unsecured bank loans 986 -
Capitalised fees (36) (35)
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 9 402 6 837
Current bonds 1351 1455
Secured bank loans (3-year loan with annual rollover) 878 869
Capitalised fees m M
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 2227 2323
Total interest-bearing liabilities 1629 9160

INSTALMENT SCHEDULE FOR EXTERNAL INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES, BY TYPE:

Secured Unsecured
Amounts in NOK m Bonds bank loans bank loans Accrued fees Total
2020 1351 878 - m 2227
2021 _ _ _ B -
2022 1000 3951 - a2 4940
2023 2000 - - (9 1991
2024 1500 - 986 (5 2472
Total 5 851 4829 986 37 11629
Note 14 | Risk
THE BALANCE SHEET OF AKER ASA AND HOLDING COMPANIES IS SPLIT INTO TWO SEGMENTS:
Per cent 2019 2018
Industrial investments 73% 80%
Financial investments 27% 20%
Specification financial investments:
Funds- and equity investments 5% 5%
Cash 14% 8%
Interest-bearing receivables 5% 4%
Fixed assets, deferred tax assets and interest-free receivables 4% 3%

The businesses within each category are exposed to macro-development
in their respective market segments.

The total book value of the assets of Aker ASA and holding companies
are NOK 26 674 million including the book value for Industrial
investments of NOK 19 347 million. The book value and market value of
each investment included in Industrial investments are specified in Note
7. The total market value of the Industrial investments, NOK 54 200
million, is significantly higher than the book value. The book value of the
unlisted companies Aker BioMarine AS, Aker Energy AS and Cognite AS
is included in the total market value. In the case of Aker ASA’s direct

investment in the listed company Aker Solutions ASA (6.37 per cent
ownership interest) and Akastor ASA (8.52 per cent ownership interest),
the book value is equal to the market value.

The book value of Financial investments is NOK 7 326 million. Cash
represents 14 per cent of the book value of total assets and 51 per cent of
Financial investments.

See also Note 6 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements for Aker
ASA.
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Independent auditor’s report

G A s Telephone +47 04063
Sorkedalsveien - S
Postboks 7000 Majorstuen s AT 22608501
0306 Oslo nternet www _kpmg.no

Enterprise 825 174 627 MVA

To the board of Aker ASA

Independent Auditor's Report

Report on the Audit of the combined financial statements of Aker ASA and holding companies

Opinion
We have audited the combined financial statements of Aker ASA and holding companies, which

comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement for the year then ended, a
summary of key assumptions used as basis for preparation and other notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying combined financial statements are prepared in accordance with the
basis for preparation of the financial reporting defined in the introduction to the combined financial
statements and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Aker ASA and holding
companies as at 31 December 2019, and the financial performance for the year then ended.

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the basis for preparation of the financial reporting,
defined in the introduction to the combined financial statements, which describes the basis of
accounting. As a result, the combined financial statements may not be suitable for any other purpose.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, included Intemational Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Combined Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of Aker ASA
and holding companies as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these reguirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

Aker ASA has prepared financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, comprising parent
financial statements prepared in accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting
standards and practices generally accepted in Norway and consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Interational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. We have issued a
separate auditor's report on the statutory financial statements to the shareholders of Aker ASA dated
31 March 2020.

Responsibilities of The Board of Directors for the Combined Financial Statements

The Board of Directors (management) are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
combined financial statements in accordance with the basis for preparation of the financial reporting
defined in the introduction of the combined financial statements, and for such intemal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the combined financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

KPMG AS, 8 Norwegian limited liabdity company and membe
with KPMG Inlemational Cooperalive ["KPMG Imerrational),

n of the KPMG network of indspendant membar firms afilated Dsly
wiss anty. Al

Mo | Rana Stard
Malds Strmume
Skinn Tramse
Statsautorisana revisorer - mediammer av Dan norske Revisorforening Bergan cafjord Trandhaim
Bode Krsarvik Sandnesgjgen Tynssl
Drammen Wrstisnsard  Stavanger Alesund
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Aker ASA and holding companies

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Combined Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements
as a whole are free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards
and practices generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these combined financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, included International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ identify and assess the risks of matenal misstatement of the combined financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of intemal control.

+ obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Aker ASA and holding companies’ internal control.

+ evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

+ evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the combined financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in intemal control
that we identify during our audit.

Oslo, 31 March 2020
KPMG AS

Arve Gevoll
State Authonsed Public Accountant

Note: This franslation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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Board of Directors

Kjell Inge Rokke
Chairman

Kjell Inge Rakke (born 1958), Aker ASA’s main owner, has
been a driving force in the development of Aker since
the 1990s. Mr. Rgkke launched his business career with
the purchase of a 69-foot trawler in the United States in
1982, and gradually built a leading worldwide fisheries
business. In 1996, the Rakke controlled company, RGlI,
purchased enough Aker shares to become Aker’s largest
shareholder, and later merged RGI with Aker. Mr. Rgkke is
currently director of Aker BP, Kvaerner and Ocean Yield.

As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Rgkke holds 50 673 577 (68.2 per cent) in Aker ASA through his
investment company TRG AS and its subsidiaries, and has no stock options. Mr. Rgkke is a
Norwegian citizen. He has been elected for the period 2018-2020.

Finn Berg Jacobsen
Deputy Chairman

Finn Berg Jacobsen (born 1940)
holds an MBA degree from Harvard
Business School and is a state
authorised auditor. He has held
various positions with Arthur
Andersen & Co, and worked

as Regional Managing Partner

for the Nordic countries from
1983-1999. From 2001-2005,

Board of Directors

Kristin Krohn Devold
Director

Kristin Krohn Devold (born 1961)
was a Member of the Norwegian
Parliament for the Conservative
Party from 1993 to 2005. She
was Minister of Defense from
2001 to 2005. Ms. Krohn Devold
is currently the management
director of the Norwegian
Hospitality Association (NHO

Mr. Berg Jacobsen worked as CFO and Chief of Staff at Aker Kvaerner. Reiseliv) and director of several companies, including Aker ASA, Aker
He is currently working as a consultant within corporate governance, Kveerner Holding AS, Dark AS and BRABANK ASA. She has an MSc
compliance and corporate finance. Mr. Berg Jacobsen has served on degree from the Norwegian School of economics (NHH) and has a
several corporate boards and has also been member and chairman of bachelor’s degree in sociology from the University of Bergen.
supervisory committees and task forces in several associations and

organizations. He has been awarded the Royal Order of St. Olav for his As at 31 December 2019, Ms. Krohn Devold holds no shares in Aker
contributions to the advancement of auditing and accounting in Norway. ASA, and has no stock options. Ms. Krohn Devold is a Norwegian

citizen. She has been elected for the period 2019-2020.

As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Berg Jacobsen holds 5159 shares in Aker
ASA, through FBJ-Consulting AS, and has no stock options. Mr. Berg
Jacobsen is a Norwegian citizen. He has been elected for the period
2018-2020.
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Karen Simon
Director

Karen Simon (born 1959) retired
as a Vice Chairman, Investment
Banking, from JPMorgan in
December 2019. Over her 36 years
with JPMorgan, she held a number
of positions including Global Head
of Financial Sponsor Coverage;
Co-Head of EMEA Debt Capital
Markets and Head of EMEA Oil &
Gas coverage. She has extensive corporate finance experience. Ms. Simon
is a dual US/UK citizen and has worked in London, New York City and
Houston. She serves as the Non-Executive Chairman of Energean plc,
listed on the London Stock Exchange, as well as a Director for several non-
profit organizations.

As at 31 December 2019, Ms. Simon holds no shares in Aker ASA, and has
no stock options. She is a dual UK and US citizen. She has been elected for
the period 2019-2021.

Tommy Angelveit
Director,
Elected by the employees

Tommy Angeltveit (born 1965)

has worked as a mechanic at

the Controls division in Aker

Solutions SLS Norway since 2003.

Mr. Angeltveit has occupational

education as a service electronics

engineer. He previously served as

an employee representative at the
board of Aker Subsea. Mr. Angeltveit is full time employee representative
and manager for Industry Energy section 47.

As of 31 December 2019, Mr. Angeltveit holds no shares in Aker ASA, and
has no stock options. Tommy Angeltveit is a Norwegian citizen. He has
been elected for the period 2019-2021.
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Atle Trangy
Director,
Elected by the employees

Atle Trangy (born 1957) is trained
as a pipe fitter and has been an
employee of Kvaerner Stord AS
since 1976. Mr. Trangy has been a
fulltime employee representative
since 1983. Mr. Trangy is also the
chairperson of the Global Works
Council in Aker, and a director

of the board of the Norwegian united federation of trade unions,

Fellesforbundet.

As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Trangy holds no shares in Aker ASA, and
has no stock options. Mr. Trangy is a Norwegian citizen. He has been
elected for the period 2019-2021.

Arnfinn Stensg
Director,
Elected by the employees

Arnfinn Stensg (born 1957) has

been employed by Aker Solutions

(former Aker Offshore Partner)

in Stavanger since 1998. He is

educated electrical engineer.

Mr. Stensg is member of the

negotiating committee in NITO

(Norwegian Engineers and
technologist organization) and of the liaison committee NITO - NHO.

As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Stensg holds no shares in Aker ASA and
has no stock options. Arnfinn Stensg is Norwegian citizen. He has been
elected for the period 2019-2021.
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Management

@yvind Eriksen
President and CEO

@yvind Eriksen (born 1964) joined Aker ASA in January
2009. Mr. Eriksen holds a law degree from the University of
Oslo. He joined Norwegian law firm BA-HR in 1990, where he
became a partner in 1996 and a director/ chairman in 2003.

As a corporate attorney he among other things worked

with strategic and operational development, M&A and

negotiations. Mr. Eriksen has held several board positions

in different industries, including shipping, finance, asset

management, offshore drilling, fisheries, media, trade and
industry. As CEO Mr. Eriksen is currently chairman of the board in Aker BP ASA, Aker Solutions
ASA, Cognite AS, Aker Capital AS, Aker Kvaerner Holding AS, and REV Ocean Inc. He is also a
director of several companies, including Aker Energy AS, Akastor ASA, The Resource Group TRG
AS, TRG Holding AS, The Norwegian Cancer Society (Kreftforeningen), and a member of World

Economic Forum C4IR Global Network Advisory Board.

As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Eriksen holds 219 072 shares in Aker ASA through the company Eray
AS. He has no stock options. Through Ergy AS, Mr. Eriksen also holds 0.20 percent of the B-shares

in TRG Holding AS. Mr. Eriksen is a Norwegian citizen.

Svein Oskar Stoknes
CFO

Svein Oskar Stoknes (born 1970)
has been CFO at Aker ASA since
August 2019. Prior to this, Stoknes
served as CFO at Aker Solutions,
where he joined in 2007 and was
named CFO in 2014. Previously,
Stoknes held a range of senior
positions within finance and
advisory for organizations like
Tandberg, Citigroup and ABB. He graduated from the Norwegian School of

Management and has an MBA from Columbia Business School in New York.

Per 31 December 2019, Stoknes owns 2 786 shares in Aker ASA and has
no stock options. Stoknes is a Norwegian citizen.

Kristian Rakke
Chief investment officer

Kristian Rgkke (born 1983) has
been the Chief Investment Officer
of Aker ASA since January 2018.
He has extensive experience from
offshore oil services, shipbuilding
industry and mergers and
transactions. Rgkke joined Aker
ASA from Akastor, an investment
company listed on the stock
exchange, where he was the CEO from 2015. Rgkke is Chair of the board
of Akastor ASA, Director of TRG Holding AS, Aker Capital AS, Aker
Solutions ASA and previously a Director of Aker ASA. He holds an MBA
from The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania.

As of 31 December 2019, Kristian Rgkke owns no shares in Aker

ASA directly, but has an indirect ownership through a 1.75 per cent
ownership interest in TRG AS. He has no stock options. Rakke holds both
Norwegian and American citizenships.
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AKER ASA
Oksengyveien 10, 1366 Lysaker
Post: P.O. Box 243, 1326 Lysaker

Telephone: +47 24 13 00 00
E-mail: contact@akerasa.com
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